


Because greenjs always
the better way to grow

We at iGATE take the green philosophy quite serrously

It not only helps us sustain our natural resources but

buiFd better tomorrow

Lets grow together
Every one of our annual reports makes the world geener place
Tear this page out ari1 sow it in patch of soU to have your very own sapling



Buses/Cabs

ferry up to 100
employees to and

on our campuses

iBEES by IGATE

iBEES is iGATEs Business Efficiency Eco System way of

ensuring we Go Green in every activity and process

Solar water heaters in our cafeteria and

parking lots will reduce CO2 emissions

by49 tons/year

Compact Fluorescent Lamps

reduce CO2 emissions

by 240 tons/year

\TEs Water Treatment Plants

recycle up to 850000 liters/day

saving Rs 30000/day and

eliminates the use of ground water

CIf

25000 saplings have been planted

as part of iGATEs Seasons Greetings Campaign
tree each for every e-greeting sent

to our customers and associates

Upto 250 saplings have been planted around

iGATEs campus and 00 saplings and

250 plant seeds distributed to users

pjAd



TabIe of Contents

Performance Speak

03

05

06

09

14

16

19

22

27

30

Financial Highlights

Financial Ratios

Stock Performance Chart

Awards

Key Personnel Speak

Chairmen Message

CEOs Message

Green Sustenance

iCARE

Life iGATE

Corporate Information

World wide Addresses 31



PERFORMANCE SPEAK

.LA I41j



Financial Highlights

Yearended December 31 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Dollars in thousands except per share data
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Net cash flows from operations $45673 $43889 $61167 $82488 00371
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safe Harbor statements under the Private securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 This Assual Report contaiss statements that are sot historical facts

and that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of such term under the Private Securities Licigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of

the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 These forward-looking stacements include statements regarding the

business outlook the demand for the products and services and all other statements in these Annual Report other than recitation of historical facts Words

such as expect potential believes anticipates plans intends and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements

These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown rinks uncertainties and other factors that may cause results levels of activity performance

or achievements to differ materially from results expressed or implied by this Annual Report Such risk factors include among others the competitive

environment in the Information Technology services industry whether certain market segments grow as anticipated and whether the companies can

successfully provide services/products and the degree to which these gain market acceptance These and other risks are discussed in Item of Part of our

Annual Report on Form 10-K enclosed herewith in the sections entitled Risk Factors and in other sections of the Annual Report on Form 10-K including

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Actual results may differ materially from those contained in the

forward-looking statements in this Annual Report Any forward-looking statements are based on information currently available to us and we assume no

obligation to update these statements as circumstances change

Al s4tIj4







The following graph shows comparison of the cumulative total return on the Companys common stock during the

period commencing on December31 2007 and ending December 31 2012 with the cumulative total return during

such period for Ci the NASDAQ Composite Index and ii the Russell 2000 Index The comparison assumes $1 00 was

invested on December31 2007 in the Companys common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes

reinvestment of dividends if any Shareholder returns over the indicated period are based on historical data and

should not be considered indicative of future shareholder returns Dividend declared as part of the spin-off of

Mastech Holdings Inc starting from year ended 2008 is included in the cumulative total return on companys

common stock
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Year-end Year end Year-end Year end Year-end Year-end

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

iGATE Corporation Nasdaq Composite Russell 2000 Index

Effective January 2010 the common stock is traded in the GLOBAL SELECT MARKET LISTof NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

under the SYMBOL IGTE

Indexed Value Indexed Value Indexed Value

Yearended December 312007 $100 $100 $100

Year ended December 31 2008 79 59 65

Yearended December 312009 123 86 82

YearendedDecember3l2010 239 100 102

YearendedDecember3l2011 189 98 97

YearendedDecember3l2012 190 114 111





Awards Accoades

Ranked as Indias Best Employer for the Year 201 in the Dataquest CMR Best Employers Survey and retained our

position in the top three employers for the sixth consecutive year

anked No.2 in the Best Employe Survey in Greater Toronto Area conducted by Aon Hewitt in collaboration with

Queens University Canada

Awarded the prestigious Golden Peacock Innovation Management Award for the year 201 in the Information

Technology category by the Institute of Directors

Winner of the MA Atlas Award 2012 in the Asia Pacific Deal of the Year category for our successful acquisition of

atni Computer Systems Limited

GATEs Legal Team won the International Company In House Legal Team of the Year by the International Financial Law

Review IFLR/Asia Law in the Mergers Acquisitions Category

iGATE Legal Team Winner of the LegalEra 2012 In House Team of the Year Mergers Acquisitons

Winner of Silver Award Core area Tech and IT Services in the LACP Annual Report Competition in the Overall

Category for the fourth time in row

Winner of MerComm Annual Report ARC Awards 201 2in the following categories

Bronze Printing Production IT Services Solutions

Honors Annual Report with Form 0-K IT Services Solutions

Ranked No and also adjudged Leader in The 201 Global Outsourcing 100 List by The International

Association of Outsourcing Professionals IAOP for the third consecutive year 1GATE was also included in the

following 2012 Sub List Honors

Best 20 Leaders Financial Services Banking Markets

Best 20 Leaders Financial Services Insurance

Best 20 Leaders Retail and Consumer Goods

Best 20 Leaders Information/Comm Technology Services

Best Leaders in Australia/New Zealand

Best 20 Leaders in US

Best 20 Leaders in UK

Top List Climbers Year to Yea

Multi Year Winner

Recognized as Global Services 100 Provider Also featured in sub-list honors of GS 00

Top Global ADM Leaders

Leaders- Mid market Enterprise Applications Deployment

Leading Mid-tier OPD Vendors

Global Leaders Testing Services

Ranked No in Zinnovs Global RD Service Providers 2012 and was the undisputed consecutive sectoral leader in

the Healthcare industry

Winner of the World Class Award the highest achievement under the Large Service Organizations category

at the Global Performance Excellence Awards 201 GPEA

Winner of first place for paper on Software Project Success Prediction Model based on Binary Logistics

Regression Artificial Neural Ne work

iGATE Corporation nual Re ort
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Forward-looking and Cautionary Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K Annual Report contains statements that are not historical facts and

that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of such term under the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 These forward-looking statements include statements regarding the business outlook the

demand for the products and services and all other statements in this Annual Report other than recitation of

historical facts Words such as expect potential believes anticipates plans intends and similar

expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements in this Annual

Report include without limitation forecasts of market growth future revenues future expectations concerning

growth of business cost competitiveness and other matters that involve known and unknown risks uncertainties

and other factors that may cause results levels of activity performance or achievements to differ materially from

results expressed or implied by this Annual Report Such risk factors include among others whether certain

market segments grow as anticipated the competitive environment in the information technology services

industry and whether the companies can successfully provide services/products and the degree to which these

gain market acceptance These and other risks are discussed in Item JA of Part of this Annual Report entitled

Risk Factors and in other sections of this Annual Report including Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Actual results may differ materially from those contained in

the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report Any forward-looking statements are based on information

currently available to us and we assume no obligation to update these statements as circumstances change

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires all references in this report to iGATE the

Company us our or we are to iGATE Corporation Pennsylvania corporation and its consolidated

subsidiaries iGATE Corporation formerly named iGATE Capital Corporation through its operating

subsidiaries is worldwide provider of Information Technology IT and IT-enabled operations offshore

outsourcing services to large and medium-sized organizations

Business Overview

We are worldwide outsourcing provider of integrated end-to-end offshore centric information technology

IT and IT-enabled operations solutions and services We deliver comprehensive range of IT services

through globally integrated onsite and offshore delivery locations primarily in India We offer our services to

customers through industry focused practices including insurance healthcare and life sciences manufacturing

retail and logistics banking and financial services communications energy and utilities product and engineering

solutions government solutions and media and entertainment and through technology focused practices IT

services include application development application management verification and validation enterprise

application solutions business intelligence and data warehousing packaged software implementation

infrastructure management services cloud computing services embedded systems development engineering

design services IT consulting IT governance and customized learning solutions IT-enabled services include

business process outsourcing BPO transaction processing services and customer interaction services CIS

We were founded in 1986 and our principal executive office is located in Fremont California We have

operations in India Canada the United States Europe Mexico Singapore Malaysia Japan Australia the

United Arab Emirates South Africa China Switzerland Mauritius and the United Kingdom

With over three decades of IT Services experience and our distinctive philosophy of Accountable for

Clients Business powered by our Integrated Technology and Operations platform iTOPS our multi

location global organization consistently delivers effective solutions to more than 300 active global clients

including large number of Fortune 1000 companies



We provide full-spectrum consulting technology and BPO and product engineering services In an

increasingly fragmented and intensely competitive marketplace we look to disrupt traditional billing models like

the existing time-and-material model used by majority of our competitors in favor of more client-friendly

business outcome model The business outcome model is non-linear model that diminishes risk for client as

they only pay
for services actually used on per-transaction basis

diversified well-trained and motivated talent pool of more than 27000 people work cohesively to deliver

solutions based around mature global delivery model to clients across the Americas Europe-Middle East-

Africa EMEA and Asia-Pacific The reach and global-spanning capabilities of our delivery centers allows us to

be resourceful but we are also small enough to be flexible making us one of the most dynamic and highly

adaptable large IT service companies

iGATE capitalizes on the strength of our numerous combined synergies and core capabilities which enable

us to be an effective and reliable transformation partner to our diverse client base Our synergies and capabilities

include deep domain and delivery expertise focus on micro-verticals suites of IP-led solutions methodologies

and frameworks technology alliances and service partnerships secure and scalable delivery infrastructure across

geographies and mature quality management based on ISO SEI-CMMi Six Sigma ITIL and COPC standards

We have pursued strategic and targeted acquisitions intended to enhance and add to our offerings of

services and solutions or enable us to expand in certain geographic and other markets We completed our largest

acquisition to date and acquired majority stake in iGATE Computer Systems Limited iGATE Computer

formerly known as Patni Computer Systems Limited the iGATE Computer Acquisition on May 12 2011

Since that time the two companies have been operating as new unified brand The iGATE Computer

Acquisition was valued at $1.24 billion iGATE Computer provided multiple service offerings to its clients

across various industries including banking and insurance manufacturing retail and distribution life sciences

product engineering communications media and entertainment and utilities These service offerings include

application development and maintenance enterprise software and systems integration services business and

technology consulting product engineering services infrastructure management services customer interaction

services BPO quality assurance and engineering services

The iGATE Computer Acquisition brought together two highly recognized IT outsourcing companies with

complementary industry verticals with the intent to facilitate sustained long-term growth for the combined

entity By combining iGATE business outcomes service model and iGATE Computers delivery expertise and

focus on micro-verticals the companies could offer new and impressive go-to-market strategy Consequently

the iGATE Computer Acquisition enabled us to enhance our offerings of services and solutions and facilitated

the expansion of our geographic and industry penetration For more information on the iGATE Computer

Acquisition please refer to Recent Developments Acquisition of iGATE Computer We believe that our

strategy of global delivery model and the iGATE Computer Acquisition position us well to provide greater

breadth of services in catering to market needs and opportunities

Industry Background

The rise of global service providers has enabled companies to reduce costs and improve productivity This

growth has been driven by numerous factors including the broad adoption of global communications increased

competition from globalization and the organization and availability of highly-trained offshore workforces

Global demand for high quality lower cost IT and IT-enabled services has created significant opportunity for

the service providers that can successfully leverage the benefits of and address the challenges in using an

offshore talent pool The effective use of offshore personnel can offer variety of benefits including lower costs

faster delivery of new IT solutions and innovations in vertical solutions processes and technologies India is

leader in IT services and is regarded as having one of the largest and highest quality pools of talent in the world

Historically IT service providers have used offshore labor pools primarily to supplement the internal

staffing needs of clients However evolving client demands have led to the increasing acceptance and use of



offshore resources for broad portfolio of higher value-added services such as application development

integration and maintenance as well as technology consulting

Indias services and software exports continue to see significant growth Indias National Association of

Software Services Companies reports indicate that Indias IT software and services and BPO sectors are

expected to exceed $108 billion in revenues in 2013

As global services have become more prevalent many clients are now seeking tighter integration of their IT

and business processes to maintain differentiation and cost efficiency Additionally as most BPO services

depend upon client technology and infrastructure many BPO clients are seeking to outsource their IT services

We believe that this demand will require global service providers to offer converged IT and business solutions

We believe that those providers who are experts
in their clients IT and business processes and who can best

deliver converged services using combination of onsite and offshore professionals will most benefit from these

industry trends

Global Delivery Model

We have adopted global delivery model for providing varied and complex IT-enabled services to our

global customers spread across multiple locations With global presence
and world class delivery centers

spanning across the Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific our global delivery model includes well defined single

business management system with best industry practices models and standards such as ISO CMMI ITIL and

Six Sigma Robust knowledge and responsibility transition across employees in the organization ensures

clockwork-like efficiency and effectiveness of provided services

Operational excellence is enabled through highly collaborative work environment superior infrastructure

management and adoption of best practices The organizations firm commitment to knowledge management

training and development and benchmarked talent management practices creates global resource pool and

highly skilled distributed teams which are capable of addressing challenges across all time cycles and zones We

have delivery models encompassing pure offshore pure onsite pure near-shore and blended models onsite near-

shore offshore to meet the specific requirements of our clients Our global delivery model is dynamic and

adaptable to match market demands and changes

Our Clients Solutions and Services

We provide broad range of services/solutions to customers spread across North America Canada Europe

and Asia-Pacific Since its inception the Company has steadily grown and built strong customer base

including some of the top 10 global brands and Fortune 1000 companies In 2012 our client base decreased from

379 customers as of December 31 2011 to 304 customers as of December 31 2012 We discontinued our

business relationship with some of our small clients in 2012 and increased our focus on long-term strategic

clients Our top two customers continue to be General Electric Company GE and Royal Bank of Canada

RBC and we are preferred vendor partner with RBC Preferred vendor status gives us equal opportunity to

bid along with RBCs other preferred vendors for most of its IT service demand arising in its various global

business units The partnerships with GE and RBC continue to significantly contribute to our growth accounting

for 13% and 11% of our revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to 12% and 15%

respectively for the year ended December 31 2011 The services provided to RBC and GE primarily include

consulting independent verification and validation application development and maintenance infrastructure

management BPO and other related IT services

We offer IT services and innovative practices that enable business process improvement We use well

documented and meticulously defined processes in tandem with high quality IT service delivery methodologies

These processes and IT services are driven by the goals of the client companies Our technology expertise now



ranges across Enterprise Resource Planning ERP customer relationship management and product

engineering applications We have dedicated competencies in SAP Oracle PeopleSoft Genesys Siebel and JD

Edwards practice areas The services/solutions we provide include IT services customer interaction services and

process outsourcing and consulting IT services involves providing enterprise solutions business intelligence and

data warehousing independent verification and validation application development and management

infrastructure management and cloud computing services

Industry Practices Technology Practices and IT Services

We offer our services to customers through industry practices in insurance and healthcare manufacturing

retail and logistics banking and financial services communications and utilities and media and entertainment

We also have technology practices that offer services in product and engineering solutions Our industry

practices and technology practices are complemented by our IT services which we develop in response to client

requirements and technology life cycles Our service lines include application development application

maintenance and support verification and validation enterprise application solutions business intelligence and

data warehousing customer interaction services and BPO infrastructure management services and IT consulting

and governance

Industry Practices

Insurance Healthcare and Life Sciences

We are one of the largest full spectrum service providers for the Insurance industry We have enabled

insurance companies to defy challenges and improve business performance For the last three decades we have

drawn on the full breadth of our domain expertise and technological capabilities to help insurance companies

implement solutions designed to deliver business outcomes Our unique iTOPS approach offers business

outcome-based model thus adding certainty to the clients business enabling them to derive maximum value at

increasing business efficiency levels The iTOPS approach means one view on our clients technology and

operations which helps in following synergistic approach to achieve business benefits

We provide full-service insurance administration for health insurance carriers through our subsidiary CHCS

Services Inc leveraging proprietary platform multi-state licenses and variable cost model The variable

model bundles costs of application infrastructure people and processing in Per Member Per Month structure

or Cost Per Policy Cost Per Claim structure

The Company has developed IT Services infrastructure management and BPO solutions that enable insurers

to grow their business while streamlining operations and remaining compliant We assist our clients in achieving

real differentiation through

Integrated IT and BPO business solutions such as Claims as Service

Solution accelerators in the form of frameworks processes and prototyping models for new business

fulfillment and policy administration modernization and

Integrated consulting offerings for all insurance lines of business including lCD-tO assessments in the

healthcare space

End-to-End Insurance Solutions

Our IT consulting and insurance software solutions span across insurance lines of business including life

and annuities property and casualty/general insurance reinsurance and healthcare Over 5000 dedicated

personnel in the iGATE Insurance and Healthcare practice have deep domain understanding expertise on legacy

and modern technologies and systems and experience implementing industry standards such as ACORD and

ANSI X-l2



Manufacturing Retail and Logistics

For the last three decades we have helped global manufacturing retail and logistics companies navigate

through the business challenges and leverage technology to achieve superior business coordination maximize

production performance and create customer value

In addition to our iTOPS approach our unique Concept2Consumption business lifecycle model helps

enterprises effectively deploy sound business strategy which addresses the critical business requirements

across the entire product lifecycle

Our Micro-Vertical Framework is based on the Concept2Consumption business lifecycle model covering

three distinct lifecycle phases

Concept2Manufacturing

Manufacturing2Distribution and

Distribution2Consumption

The Concept2Consumption framework takes full advantage of all our existing capabilities and strengths

across all areas including technology and innovation product engineering enterprise solutions systems

integration application development BPO and infrastructure management etc Moreover the

Concept2Consumption framework is highly tailored towards industry Micro-Vertical objectives creating

solutions and services targeted to the specific industry sectors Concept2Consumption is also supported and

enabled by thought leadership solution platforms frameworks experience reference-ability and value creation

Banking and Financial Services

iGATEs Banking and Financial Services is widely recognized as pioneer in delivering end-to-end service

offerings including IT consulting system integration business system management BPO and infrastructure

management services to meet business needs Our banking practice has several client relationships that are more

than decade old We solve problems in the areas of credit products and processes implementation transaction

processing internet banking and back office operations Our comprehensive risk and compliance solutions suite

helps banks in their credit risk and collection implementation life-cycle through proprietary models standard

approaches and methodologies

The Financial Services practice has the domain expertise to service the entire value chain from buy-side to

sell-side from custodians to depositories and central counterparties To achieve business and cost transformation

clients have leveraged our solutions such as Reference Data Management Financial Control and Reporting

Operational Fund Accounting Standing Settlement Instructions Manager and Reconciliation Services

We offer wide variety of services within the mortgage banking industry Whether processing end-to-end

loan originations or any other aspect of loan servicing we have the IT and operations resources to meet all of our

clients mortgage-related needs Our experience in the mortgage industry is broad and deep including loan

fulfillment loan servicing loan modification default management and collections

With over 15 years of experience and strong team of over 1000 plan administrators implementation

specialists pension actuaries and ASPPA-certified trained resources our Benefits Administration practice

service offerings include retirements health and welfare benefits trust accounting in standalone mode and master

trust actuarial valuations and superannuation

Our experience includes

Providing technology and business enabled solutions for the past 30 years

Over 75 banking clients including number of Fortune 500 companies



Over 400 engagements executed through the offshore-onsite global delivery model

Average 20 years of functional experience and

Pool of over 5500 specialized resources and 5000 engineering years of experience

Communications Energy and Utilities

In this highly competitive and fast changing industry industry leaders in communication services constantly

reinvent their business models to introduce game changing products and services in the market that change

customer mindset preference and behavior It is essential for market leaders to establish their brand as the best in

the market by turning demand into value and capitalizing on new types of connectivity through transformation of

their business processes and information systems that make them flexible and nimble to launch and support new

services continuously across multiple channels of communication In this competitive landscape we are helping

our clients across the globe to enhance their agility and nimbleness to respond to business and regulatory

changes with communication practice that blends industry knowledge targeted services technology and

functional expertise with proven global delivery model

Energy benefits most from innovation and technology to overcome challenges of increasing energy supply

from new frontiers and mitigating the environmental impacts of energy production and use New field

exploration and production and optimization across its value chain in down-stream operations is critical to the

success of an oil and gas company Major business imperatives like growth and diversification faster

exploration to production through advanced analytics at the oil head excellence in Health Safety and

Environment practices using predictive analytics and an optimized supply chain and realization of operational

efficiencies heavily depend on the alignment and management of resources standardized and lean processes and

utilization of state-of-the-art technologies Advent of new processes like horizontal drilling hydraulic fracturing

and advance simulation techniques combined with increasing competition due to high demand and market prices

for oil have motivated market leaders to continuously invest in specialized business solutions and information

management We provide full spectrum consulting technology solutions to such market leaders through iTOPS

Consolidation deregulation new technologies competitive pressures and new customer service demands

affect the utilities industry on daily basis To maintain leadership major utility companies must differentiate

themselves by proactively exceeding customer demands and lowering operational costs while increasing

customer satisfaction and shareholder value

Across the globe we provide IT consulting solutions and services to numerous leading energy companies

utility providers and independent software vendors serving the industry Our multi location global organization

consistently delivers effective solutions to over 300 global clients including large number of Fortune 1000

communications energy and utility companies

Media and Entertainment

We have over 10 years of experience in the media and entertainment industry and have rich process and

technology consulting experience We have strong relationship with global media conglomerates and have

provided media and entertainment solutions to several top-tier companies in the areas of broadcasting online

gaming publishing and content processing

Our broad portfolio of focus segments in the industry encompass

Digital Asset Management

IP Rights Management

Digital Media Content Publishing Platform

Social Networking Platform



Campaign and Viral Marketing Platform

Sales and Marketing Analysis

Web Content Management Solutions

Viewership ratings and Research

Program Production Planning and Management

Affiliates Management

Native Mobile Application development

Cross Platform Mobile Development using HTML CSS and JS and

User Experience Design

Technology Practice

Product Engineering

An increasing demand for innovative electronic products at lower cost presents tremendous challenges for

companies trying to satisfy these requirements These challenges along with globalization of markets have forced

companies to consider outsourcing in the product engineering and design domains In order to address these

constraints paradigm shift is required in the mindset of the offshore partner to support the product lifecycle and

processes
while serving the product companies We help companies address these challenges effectively through

our product engineering and engineering design services practice Our product design services have helped

clients reduce their time-to-market while ensuring high levels of quality by leveraging the following

Decades of experience in Product Engineering for various OEMs Tier-i and Tier-2 companies

iGATE QzenTM methodologies to steer project management rigor

Experienced technical architects and specialists for product engineering assignments

Engineering teams with specialized skill-sets and domain knowledge

Investment in various tools and infrastructure and

Robust IP security policy and IP protection framework

Our Product Engineering Solutions group brings vast experience in providing research and development

engineering services and product life cycle support in focused industry domains namely

Automation and Control

Automotive

Consumer Electronics

Medical Devices

Mobile and Wireless

Office Automation and

Storage Networks and Computing

Our high-quality cost-effective and business-focused approach to product design services has helped our

clients reap significant year-on-year benefits We have serviced several Fortune 500 clients and market leaders in

the product engineering space Some of our marquee clients include

World leaders in information storage products from the U.S

Worlds leading manufacturer of class III medical devices from the U.S



World leaders in digital lifestyle products from Japan

Worlds leading automobile manufacturing company from the U.S

Second largest manufacturer of elevators and moving walkways from Europe

European manufacturer of handheld entertainment and information delivery products and

American manufacturer ofmulti-functional printers and various office equipment

IT Services

Application Development

We have adopted and gained considerable expertise in agile development methods to ensure that clients

benefit from productivity improvements especially in terms of increased flexibility to respond to changing

requirements Additionally we help organizations maximize their return from an agile transition through its

proven change management methodology that helps enterprises smoothly traverse the cultural shift required by

such process changes In the traditional arena we offer suite of methodologies and frameworks which when

combined with its vast domain and technical expertise provide the best balance in terms of cost agility and

quality for building applications that meet business requirements We are committed to deliver the following

benefits to our clients

Improved productivity year-on-year with immediate and near-term cost saving benefits

Improved response to unpredictable demand and managing capacity variations in application

development using our Variable Build Model

Speed-to-market

Greater cost savings via efficient and distributed service offerings and delivery models

Improved process efficiency and resource optimization

Faster development cycle with greater visibility into the development process and

Center of Excellence for niche technologies and domain areas

Application Management

iGATE can effectively resolve many challenges faced by global clients through end-to-end management of

infrastructure applications and processes Our comprehensive application management services comprise

Application maintenance

Application portfolio rationalization and

Legacy modernization

We are pioneer in delivering application management solutions by leveraging the global delivery model

Over span of three decades we have successfully managed critical IT applications of Fortune 2000

corporations across multiple geographies

Verification and Validation

We have combined our software development and maintenance services experience with our expertise

across multiple technologies to offer global organizations centralized and qualified testing services skilled staff

and certified standards Technology vendors leverage our specialized solutions to

Reduce post production defects

Improve product quality



Accelerate test cycles

Shorten delivery schedules and achieve faster time-to-market

Lower testing costs by up to 50 percent and

Enjoy optimum return on investments

We offer range
of delivery models that suit different engagements and enterprise requirements Our fixed-

price and volume based engagement models helps clients to identify gaps between their requirements from an

application and the actual functionality delivered while minimizing risk
exposure

and providing greater

transparency The services are optimally designed for automation and performance testing engagements to help

enterprises control costs and gain assured benefits

Enterprise Application Solutions

In the fast changing global markets organizations strive to achieve the state of zero latency strategy to

reduce the systems response time to the absolute minimum in the flow of information and have lower response

times to be able to make innovative offerings to the market Enterprise Application Services and Solutions are

pre-requisite to newer business initiatives and strategies We leverage our experience across domains and

technology platforms to deliver faster returns on investment for our clients

Our packaged application portfolio includes the entire gamut of packaged application services right from

package evaluation selection implementation post-implementation support and development version upgrades

and Master Data Management services Our proven methodologies and domain expertise reduce the total cost of

ownership of the package for our clients enterprises

We have developed deep expertise in leading packaged ERP applications including SAP Oracle

PeopleSoft and JD Edwards We have deep expertise in related solution areas such as supply chain management

customer relationship management enterprise integration and business intelligence Our experience in

implementation and post-implementation support spans across wide range of vertical industry sectors from

food and beverages to automobiles and transportation to electronic and consumer goods

Business Intelligence and Data Warehousing

We offer deep expertise in enterprise information management that encompasses services like data

integration master data management data warehouse management data cleansing and quality management

creating dashboards and reports advanced analytics and corporate performance management We enable

enterprises to deploy solutions that manage structured as well as unstructured information on real-time basis

and makes it available to the business in the form of intelligible dashboards scorecards and drill-through

reporting Our iTOPS model has led delivery model ensure assured business outcomes through consulting

services data consolidation effective master data management and information governance end-to-end business

and technology services integration and analysis of information to drive high performance

Customer Interaction Services and Business Process Outsourcing

Our service is natural extension of our IT service offerings Our CIS and BPO services are built on

foundation of process and domain expertise and are enabled by innovative technologies As in our other

practices our services are managed to meet high quality standards Clients rely on them to improve the bottom

line and focus more effectively on their core business while maintaining high quality of service

We provide customized global sourcing solutions to diverse group of clients who rely on us for vertical

specific processes as well as shared corporate services In addition to broad range of horizontal services

including IT helpdesk finance and accounting human resource services enterprise-wide service desk and



product support we also provide comprehensive suite of CIS and BPO services for the insurance financial

services telecom and life sciences vertical markets For 401k Plan administrators within the Insurance space

we also offer offshoring services of the entire benefits administration lifecycle

We offer clarity and expedience in delivering CIS and BPO solutions We give clients clear roadmap that

is designed to enhance productivity and reduce costs through process assessment process
standardization and

process re-engineering To ensure the highest levels of information quality and integrity we have adhered to the

BS7799 standard to establish robust information security management system that integrates process people

and technology to assure the confidentiality integrity and availability of information global infrastructure

helps us implement CIS and BPO services that utilize the right combination of resources from offshore onshore

or onsite We offer these CIS and BPO services through our state of the art BPO centers in India and across the

globe We also have in place comprehensive model for disaster recovery and business continuity in the event of

any disruption

Infrastructure Management Services

In todays volatile business world enterprises face significant challenges in scaling and managing their

global IT infrastructure To meet these challenges we offer focused solutions in core infrastructure areas for

building and managing the enterprise IT infrastructure comprising lifecycle services in datacenter management

desktop management database administration and web operations Our domain expertise spans diverse set of

systems and technologies within an organizations enterprise IT infrastructure

Enterprises can achieve cost efficiencies and accelerated time-to-delivery by leveraging our robust global

delivery model proven methodologies standardized tools and mature processes for enterprise infrastructure

management services We offer focused solutions in core infrastructure areas and leverages it with our proven
IT

infrastructure assessment tool and methodologies to design solutions that are closely aligned to the clients

business strategy

Our comprehensive industry-leading portfolio of infrastructure management services guarantees high

reliability round-the-clock availability remote manageability and optimum scalability Our domain expertise

spans diverse set of systems and technologies Clients can leverage our offshore service delivery centers to avail

proactive and cost-effective solutions and gain quick return on IT infrastructure investments

Cloud Computing Services

Cloud computing is among the leading disruptive trends and strategic technologies of this decade that offers

new IT delivery model Several recent new developments have made security risk management and

governance in the Cloud more manageable and hence opened up new options for enterprises that want to

leverage the Cloud Enterprises derive host of benefits from smart and consistent Cloud strategy We help

clients seek smooth transformation to Cloud computing by addressing the various challenges they face

We deliver end-to-end cloud computing services from consulting architecture design and implementation

to management-monitoring We offer cloud computing services by addressing issues such as reducing capital

expenditure maximizing utilization of computing resources reducing their management complexity By

leveraging our deep expertise proven methods frameworks and multi-vendor alliances we accelerate and

lower the risk of transitioning clients IT to the best suited Cloud

Embedded System Development

We offer wide range
of design development and support services for embedded systems around all layers

of technology and industry segments including automation consumer electronics medical devices throughout

all the phases of the product lifecycle to product manufacturers to address their increasing needs We have
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extensive experience from product development and maintenance to testing and also offer services that help our

clients bring their products to market much faster and more cost effectively Our global delivery centers are

equipped with embedded development labs and test environments to replicate our clients development and test

environments as well as to simulate the real-time behavior of their systems

Engineering Design Services

We have well-established engineering services practice for addressing various concerns faced by product

development teams We offer engineering services that span across the entire lifecycle of product

conceptualization through prototyping and manufacturing support We provide multi-platform expertise in CAD
CAM/CAEIPLM Our engineering services have enabled customers to create improved designs analyze design

problems improve product efficiency manage design data from multiple sources migrate from one design

platform to the other and adapt to new software releases We also provide engineering software customization

services to create custom interfaces to handle routinerepetitive design tasks geographic information systems

and document conversion services

IT Consulting

We provide key IT consulting services that address aspects of reducing cost increasing agility and enabling

transformation Our consulting offerings are based on an analytical approach to understand the business

problems resulting in practical recommendation and actionable plans Our value proposition is based on

confluence of business knowledge deep hands-on technology skills and focused approach through the use of

in-house methodologies frameworks and tools

We provide IT consulting services in areas such as IT transformation strategic cost transformation offshore

advisory services process consulting services enterprise architecture services model-based software process

improvement focused process solutions quality management customized solutions ITIL process solutions

social and collaborative knowledge management organizational change management and Six Sigma consulting

services

IT Governance

Our dedicated IT Governance Center of Excellence helps businesses to adopt effective IT governance

strategies that will help them control comply and align IT with business priorities These strategies enable IT and

the businesses to function in tandem as cohesive unit that delivers real value to the organization We provide

solutions that conform to standards like SOX BASEL II using COBIT ITIL PMI as the guiding principles

while helping them to meet their objectives of IT governance and project portfolio management Our project

portfolio management and IT governance outsourcing solutions ensure the unlocking of real cost savings and

innovation value delivery through establishing the integrative systems and incorporating best practices to enable

optimal management of our customers IT portfolio

Our deep technology and consulting capabilities are well complemented by our partnerships and alliances

with leading product vendors in the IT governance sector Our composite service offerings enable us to leverage

the effective use of technology and business to build holistic IT governance solutions for our clients

Customized Learning Solutions

Over the years we have extended and leveraged our rich in-house experience to enable our customers

realize their vision of developing required skills knowledge and attitudes of their workforce We achieve this by

using the principles of instructional design educational psychology and cognitive psychology for competency

development in the area of technical behavioral project management quality management and leadership skills
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We provide suite of customized learning solutions comprised of corporate training custom content

development and blended learning solutions This provides our customers with competency development

retention of application knowledge and effective user friendly documentation

Competition

The IT and IT-enabled operations offshore outsourcing services industries are highly competitive and are

served by numerous global national regional and local firms Our primary competitors in the IT and IT-enabled

outsourcing industry include IT outsourcing firms consulting firms systems integration-firms and general

management consulting firms such as Tata Consultancy Services Limited Infosys Technologies Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation Wipro Limited Genpact Limited WNS Holdings Limited

EXLService Holdings Inc Syntel Inc Mindtree Limited HCL Technologies and Hexaware

Technologies Limited

We believe that the principal competitive factors in the IT and IT-enabled operations offshore outsourcing

markets include the range of services offered size and scale of service provider global reach technical expertise

responsiveness to client needs speed in delivery of IT solutions quality of service and perceived value Many

companies also choose to perform some or all of their back office IT and IT-enabled operations internally

For discussion of risks relating to Competition see Risk Factors Continued pricing pressures may

reduce our revenues in Item 1A which is incorporated herein by reference

Competitive Strengths

We believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on the following competitive strengths to achieve future

growth

Differentiated Business Model

We are the first outsourcing solutions provider to offer fully integrated technology and operations structure

with global service delivery By integrating IT and BPO services our approach enables business model that

encourages continual innovation in all areas of business transformation We offer end-to-end converged

solutions and this integration runs through our entire sales and delivery organization Our iTOPS Model ensures

business process improvement integrated with technology solution optimization leading to business

effectiveness and enhanced cost advantage for our clients

Commitment to Attracting and Retaining Top Talent

Our strong corporate culture and work environments have received numerous awards including the coveted

ranking as Best Indian IT Employer in 2012 by DataQuest-CMR Our success depends in large part on our

ability to attract develop motivate and retain highly skilled IT and IT-enabled service professionals We recruit

in number of countries including India Canada the United States Mexico Singapore Japan Australia and the

United Kingdom Our employees are valuable recruiting tool and are actively involved in referring new

employees and screening candidates for new positions We have focused retention strategy and extensive

training infrastructure

Deep Industiy Expertise

Our full lifecycle project experiences cover numerous industry verticals having successfully met the

stringent demands for many leading Fortune 1000 companies over the years We offer specialized industry

practices in areas such as financial services insurance life sciences manufacturing retail media and

entertainment and healthcare We understand the unique strategic and tactical challenges faced within each

vertical allowing us to optimize and differentiate our solutions
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Successful Client Relationships

We have demonstrated the ability to build and manage our client relationships Our long-term relationships

typically develop from performing discrete projects to providing multiple service offerings spread across clients

businesses Through our flexible approach we believe we offer services that respond to our clients needs

regardless of their size By leveraging our industry experience with our project management capabilities and

breadth of technical expertise we solidify and expand our client relationships

Breadth of Solutions

We provide comprehensive range of IT services including application development and management

packaged software implementation infrastructure management services product engineering cloud computing

business intelligence and data warehousing and BPO services Our knowledge and experience span multiple

computing platforms and technologies which enable us to address range of business needs and to function as

virtual extension of our clients IT departments We offer broad spectrum of services in select industry sectors

which we leverage to capitalize on opportunities throughout our clients organizations

Proven Global Delivery Model

We have characterized clear value proposition around our global delivery model which enables us to offer

flexible onsite and offshore services that are cost efficient and responsive to our clients preferences Our

operational excellence is enabled through highly collaborative work environment superior infrastructure

management and adoption of best practices We also offer access to knowledgeable personnel and best practices

deep resources and cost-efficient solutions We have made substantial investments in our processes

infrastructure and systems and we have refined our global delivery model to effectively integrate onsite and

offshore technology services

Leadership

The efforts and abilities of our Chief Executive Officer Phaneesh Murthy and our senior management team

have contributed greatly to our success Our senior management team includes well-known thought leaders in IT-

enabled services and all members have significant experience with the onsite/offshore delivery model we

employ

Business Strategy

Our Vision

Our vision is Changing the rules to deliver high-impact outcomes for new technology-enabled world

iGATE is fully integrated iTOPS enterprise with global services model We enable clients to optimize their

business through combination of process investment strategies technology leverage and business process

outsourcing and provisioning We have leveraged our deep understanding of diverse business challenges faced by

global enterprises coupled with our thought leadership in IT and process/operations excellence in building the

iTOPS model iTOPS facilitates single-point analysis of the multidimensional business matrix which

encompasses factors such as business goals IT operations processes human resources and related costs

iGATE has introduced the Pay for Results paradigm which has become game changer in the IT and BPO
market Our business outcomes-driven solutions approach mitigates the inherent IT and common business risks

of large projects and complex offshore practices and operations by transferring the risks to us Our business

outcomes model provides key benefits to clients by reducing risk from demand variation and technology

delivering truly variable cost structure to better manage their businesses The model provides predictable results

and costs and eliminates management and personnel overheads Our business outcomes-based pricing model is

high on impact and high on outcome and has the potential to redefine the way the industry conducts business
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We intend to become the leading provider of iTOPS services In order to achieve this goal we are focused

on the following strategies

Penetrate and Grow Strategic Client Accounts

We have achieved strong revenue growth by focusing on select long-term customer relationships which we

call strategic accounts We aim to expand the scope
of our client relationships by leveraging our focused industry

sector expertise with delivery excellence responsive engagement models and breadth of services We intend to

focus on adding new strategic clients and further penetrate our existing customer relationships We address the

needs of our larger strategic relationships through dedicated account managers who have responsibility for

increasing the size and scope of our service offerings to such clients We aim to strengthen our sales and

marketing teams majority of which are aligned to focus on specific industries

Strengthen and Broaden our Industry Expertise with Micro Vertical Focus

We intend to strengthen our understanding of key industries by investing in building or acquiring

intellectual property like platforms tools etc in chosen micro verticals within each industry segment that we

operate We shall also continue to invest in strong base of industry experts business analysts and solutions

architects as well as considering select targeted acquisitions We believe we can create competitive

differentiation and add more value than general service provider through such investments by enhancing our

understanding in specific industry and domain requirements of our clients

Strengthen and Broaden our Service Lines

We aim to deepen our existing client relationships through new and more comprehensive service lines In

recent years we have added new capabilities in line with our growth and customer needs We continually explore

new initiatives through our internal centers of excellence which focus on innovation in specific technology

platforms or services

Optimize and Expand Delivery Capability

Our process and methodologies consolidate decades of software development and maintenance experience

in delivering and supporting enterprise applications and products for our clients We believe that our mature

process frameworks effectively reduce risk and unpredictability across the software development life cycle and

flexibly integrate with our clients processes We further believe that our quality systems create strong predictive

and diagnostic focus delivering measurable performance to clients critical to quality parameters resulting in

faster turnaround higher productivity and on-time to first-time-right deliveries We provide full visibility on our

projects for our clients through integrated web-based project management and monitoring tools

We are committed to enhancing the processes
and methodologies that improve our efficiency We aim to

develop new productivity tools refine our software engineering techniques and maximize reuse of our processes

To maximize improvements in our processes and methodologies we have expanded our infrastructure and we

have constructed new knowledge park campuses in India to provide world-class infrastructure high standards of

quality and secure delivery

Expand Geographically and Build our Brand Globally

While our iGATE brand is an established and recognized brand in India we intend to increase recognition

of our brand elsewhere in our client markets We seek to achieve this through targeted analyst outreach

programs trade shows white papers sponsorships workshops road shows speaking engagements and global

public relations management We believe that stronger brand will facilitate our ability to gain new clients in

new geographies and to attract and retain talented professionals
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Our Partner Companies and Affiliates

We operate our business principally through our 100% owned operating subsidiaries iGATE Technologies

Inc Pennsylvania corporation iGATE Technologies iGATE Global Solutions Limited iGATE Global
and iGATE Computer each of which are engaged in IT and IT-enabled operations iGATE Global and iGATE

Computer are companies incorporated in India under the Indian Companies Act 1956

Intellectual Property Rights

We rely on combination of copyright trademark and design laws confidentiality procedures and

contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property We currently do not have any patents

We require our employees and subcontractors to enter into non-disclosure arrangements to limit access to

and distribution of our clients proprietary and confidential information as well as our own Generally we are

responsible to our clients for complying with certain security obligations including maintaining network security

backing-up data ensuring our network is virus free and verifying the integrity of those employees that work with

our clients by conducting background checks

In addition the terms of our client contracts often impose particular confidentiality and security standards

We have independently established system of security measures to protect our computer systems from security

breaches and computer viruses that may attempt to gain access to our communications network We have

deployed advanced technology and process-based methods to ensure high level of security and we continually

monitor such technologies to ensure that we maintain such levels consistently Some of these components include

clustered and multilevel firewalls intrusion detection mechanisms vulnerability assessments content filtering

antivirus software and access control mechanisms We use encryption techniques as required We control and

limit access to client-specific project areas

We believe that our intellectual property rights do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of any

other party and there are currently no material pending or threatened intellectual property claims against us

For discussion of risks relating to intellectual property rights and cyber security see Item lA

Risk Factors Our business could be materially adversely affected if we do not or are unable to protect our

intellectual property or if our services are found to infringe or misappropriate on the intellectual property of

others and System security risks and cyber-attacks could disrupt our information technology services provided

to customers and any such disruption could reduce our expected revenue increase our expenses damage our

reputation and adversely affect our stock price of this report

Website Access to SEC Reports

The Companys website address is http//www.igate.com The Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K

Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to these reports are available

free of charge on the Investors page of the Companys website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports

are filed electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC The information found on our

website is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC

Recent Developments

Acquisition of iGATE Computer

On May 12 2011 we completed the iGATE Computer Acquisition through our 100% owned subsidiaries

Pan-Asia iGATE Solutions Pan-Asia and iGATE Global To consummate the acquisition of iGATE

Computer we entered into securities purchase agreement with Viscaria Limited to raise equity financing to fund

portion of the cash consideration for the iGATE Computer Acquisition We also agreed to sell to Viscaria

Limited in private placement up to 480000 shares of newly designated 8.00% Series Convertible
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Participating Preferred Stock no par value per share the Series Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase

price of up to $480 million In February and May of 2011 we issued total of 330000 shares of Series

Preferred Stock to Viscaria Limited for total consideration of $330 million

The remainder of the consideration for the iGATE Computer Acquisition was funded through our issuance

on April 29 2011 of $770 million of 9.0% senior notes due May 2016 the Notes through private

placement pursuant to an Indenture the Indenture Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in cash in

arrears on May and November of each year beginning on November 2011 The Notes are senior unsecured

obligations of the Company guaranteed by the Companys restricted subsidiaries as defined in the Indenture

The Notes were eligible to be exchanged for Exchange Notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933 as

amended and pursuant to an exchange offer initiated on December 13 2011 all of the Notes were tendered by

the Note holders as of February 14 2012 For more information on the Notes please refer to Note Senior

Notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

In connection with our integration efforts following the iGATE Computer Acquisition we commenced the

process
of acquiring the remaining 15.82% of iGATE Computers outstanding share capital excluding American

Depository Shares ADS5 from iGATE Computers public shareholders and delisting the fully paid-up equity

shares of iGATE Computer On March 14 2012 Pan-Asia along with iGATE Global and iGATE issued

public announcement regarding the proposed acquisition of remaining iGATE Computer share capital and

delisting the fully paid-up equity shares of iGATE Computer iGATE Computer then applied to the Bombay

Stock Exchange BSE and the National Stock Exchange NSE to voluntarily delist its equity shares from

those exchanges Upon completion of the purchase of iGATE Computers remaining shares trading was

discontinued as of May 21 2012 and iGATE Computers shares were delisted from the records of the BSE and

the NSE as of May 28 2012 Subsequently iGATE Computer applied for voluntary delisting of its ADSs from

the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE and for deregistration of the ADSs under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 The ADSs were delisted from the NYSE after the close of trading on September 28 2012 and

became tradable on the U.S over-the-counter market as of October 2012 On October 2012 iGATE

Computer filed Form 15 with the SEC deregistering the ADSs from the SECs reporting requirements The

deregistration automatically became effective 90 days after such filing on December 31 2012

Mergers of iGATE Subsidiaries

Following the successful integration of our company and iGATE Computer we began the process of

merging certain of our subsidiaries to simplify our corporate structure increase operational efficiencies and

reduce costs As an initial step in this process
iGATE Computer entered into share purchase agreement on

August 28 2012 with another subsidiary of ours iGATE Technologies Inc iTI to transfer all the shares of

iGATE Americas Inc f/k/a Patni Americas Inc iAI from iGATE Computer to iTI for total consideration of

$82.9 million In addition to the above noted consolidation on December 31 2012 we merged two of our U.S

subsidiaries namely Patni Telecom Inc into iAI and then iAI was merged into iTI The
purpose

of this merger

was to help us achieve our long term objective of simplifying the U.S legal entity structure which would lead to

delivering greater synergies and cost efficiencies to our clients minimizing compliance costs and enabling us to

pool management teams and employees CHCS Services Inc will continue as an independent subsidiary of iTI

Continuing with this
process on October 11 2012 our Board of Directors approved the plan to merge

GATE Computer with iGATE Global the Merger The Merger was further approved by the Board of

Directors of iGATE Computer and the Board of Directors of iGATE Global on October 26 2012 To allow for

the consolidation of iGATE Computer with iGATE Global pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement described

below iGATE Computer commenced termination of its American Depositary Receipt ADR program On

December 14 2012 iGATE Computer provided termination and amendment notice to holders of its ADRs

pursuant to the terms of Deposit Agreement dated December 2005 as amended between the Bank of New

York Mellon as Depositary and iGATE Computer the Deposit Agreement Under the terms of the Deposit

Agreement the ADR program was to have terminated on January 13 2013 Following termination of the ADR
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program the Depositary will service the ADRs until March 13 2013 allowing holders to transfer their ADRs or

exchange their ADRs for underlying equity shares of iGATE Computer par value Rs the Shares or the

Common Stock On or around March 13 2013 the Depositary expects to tender any Shares remaining in the

ADR program into the Subsequent Offering Period as defined in the Companys Schedule TO filed on

January 03 2013 and provide holders of ADRs the cash proceeds of Indian Rupee INR 520 per share less

customary expenses

Concurrently with the termination of iGATE Computers ADR program we continued the process of the

Merger and on December 29 2012 in accordance with the direction of the High Court of Judicature at Mumbai

India iGATE Computer sent notice to its shareholders convening meeting of shareholders Court Convened

Meeting or CCM to approve the Scheme of Arrangement of iGATE Computer with iGATE Global filed with

the High Court of Judicature at Mumbai India on October 29 2012 the Scheme Pursuant to the terms of the

Scheme holders of Shares were to have received shares of common stock par
value Rs 10 of iGATE Global

iGS Shares for each 22 Shares of iGATE Computer the Share Exchange Ratio Prior to the completion of

the Merger the terms of the Subsequent Offering Period will not change Upon the consummation of the Merger

holders of Shares will be issued iGS Shares in accordance with the Share Exchange Ratio subject to rounding for

fractional shares Following completion of the Merger iGS Shares will be accepted pursuant to the terms of the

Subsequent Offering Period subject to price adjustment to account for the Share Exchange Ratio and each iGS

Share owned may be tendered in the Subsequent Offering Period for Rs 2288

Accordingly the CCM was conducted on January 22 2013 at which time the Merger was approved and the

appointed date changed to April 2012

Consummation of Term Loan for balance acquisition of iGA TE Computers shares

To consummate these acquisitions and consolidations Pan-Asia entered into credit agreement the

Original Credit Facility on March 08 2012 in an aggregate principal U.S Dollar equivalent of $215 million

The Original Credit Agreement was subsequently amended to increase the commitment amount to $265 million

and modify certain elements of the Original Credit Facility

On January 22 2013 the Company and its domestic subsidiary guarantors entered into the First Amendment

with the above lenders and Administrative Agent to amend four covenants covering maintenance of security

interests of iGATE Global application of proceeds received from iGATE Computer negative pledge in respect

of shares of iGATE and Pan-Asias holding in the merged Indian subsidiary

For more information on the Merger consolidations and financings please refer to the disclosure provided

in the Companys Schedule TO filed on January 03 2013 and Item Recent Events Impacting Future

Operations contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Reportable Financial Segments

Following the delisting of iGATE Computer from the Indian Stock Exchanges in May 2012 the Companys
Chief Executive Officer who is the chief decision making officer determined that the business will be operated

and managed as single segment Therefore no segment information is provided

Note 21 Segment Information to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this

Form 10-K provides further financial information related to the geographic areas in which we operate

Seasonality

Our operations are generally not affected by seasonal fluctuations However our consultants billable hours

are affected by national holidays and vacation policies which vary by country
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Innovation

We recognize innovation as key focus area to continually create value for our customers Through our

innovative solutions we address the various technological and business challenges of our clients Our innovation

also enhances the delivery excellence of our own services We believe that our innovation initiative complements

our business outcomes model and provides competitive advantage to our customers

Our research and innovation group consists of dedicated team of researchers and experts who focus on the

following areas

Delivery Innovation To provide exceptional value to customers through ensured delivery excellence

Technology Incubation To explore emerging and niche technologies and create solutions for

enabling business outcomes of enterprises

Business Analysis and Incubation To create new business opportunities for iGATE by tracking the

pulse of the industry and crafting business-value propositions for customers

Industry Thought Leadership To leverage our experience and expertise across different emerging

industry and technology areas and conduct relevant market research

Human Resources

As of January 31 2013 we employed 27616 non-unionized professionals including 1215 subcontractors

which consisted of 25871 IT and IT-enabled service professionals and 1745 individuals working in sales

recruiting general and administrative roles

As of January 31 2013 of the 3131 professionals working for us in the United States 52.5% were working

under H-lB temporary work permits

We believe that our strong corporate culture and work environments have allowed us to attract and retain

highly talented and motivated employees

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

We operate in rapidly changing economic and technological environment that presents numerous risks

many of which are driven by factors that we cannot control or predict The following discussion as well as the

discussion in the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates section of the Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained herein highlights some of these risks The

risks described below are not the only risks we may face Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known

to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may adversely affect our business financial condition results of

operations and/or cash flows

Uncertain global economic conditions may continue to adversely affect demand for our services

Our revenue and gross margin depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for IT

services in the markets in which we operate Economic weakness and constrained IT spending has resulted and

may result in the future in decreased revenue gross margin earnings and growth rates material portion of our

revenues and profitability is derived from our clients in North America and Europe Weakening in these markets

as result of high government deficits credit downgrades or otherwise could have material adverse effect on

our results of operations Ongoing economic volatility and uncertainty affects our business in number of other

ways including making it more difficult to accurately forecast client demand beyond the short term and

effectively build our revenue and resource plans Economic downturns also may lead to restructuring actions and

associated expenses Uncertainty about future economic conditions makes it difficult for us to forecast operating

results and to make decisions about future investments Delays or reductions in IT spending could have

material adverse effect on demand for our products and services and consequently the results of operations

financial condition cash flows and stock price
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Our global operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory requirements

and violation of these regulations could harm our business

We are subject to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal regimes on matters as diverse as

anticorruption import/export controls content requirements trade restrictions tariffs taxation sanctions

immigration internal and disclosure control obligations securities regulation anti-competition data privacy and

labor relations Compliance with diverse legal requirements is costly time-consuming and requires significant

resources Violations of one or more of these regulations in the conduct of our business could result in significant

fines criminal sanctions against us or our officers prohibitions on doing business and damage to our reputation

Violations of these regulations in connection with the performance of our obligations to our clients also

could result in liability for significant monetary damages fines and/or criminal prosecution unfavorable

publicity and other reputational damage restrictions on our ability to process information and allegations by our

clients that we have not performed our contractual obligations Due to the varying degrees of development of the

legal systems of the countries in which we operate local laws might be insufficient to protect our rights In

particular in many parts of the world including countries in which we operate and/or seek to expand practices in

the local business community might not conform to international business standards and could violate

anticorruption laws or regulations including the U.S Dodd-Frank Act the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

and the U.K Bribery Act 2010 Violations of these laws or regulations by us our employees or any of our

subcontractors agents alliance or joint venture partners and other third parties with which we associate could

subject us to criminal or civil enforcement actions whether or not we participated or knew about the actions

leading to the violations including fines or penalties disgorgement of profits and suspension or disqualification

from work including U.S federal contracting any of which could materially adversely affect our business

including our results of operations and our reputation

Changes in laws and regulations could also mandate significant and costly changes to the way we

implement our services and solutions or could impose additional taxes on our services and solutions For

example because outsourcing and systems integration represent significant portion of our business changes in

laws and regulations to limit using off-shore resources in connection with our government work which have

been proposed from time to time by various U.S states could adversely affect our results of operations Such

changes may result in contracts being terminated or work being transferred onshore resulting in greater costs to

us and could have negative impact on our ability to obtain future work from government clients We currently

do not have significant contracts with U.S federal or state government entities

Changes in our level of taxes and audits investigations and tax proceedings could have material adverse

effect on our results of operations and financial condition

We are subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions We calculate and provide for income taxes in

each tax jurisdiction in which we operate Tax accounting often involves complex matters and judgment is

required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities We are subject to

ongoing tax audits in various jurisdictions Tax authorities may disagree with our intercompany charges cross-

jurisdictional transfer pricing or other matters and assess additional taxes We regularly assess the likely

outcomes of these audits in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision However there can be no

assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits and the amounts ultimately paid upon

resolution of audits could be materially different from the amounts previously included in our income tax

expense and therefore could have material impact on our tax provision net income and cash flows

In addition our effective tax rate in the future could be adversely affected by changes to our operating

structure changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates changes in the valuation

of deferred tax assets and liabilities changes in tax laws and the discovery of new information in the course of

our tax return preparation process In particular the carrying value of deferred tax assets is dependent on our

ability to generate future taxable income In addition corporate tax reform framework proposals announced by
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the United States government in February 2012 could if adopted affect our tax rate Other tax proposals that

provide relief to businesses by retroactively reinstating certain tax benefits and credits have also been introduced

like the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 and could change our tax rate and impact our financial

condition

Our earnings may be adversely affected if our subsidiaries iGATE Computer and iGATE Global receive an

adverse determination resulting from pending tax review of their domestic or foreign operations

We face challenges from domestic and foreign tax authorities regarding the amount of current taxes due

These challenges include questions regarding the amount of deductions transfer pricing and the allocation of

income among various tax jurisdictions To the extent we are able to prevail in matters for which accruals have

been established or are required to pay amounts in excess of such accruals our effective tax rates in given

financial statement period may be materially affected Additionally we operate in several countries and our

failure to comply with the local tax regime may result in additional taxes penalties and enforcement actions To

the extent we do not comply with tax-related regulations our profitability will be adversely affected

Our net income could decrease if the government of India reduces or withdraws tax benefits and other

incentives it currently provides to us or otherwise increases our effective tax rate

Presently we benefit from the tax holidays given by the government of India for the export of IT services

from specially designated special economic zones SEZs in India As result of these incentives which

include 10 year tax holiday from Indian corporate income taxes for the operation of most of our Indian

facilities our operations have been subject to relatively low tax liabilities

Development centers operating in SEZs are entitled to certain income tax incentives which commence from

the date of start of operations of 100% of the export profits for period of five
years

50% of such profits for the

next five years and 50% of the profits for further period of five years subject to satisfaction of certain capital

investments requirements Our profitability would be adversely affected if we are not able to continue to benefit

from these tax incentives

Other tax benefits available for our Software Technology Parks STPs facilities in India expired on

March 31 2011 causing significant increases to our effective Indian tax rate

Further provisions of the Indian Income Tax Act 1961 are amended on an annual basis by enactment of the

Finance Act and may result in additional tax liability We may also be subject to changes in tax rates or liability

resulting from the actions of applicable income tax authorities in India or from Indian tax laws that may be

enacted in the future For example we may incur increased tax liability as result of determination by

applicable income tax authorities that the transfer price applied to transactions involving our subsidiaries and the

Company was not appropriate

Increases in our effective tax rate due to expired tax benefits changes in applicable tax laws or the actions

of applicable income tax or other regulatory authorities could materially reduce our profitability

Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control and we may not be able to generate

the cash required to service our debt

Our ability to make payments on and refinance our indebtedness and to fund our operations will depend on

our ability to generate cash in the future Our historical financial results have been and our future financial

results are expected to be subject to substantial fluctuations and will depend upon general economic conditions

and financial competitive legislative regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control If we are unable

to meet our debt service obligations or fund our other liquidity needs we may need to refinance all or portion

of our debt before maturity seek additional equity capital reduce or delay scheduled expansions and capital

expenditures or sell material assets or operations We cannot assure you that we will be able to pay our debt or

refinance it on commercially reasonable terms or at all or to fund our liquidity needs
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If for any reason we are unable to meet our debt service obligations we would be in default under the terms

of the agreements governing our outstanding debt If such default were to occur the lenders under each of the

Revolving Credit Facilities Term Loans and the Packing Credit Facility could elect to declare all amounts

outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facilities Term Loans and the Packing Credit Facility as applicable

immediately due and payable and such lenders would not be obligated to continue to advance funds under the

Revolving Credit Facilities Term Loans and the Packing Credit Facility as applicable If the amounts

outstanding are accelerated we cannot assure you that our assets will be sufficient to repay in full the money

owed to the banks or to our debt holders

The Indenture the Term Loans the Revolving Credit Facilities and the Packing Credit Facility contain

various covenants limiting the discretion of our management in operating our business and could prevent us

from capitalizing on business opportunities and taking some corporate actions

The Indenture the Term Loans the Revolving Credit Facilities and the Packing Credit Facility impose

significant operating and financial restrictions on us These restrictions limit or restrict among other things our

ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to

incur additional indebtedness

make restricted payments including paying dividends on redeeming repurchasing or retiring our

capital stock

make investments

create liens

sell assets

enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries ability to pay dividends make loans or transfer assets

to us

engage in transactions with affiliates and

consolidate merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets

breach of any of the covenants contained in our Term Loans Revolving Credit Facilities and the Packing

Credit Facility including our inability to comply with the financial covenants could result in an event of default

thereunder which would allow the lenders under the Term Loans Revolving Credit Facilities and the Packing

Credit Facility as applicable to declare all borrowings outstanding to be due and payable which would in turn

trigger an event of default under the Indenture and potentially our other indebtedness At maturity or in the

event of an acceleration of payment obligations we would likely be unable to pay our outstanding indebtedness

with our cash and cash equivalents then on hand We would therefore be required to seek alternative sources of

funding which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms terms as favorable as our current

agreements or at all or face bankruptcy If we are unable to refinance our indebtedness or find alternative means

of financing our operations we may be required to curtail our operations or take other actions that are

inconsistent with our current business practices or strategy

Failure to maintain our credit ratings could adversely affect our liquidity capital position borrowing costs

and access to capital markets

We depend on capital markets to fund our business and as source of liquidity Our borrowing costs and our

access to the debt capital markets depend significantly on our credit ratings These ratings are assigned by rating

agencies based on an evaluation of number of factors including our financial strength These rating agencies

may downgrade our ratings or make negative implications about our business at any time Credit ratings are also

important for our competition in certain markets and when seeking to engage in longer-term transactions

including over-the-counter derivatives reduction in our credit ratings could increase our borrowing costs and
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limit our access to the capital markets This in turn could reduce our earnings and adversely affect our liquidity

There can also be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our current credit ratings and any actual or

anticipated changes or downgrades in our credit ratings may further have negative impact on our liquidity

capital position and access to capital markets

Risks associated with the complexities of our differentiated business outcomes model may result in lower

growth reducing our revenue and profitability

We have built reputation and core differentiating attribute around our unique business outcomes-based

model In an intensely competitive marketplace we look to transform by deviating away from traditional billing

models like the existing time-and-material model used by majority of our competitors in favor of more

client-friendly business outcome model The business outcome model is non-linear model that diminishes

risk for client as they only pay for services actually used on per-transaction basis However in this outcomes-

based model greater proportion of risk is transferred to us in terms of vendor estimation of costs and resources

quality or rework required in project Our success in this model depends on how efficiently we facilitate

multidimensional business matrix which encompasses business goals IT operations processes and related costs

If we fail to leverage our understanding of diverse business challenges faced by global clients or fail to provide

optimal and holistic business solutions our growth might be hampered thereby reducing our revenue and

profitability

System security risks and cyber-attacks could disrupt our information technology services provided to

customers and any such disruption could reduce our expected revenue increase our expenses damage our

reputation and adversely affect our stock price

Security and availability of IT infrastructure is utmost concern for our business and securing all critical

information and infrastructure necessary for rendering services is also one of the top priorities of our customers

For this reason we have implemented an Information Security Management System in accordance with the

internationally recognized standard ISO/IEC 270012005 and maintain and monitor security controls

continuously to protect against any security breach or cyber-attack We have also deployed controls at all our

delivery centers in the United States and India which satisfy SSAE 16 SOC Type II reporting to the SEC

Additionally we have implemented Defense-in-Depth approach which is multi-faceted security approach

that implements both technical and non-technical layers of security to protect valuable resources We believe that

defensive countermeasures should be used to reinforce each other protecting information and resources while

allowing response
activities to be undertaken quickly and efficiently In this manner single security technique

or mechanism is not relied upon to protect valuable resources resulting in higher degree of security

Our delivery and data centers located in the United States Asia the EU and Asia-Pacific regions provide IT

and BPO services To rapidly respond to natural disasters or other business disruptions occurring in these

geographical areas we utilize various technological measures to diminish loss and disruption including

implementation of failsafe controls in the event data center is offline shifting services to other undamaged data

centers and utilizing backup lines in the event of telecommunication line failure

In addition to our existing insurance coverage we have purchased Security and Privacy Liability

Insurance First Party Crisis Management Insurance which also includes identity theft protection and

Technology Errors Omissions Insurance to protect us against losses resulting from such system security

risks and cyber-attacks

Nonetheless system security risks and cyber-attacks could breach the security and disrupt the availability of

our IT and BPO services provided to customers Any such breach or disruption could allow the misuse of our

information systems resulting in litigation and potential liability for us the loss of existing or potential clients

damage to our reputation and diminished brand value and could have material adverse effect on our financial

condition
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Our network and our deployed security controls could also be penetrated by skilled computer hacker or

intruder Furthermore hacker or intruder could compromise the confidentiality and integrity of our protected

information including personally identifiable information deploy malicious software or code like computer

viruses worms or Trojan horses etc may exploit any security vulnerabilities known or unknown of our

information system cause disruption in the availability of our information and services and attack our

information system through various other mediums

We also procure software or hardware products from third party vendors that provides manages and

monitors our services Such products may contain known or unfamiliar manufacturing design or other defects

which may allow security breach or cyber-attack if exploited by computer hacker or intruder or may be

capable of disrupting performance of our IT services and prevent us from providing services to our clients

In addition we manage store process transmit and have access to significant amounts of data and

information that may include our proprietary and confidential information and that of our clients This data may

include personal information sensitive personal information personally identifiable information or other critical

data and information of our employees contractors officials directors end customers of our clients or others

by which any individual may be identified or likely to be identified Our data security and privacy systems and

procedures meet applicable regulatory standards and undergo periodic compliance audits by independent third

parties and customers However if our compliance with these standards is inadequate we may be subject to

regulatory penalties and litigation resulting in potential liability for us and an adverse impact on our business

Despite adopting data security and privacy measures we are still susceptible to data security or privacy

breaches including accidental or deliberate loss and unauthorized disclosure or dissemination of such data or

information Any breach of such data or information may lead to identity theft impersonation deception fraud

misappropriation or other offenses in which such information may be used to cause harm to our business and

have material adverse effect on our financial condition business results of operations and cash flows

Our business could be adversely affected if we do not anticipate and respond to technology advances in our

industry and our clients industries

The IT and offshore outsourcing services industries are characterized by rapid technological change

evolving industry standards changing client preferences and new product introductions Our success will depend

in part on our ability to develop IT solutions that keep pace with industry developments We may not be

successful in addressing these developments on timely basis or at all if these developments are addressed we

will be successful in the marketplace In addition products or technologies developed by others may not render

our services noncompetitive or obsolete Our failure to address these developments could have material adverse

effect on our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows

significant number of organizations are attempting to migrate business applications to advanced

technologies As result our ability to remain competitive will be dependent on several factors including our

ability to develop train and hire employees with skills in advanced technologies breadth and depth of process

and technology expertise service quality knowledge of industry marketing and sales capabilities Our failure to

hire train and retain employees with such skills could have material adverse impact on our business Our

ability to remain competitive will also be dependent on our ability to design and implement in timely and cost-

effective manner effective transition strategies for clients moving to advanced architectures Our failure to

design and implement such transition strategies in timely and cost-effective manner could have material

adverse effect on our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Our business could be materially adversely affected if we do not or are unable to protect our intellectual

property or if our services are found to infringe upon or misappropriate the intellectual property of others

Our success depends in part upon certain methodologies and tools we use in designing developing and

implementing applications systems in providing our services We rely upon combination of nondisclosure and

other contractual arrangements and intellectual property laws to protect confidential information and intellectual
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property rights of ours and our third parties from whom we license intellectual property We enter into

confidentiality agreements with our employees and limit distribution of proprietary information The steps we

take in this regard may not be adequate to deter misappropriation of proprietary information and we may not be

able to detect unauthorized use of protect or enforce our intellectual property rights At the same time our

competitors may independently develop similar technology or duplicate our products or services Any significant

misappropriation infringement or devaluation of such rights could have material adverse effect upon our

business results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Litigation may be required to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope

of the proprietary rights of others Any such litigation could be time consuming and costly Although we believe

that our services do not infringe or misappropriate on the intellectual property rights of others and that we have

all rights necessary to utilize the intellectual property employed in our business defense against these claims

even if not meritorious could be expensive and divert our attention and resources from operating our company
successful claim of intellectual property infringement against us could require us to pay substantial damage

award develop non-infringing technology obtain license or cease selling the products or services that contain

the infringing technology Such events could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

Our clients proprietary rights may be misappropriated by our employees or subcontractors in violation of

applicable confidentiality agreements

We require our employees and subcontractors to enter into non-disclosure arrangements to limit access to

and distribution of our clients intellectual property and other confidential information as well as our own We

can give no assurance that the steps taken by us in this regard will be adequate to enforce our clients intellectual

property rights If our clients proprietary rights are misappropriated by our employees or our subcontractors or

their employees in violation of any applicable confidentiality agreements or otherwise our clients may consider

us liable for that act and seek damages and compensation from us

Our revenues are concentrated in limited number of clients in limited number of industries which are

primarily located in the United States and Europe and our revenues may be reduced if these clients

significantly decrease their IT spending

Our revenues are highly dependent on clients primarily located in North America as well as clients

concentrated in certain industries Economic slowdowns changes in U.S law and other restrictions or factors that

affect the economic health of these industries may affect our business In the year ended December 31 2012

approximately 80.3% of our revenue was derived from customers located in the United States and Canada We

have in the past derived and may in the future derive significant portion of our revenue from relatively

limited number of clients Our five largest clients represented approximately 37% 40% and 72% of revenues for

the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Consequently if our top clients reduce or

postpone their IT spending significantly this may lower the demand for our services and negatively affect our

revenues and profitability Further any significant decrease in the growth of the financial services or other

industry segments on which we focus may reduce the demand for our services and negatively affect our

revenues profitability and cash flows

Continued pricing pressures may reduce our revenues

We market our service offerings to large and medium-sized organizations Generally the pricing for the

projects depends on the type
of contract

Time and Material Contracts Contract payments are based on the number of consultant hours

worked on the project

Annual Maintenance Contracts Contracts with no stated deliverables and having designated

workforce the pricing is based on fixed periodic payments
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Fixed Price Contracts Contracts based upon deliverables and/or achieving of project milestones

pricing is based on fixed price

Some process outsourcing contracts provide pricing per
transaction

Customers typically have the right to cancel contracts with minimal notice Contracts with deliverables or

project milestones may provide for certain payments if the deliverables or project milestones are not met within

contract timelines

The intense competition and the changes in the general economic and business conditions can put pressure

on us to change our prices If our competitors offer deep discounts on certain services or provide services that the

marketplace considers more valuable we may need to lower prices or offer other favorable terms in order to

compete successfully Any such changes may reduce margins and could adversely affect results of operations

financial condition and cash flows

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricing policies could cause revenues to decline or be delayed as

our sales force implements and our customers adjust to the new pricing policies Some of our competitors may

bundle software products and services for promotional purposes or as long-term pricing strategy or provide

guarantees of prices and product implementations These practices could over time significantly constrain the

prices that we can charge for certain services If we do not adapt our pricing models to reflect changes in

customer use of our services or changes in customer demand our revenues and cash flows could decrease

Early or unanticipated termination of client proj ects may result in decrease in profitability if we have

higher number of unassigned IT professionals

Most of our projects are terminable by the client without payment of termination fee An unanticipated

termination of major project could result in the loss of substantial anticipated revenues and could require us to

maintain or terminate significant number of unassigned IT professionals resulting in higher number of

unassigned IT professionals and/or significant termination expenses The loss of
any significant client or project

could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Our client con tracts including those with our two largest customers typically can be terminated without cause

and with little or no notice or penalty which could negatively impact our revenues and profitability

Our clients typically retain us through non-exclusive master service agreements MSA Most of our

client project contracts including those that are on fixed-price and fixed-price service level agreement SLA
basis can be terminated with or without cause with zero to ninety days notice and without termination-related

penalties Our MSAs typically do not include
any

commitment by our clients to give us specific volume of

business or future work Additionally certain of our MSAs do not require the client to make payments for any

services or work reasonably deemed unacceptable to the client Our business is dependent on the decisions and

actions of our clients many of which are outside our control which might result in the termination of project or

the loss of client and we could face liabilities as result of such termination Our clients may demand price

reductions change their outsourcing strategy by limiting the number of suppliers they use moving more work in-

house or to our competitors or replacing their existing software with packaged software supported by licensors

Any of these decisions or actions could adversely affect our revenues and profitability

We may face difficulties in providing services within our industry and technology practices offering new and

existing service lines and managing increasingly large and complex projects which could lead to clients

discontinuing their work with us

We have been expanding the nature and scope of our engagements by extending the breadth of our practices

and the services we offer The success of our new practices and service offerings is dependent in part upon

demand for such services by our existing and new clients and our ability to meet this demand in cost

competitive and effective manner We cannot be certain that we will be able to attract existing and new clients

for such new services or effectively meet our clients needs
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We intend for the increased breadth of our practices and service offerings to result in larger and more

complex projects for our clients To achieve this result we need to establish closer relationships with our clients

and develop thorough understanding of their operations Our ability to establish such relationships will depend

on the proficiency of our management personnel software professionals and if necessary subcontractors as well

as other competitive factors such as our performance and delivery capability Larger and more complex projects

may involve multiple engagements or stages and there is risk that client may choose not to retain us for

additional stages or may cancel or delay additional planned engagements Such cancellations or delays make it

difficult to plan for project resource requirements and failure to plan appropriately may have an adverse impact

on our business results of operations and financial condition

ifwe are unable to collect our receivables from or bill our unbilled services to our clients our results of

operations and cash flows could be adversely affected

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the receivables that

are due to us for work performed We evaluate the financial condition of our clients and usually bill and collect

on relatively short cycles We maintain allowances against receivables and unbilled services Actual losses on

client balances could differ from those that we currently anticipate and as result we might need to adjust our

allowances There is no guarantee that we will accurately assess the creditworthiness of our clients

Macroeconomic conditions such as the continued euro-zone crisis and related downturn in the global financial

system could also result in financial difficulties including limited access to the credit markets insolvency or

bankruptcy for our clients and as result could cause clients to delay payments to us request modifications to

their payment arrangements that could increase our receivables balance or default on their payment obligations

to us Timely collection of client balances also depends on our ability to complete our contractual commitments

and bill and collect our contracted revenues If we are unable to meet our contractual requirements we might

experience delays in collection of or be unable to collect our client balances and if this occurs our results of

operations and cash flows could be adversely affected In addition if we experience an increase in the time to bill

and collect for our services our cash flows could be adversely affected

International immigration and work permit laws may adversely affect our ability to deploy our workforce and

provide services in accordance with our global delivery model

We have international operations in twenty five countries and recruit professionals on global basis and

therefore must comply with the immigration and work permit/visa laws and regulations of the countries in which

we operate or plan to operate As of January 31 2013 4936 IT professionals representing approximately 17.9%

of our worldwide workforce are providing services under work permits/visas Historically we have done much of

our recruiting outside of the countries where the client work is located Accordingly any perception among our

IT professionals whether or not well founded that our ability to assist them in obtaining temporary work visas

and permanent residency status has been diminished could lead to significant employee attrition Our inability to

obtain sufficient work permits/visas on timely basis due to the impact of these regulations including any

changes to immigration and work permit/visa regulations in particular jurisdictions could have material

adverse effect on our business in effectively utilizing our global delivery model therefore impacting our results

of operations financial condition and cash flows

An inability to recruit and retain IT professionals will adversely affect our ability to deliver our services

Our industry relies on large numbers of skilled IT employees and our success depends upon our ability to

attract develop motivate and retain sufficient number of skilled IT professionals and project managers who

possess the technical skills and experience necessary to deliver our services Qualified IT professionals are in

demand worldwide and are likely to remain limited resource for the foreseeable future Our failure to attract or

retain qualified IT professionals in sufficient numbers may have material adverse effect on our business results

of operations financial condition and cash flows
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Wage increases in India and other countries where our competitive advantage is related to lower wage costs

may adversely affect our cost structure

We have significant offshore presence in India where majority of our technical professionals are located

In the past the Indian economy has experienced many of the problems confronting the economies of developing

countries including high inflation and varying gross domestic product growth Salaries and other related benefits

constitute major portion of our total operating costs Most of our employees are based in India where our wage

costs have historically been significantly lower than wage costs in the United States and Europe for comparably

skilled professionals and this has been one of our competitive advantages

However wage increases in India or other countries where we have our operations may prevent us from

sustaining this competitive advantage We may need to increase the levels of our employee compensation more

rapidly than in the past to retain talent Unless we are able to continue to increase the efficiency and productivity

of our employees wage increases in the long term may reduce our profit margins which would adversely affect

our results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Clients may seek to reduce their dependence on India for outsourced IT services or take advantage of the

services provided in countries with labor costs similar to or lower than India

Clients which presently outsource significant proportion of their IT services requirements to vendors in

India may for various reasons including in response to rising labor costs in India and to diversify geographic

risk seek to reduce their dependence on one country We expect that future competition will increasingly include

firms with operations in other countries especially those countries with labor costs similar to or lower than India

such as China the Philippines and countries in Eastern Europe Since wage costs in our industry in India are

increasing our ability to compete effectively will become increasingly dependent on our reputation the quality

of our services and our expertise in specific industries If labor costs in India rise at rate which is significantly

greater than labor costs in other countries our reliance on the labor in India may reduce our profit margins and

adversely affect our ability to compete which would in turn have negative impact on our results of operations

Risks associated with our preferred vendor contracts may result in lower pricing of our services reducing our

revenue and profitability

We are party to several preferred vendor contracts and we are seeking additional similar contracts in order

to obtain new or additional business from large or medium-sized clients Clients enter into these contracts to

reduce the number of vendors and obtain better pricing in return for potential increase in the volume of

business to the preferred vendor While these contracts are expected to generate higher volumes they generally

result in lower margins Although we attempt to lower costs to maintain margins we may not be able to sustain

margins on such contracts In addition the failure to be designated as preferred vendor or the loss of such status

may preclude us from providing services to existing or potential clients except as subcontractor which could

have material adverse effect on our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows

The Company is exposed to counterparty default risks relating to the hedges it enters into which could result

in significant losses and harm to our business results of operation and financial condition

We have entered into arrangements with financial institutions that include cash and investment deposits

foreign currency option contracts and forward contracts As result we are subject to the risk that the

counterparty to one or more of these arrangements will default either voluntarily or involuntarily on its

performance under the terms of the arrangement In times of market distress we are subject to the risk that our

counterparties could not make good on transaction but also to the risk that our counterparties counterparties

might fail to live up to the terms of transaction increasing risk to our counterparties and thereby transmitting it

back to us This type of cross-firm connectivity has the ability to greatly magnify the systemic shocks of

significant default by any single firm In such circumstances we may be unable to take action to cover our

exposure either because we lack the contractual ability or because market conditions make it difficult to take

effective action
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If one of our counterparties becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy our ability eventually to recover any

losses suffered as result of that counterpartys default may be limited by the liquidity of the counterparty or the

applicable legal regime governing the bankruptcy proceeding In the event of such default we could incur

significant losses which could harm our business results of operations and financial condition To mitigate the

counterparty credit risk we have policy of only entering into contracts with carefully selected major financial

institutions based upon their credit ratings and other factors Our established policies and procedures for

mitigating credit risk on principal transactions and short-term investments include our board and management

reviewing and establishing limits for credit exposure and continually assessing the creditworthiness of

counterparties We also have Master ISDA agreements with some counterparties which include netting payments

to further mitigate our credit exposure Arrangements in the same currency and of the same type permit us to net

amounts due from us to the counterparty with amounts due to us from the same counterparty

Founders have significant influence over the Company

Sunil Wadhwani and Ashok Trivedi co-chairmen and the co-founders of iGATE beneficially own

approximately 37.8% of our outstanding common stock as of January 31 2013 and therefore have significant

influence in respect of matters requiring shareholder approval

The loss of the services of key members of our Senior Leadership Team would have an adverse impact on our

business

Our success is highly dependent on the efforts and abilities of our Chief Executive Officer Phaneesh

Murthy and our senior management team These personnel possess business and technical capabilities that are

difficult to replace Although each executive has entered into an employment agreement containing non-

competition non-disclosure and non-solicitation covenants these contracts do not guarantee that they will

continue their employment with us or that such covenants will be enforceable If we lose the service of any of the

key executives we may not be able to effectively manage our current operations and meet our ongoing and future

business challenges and this may have material adverse effect on our business results of operations financial

condition and cash flows

The shares of Series Preferred Stock are senior obligations rank prior to our common stock with respect to

dividends distributions and payments upon liquidation and have other terms such as put right and

mandatory conversion date that could negatively impact the value of shares of our common stock

We have issued $330 million of Series Preferred Stock to Viscaria Limited The rights of the holders of

our Series Preferred Stock with respect to dividends distributions and payments upon liquidation rank senior

to similar obligations to our common stock holders Upon our liquidation or upon certain changes of control the

holders of our Series Preferred Stock are entitled to receive prior and in preference to any distribution to the

holders of any other class of our equity securities an amount equal to the greater of the outstanding principal plus

all accrued and unpaid dividends on such Series Preferred Stock which cumulative dividends accrue at the rate

of 8.00% per annum and compound quarterly and the amount such holders would have received if such Series

Preferred Stock had been converted into common stock

The terms of the Series Preferred Stock provide rights to their holders that could negatively impact our

Company Subject to receiving necessary shareholder approvals if any under the rules of the NASDAQ shares

of our Series Preferred Stock may be converted at any
time at the option of the holder at an initial conversion

price of $20.30 per share which conversion price is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events

The Series Preferred Stock holders have put right that provides the holder the right to require us to purchase

its shares of Series Preferred Stock for an amount equal to the outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid

dividends thereon at the date that is six years after the latest applicable issuance date thereof subject to

extension in limited circumstances This put right could expose us to liquidity risk if we do not have sufficient

cash resources at hand or are not able to find financing on sufficiently attractive terms to comply with our

obligations to repurchase the Series Preferred Stock upon exercise of such put right
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Further so long as Viscaria Limited and certain other holders affiliated with Viscaria Limited own in the

aggregate at least one half of Viscaria Limiteds initial equity investment in iGATE no dividends on our

common stock or any other equity securities junior in right to the Series Preferred Stock may be paid without

the consent of majority of such holders To the extent any dividend distributions or other payments are made

on our common stock the holders of the Series Preferred Stock shall have the right to participate on an as

converted basis in any such dividends distributions or other payments The existence of such senior security

could have an adverse effect on the value of our common stock

Viscaria Limited an affiliate of Apax Partners LLP and Apax Partners L.P is significant shareholder in

our Company and may have conflicts of interest with us or you in the future

In connection with the iGATE Computer Acquisition we entered into the Viscaria Purchase Agreement

with Viscaria Limited company backed by funds advised by Apax Partners LLP and Apax Partners L.P

pursuant to which we have sold to Viscaria Limited 330000 shares of Series Preferred Stock As result of

this ownership Viscaria Limited among other things has elected one of the directors to our Board of Directors

and can increase it to two directors in the event that the size of our Board of Directors increases to 10 or more
and to veto certain actions including rejecting proposed mergers or sales of all or substantially all of our assets

In addition as of December 31 2012 issued and outstanding Series Preferred Stock would represent

approximately 24.7% of the current voting power at meeting of our stockholders

The interests of Viscaria Limited and its affiliates may differ from our other stockholders in material

respects For example Viscaria Limited may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions divestitures financings

including financings that are secured and senior to the notes or other transactions that in their judgment could

enhance their equity investments even though such transactions might involve risks to you Viscaria Limited or

its affiliates or advisors are in the business of making or advising on investments in companies and may from

time to time in the future acquire interests in or provide advice to businesses that directly or indirectly compete

with certain portions of our business or are suppliers or customers of ours They may also pursue acquisition

opportunities that may be complementary to our business and as result those acquisition opportunities may not

be available to us You should consider that the interests of these holders may differ from yours in material

respects

Our international operations subject us to increased exposure to foreign currency fluctuations

We have international operations in twenty five countries and as we expand our international operations

more of our customers may pay us in foreign currencies Transactions in currencies other than U.S Dollars

USD subject us to fluctuations in currency exchange rates Accordingly changes in exchange rates between

the USD and other currencies could have material adverse effect on our revenues and net income which may in

turn have negative impact on our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows The

exchange rate between the USD and other currencies has changed substantially in recent years
and may fluctuate

in the future We expect that majority of our revenues will continue to be generated in USD for the foreseeable

future and that significant portion of our expenses including personnel costs as well as capital and operating

expenditures will continue to be denominated in other currencies such as INR Canadian Dollars CAD
Mexican Pesos Australian Dollars British Pounds GBP Euro and Japanese Yen JPY Hedging

strategies such as forward contracts and options related to transaction exposures that we have implemented or

may implement to mitigate this risk may not reduce or completely offset our exposure to foreign exchange

fluctuations Consequently our results of operations may be adversely affected if other currencies appreciate

against the USD and an effective foreign exchange hedging program is not in place

Any disruption in the supply of power IT infrastructure and telecommunications lines to our facilities could

disrupt our business process or subject us to additional costs

Any disruption in basic infrastructure including the supply of power could negatively impact our ability to

provide timely or adequate services to our clients We rely on number of telecommunications service and other
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infrastructure providers to maintain communications between our various facilities and clients in India the

United States and elsewhere Telecommunications networks are subject to failures and periods of service

disruption which can adversely affect our ability to maintain active voice and data communications among our

facilities and with our clients Such disruptions may cause harm to our clients business We do not maintain

business interruption insurance and may not be covered for any claims or damages if the supply of power IT

infrastructure or telecommunications lines is disrupted This could disrupt our business process or subject us to

additional costs materially adversely affecting our business results of operations financial condition and cash

flows

Our quarterly operating results are subject to significant variations

Our revenues and operating results are subject to significant variations from quarter to quarter depending on

number of factors including the timing and number of client projects commenced and completed during the

quarter the number of working days in quarter employee hiring attrition and utilization rates and the mix of

time-and-material projects versus fixed price deliverable projects and maintenance projects during the quarter

Additionally periodically our cost increases due to both the hiring of new employees and strategic investments in

infrastructure in anticipation of future opportunities for revenue growth We recognize revenues on time-and-

material projects as the services are performed Revenue related to fixed-price contracts that provide for complex

information technology application development services are recognized as the services are performed using the

percentage of completion method with input cost to cost method while contracts that do not provide for

complex information technology development services are recognized as the services are performed using

proportional performance basis with input efforts expended method Contracts with no stated deliverables with

designated workforce assigned recognize revenues on straight-line basis over the life of the contract

Although fixed price deliverable projects have not contributed significantly to revenues and profitability to date

operating results may be adversely affected in the future by cost overruns on fixed price deliverable projects

Because high percentage of our expenses are relatively fixed variations in revenues may cause significant

variations in our operating results

We may be required to record significant charge to earnings if our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets

become impaired

We are required under U.S generally accepted accounting principles U.S GAAP to review our

amortizable intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value

may not be recoverable Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually Factors that may be

considered change in circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our amortizable intangible assets may

not be recoverable include decline in stock price and market capitalization slower growth rates in our industry

or other materially adverse events We may be required to record significant charge to earnings in our financial

statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is

determined

This may adversely impact our results of operations As of December 31 2012 our goodwill and

amortizable intangible assets were $637.6 million which represented 34% of total assets We refer you to

Footnote 1.11 in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for the results of our annual impairment evaluation

We make estimates and assumptions in connection with the preparation of our financial statements and any

changes to those estimates and assumptions could adversely affect our results of operations

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with U.S GAAP we use

certain estimates and assumptions that are based on managements best knowledge of current events and other

factors Our most critical estimates and judgments include among other things assumptions about property and

equipment taxes share-based compensation employee benefits other contingencies and commitments While
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we believe that these estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements are prudent and reasonable

under circumstances they are subject to uncertainties some of which are beyond our control If these estimates

that we make and the assumptions on which we rely in preparing our financial statements prove inaccurate our

actual results may differ from our estimates which could adversely affect our results of operations

New and changing corporate governance and public disclosure requirements add uncertainty to our

compliance policies and increase our costs of compliance

Changing laws regulations and standards relating to accounting corporate governance and public

disclosure including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 other SEC regulations and the NASDAQ Global Select

Market rules are creating uncertainty for companies like ours These laws regulations and standards may lack

specificity and are subject to varying interpretations Their application in practice may evolve over time as new

guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding

compliance matters and higher costs of compliance as result of ongoing revisions to such corporate governance

standards We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure and

our efforts to comply with evolving laws regulations and standards in this regard have resulted in and are likely

to continue to result in increased compliance expenses and diversion of management time and attention from

revenue-generating activities to compliance activities In addition the laws regulations and standards regarding

corporate governance may make it more difficult for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance Further

our board members chief executive officer and chief financial officer could face an increased risk of personal

liability in connection with their performance of duties As result we may face difficulties attracting and

retaining qualified board members and executive officers which could harm our business If we fail to comply

with new or changed laws regulations or standards of corporate governance our business and reputation may be

harmed

We may not be successful at identifying acquiring or integrating other businesses

We expect to continue pursuing strategic and targeted acquisitions intended to enhance or add to our offerings

of services and solutions or enable us to expand in certain geographic and other markets Depending on the

opportunities available we may increase the amount of investment in such acquisitions We may not successfully

identify suitable acquisition candidates We also might not succeed in completing targeted transactions or achieve

desired results of operations Furthermore we face risks in successfully integrating any businesses we might

acquire Ongoing business may be disrupted and our managements attention may be diverted by acquisition

transition or integration activities In addition we might need to dedicate additional management and other

resources and our organizational structure could make it difficult for us to efficiently integrate acquired businesses

into our ongoing operations and assimilate and retain employees of those businesses into our culture and operations

We may have difficulties as result of entering into new markets where we have limited or no direct prior

experience or where competitors may have stronger market positions We might fail to realize the expected benefits

or strategic objectives of any acquisition we undertake We might not achieve our expected return on investment or

may lose money We may be adversely impacted by liabilities that we assume from an acquired company including

from terminated employees current or former clients or other third parties and may fail to identify or assess the

magnitude of certain liabilities shortcomings or other circumstances prior to acquiring company which could

result in unexpected litigation or regulatory exposure unfavorable accounting treatment unexpected increases in

taxes or other adverse effects on our business If we are unable to complete the number and kind of acquisitions for

which we plan or if we are inefficient or unsuccessful at integrating any acquired businesses into our operations we

may not be able to achieve our planned rates of growth or improve our market share profitability or competitive

position in specific markets or services

Industry consolidation may cause us to lose key relationships and intensify competition

Acquisitions or other consolidating transactions within our industry could harm us in number of ways

including the loss of customers if competitors consolidate with our current or potential customers our current

competitors become stronger or new competitors emerge from consolidations Any of these events could put us
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at competitive disadvantage which could cause us to lose customers revenue and market share If one of our

current clients merges or consolidates with company that relies on another provider for its consulting systems

integration and technology or outsourcing services we may lose work from that client or lose the opportunity to

gain additional work The increased market power of larger companies could also increase pricing and

competitive pressures on us Any of these possible results of industry consolidation could force us to expend

greater resources to meet new or additional competitive threats which could also adversely affect our results of

operations financial condition and cash flows

If our infrastructure investments do not coincide with increased growth in our business our profitability may

be adversely affected

Our business model includes developing and operating global development centers in order to support our

global delivery model We have global development centers located in Australia Mexico Ireland the U.S

China and India We are in the process of expanding our global development center in Bangalore Mumbai Pune

and Hyderabad all located in India We are developing these facilities in expectation of increased growth in our

business If our business does not grow as expected we may not be able to benefit from our investment in this

and other facilities thereby incurring fixed cost which will likely reduce our profitability

If we do not effectively manage our anticipated expansion growth by continuing to implement systems

enhancements and other improvements our ability to deliver quality services may be adversely affected

We had experienced significant growth in our operations in the last five years except in 2009 where our

revenues had dropped due to the economic downturn The situation has improved now as compared to 2009 due in

part to our acquisition of iGATE Computer with sequential quarter on quarter revenue growth The global economy

is showing signs of recovery however there is no guarantee that the current growth will continue This uncertainty

places significant demands on our management and our operational and financial infrastructure If we do not

effectively manage our growth the quality of our services may suffer thereby negatively affecting our brand and

operating results Our anticipated expansion and growth in international markets heightens these risks as result of

the particular challenges of supporting rapidly growing business in an environment of multiple languages

cultures customs legal systems alternative dispute systems regulatory systems and commercial infrastructures To

effectively manage this growth we will need to continue to improve our operational financial and management

controls and our reporting systems and procedures These systems enhancements and improvements will require

significant capital expenditures and management resources Failure to implement these improvements could impact

our ability to manage our growth financial condition results of operations and cash flow

If our Company or its subsidiaries fail to maintain and enhance the brands and the competitive advantages

they afford us demand for our services may be adversely affected

The brand identity that we have developed has contributed to the success of our business Maintaining and

enhancing the Company brands is critical to expanding our customer base and other strategic partners We

believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase due to the relatively low barriers to entry in the IT

and IT-enabled services market Maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend largely on our ability to be

technology pioneer and continue to provide high-quality services which we may not do successfully If we fail to

maintain and enhance our Company brands or if we incur excessive expenses
in this effort our business results

of operations financial condition and cash flows will be materially and adversely affected

The markets in which we operate are subject to the risk of earthquakes floods tsunamis and other natural

and manmade disasters

Some of the regions that we operate in are prone to earthquakes floods tsunamis and other natural and

manmade disasters In the event that any of our business centers are affected by any such disasters we may

sustain damage to our operations and properties suffer significant financial losses and be unable to complete our
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client engagements in timely manner if at all Further in the event of natural disaster we may also incur

costs in redeploying personnel and property For instance in response to Hurricane Sandy in the U.S in October

2012 we set up team of employees dedicated to regularly communicating with our major customers and we

activated business continuity processes wherever required by keeping our clients data secure through our

disaster recovery centers located outside the affected areas In addition if there is major earthquake flood or

other natural disaster in any of the locations in which our significant customers are located we face the risk that

our customers may incur losses or sustained business interruption which may materially impair their ability to

continue their purchase of products or services from us major earthquake flood or other natural disaster in the

markets in which we operate could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows

Risks posed by climate change may materially increase our compliance costs and adversely impact our

profitability

Climate change vulnerability is posing new threats and opportunities in the economy Climate change and

measures adopted to address it can affect us our clients and suppliers in many ways depending on the nature and

location of the business near-term capital expenditure needs regulatory environments and strategic plans

Generally climate risks and opportunities for companies fall into four categories

Physical risk from climate change

Regulatory risks and opportunities related to existing or proposed green house gas GHG emission

limits

Indirect regulatory risks and opportunities related to products or services from high emitting

companies

Litigation risks for emitters of green house gas

Unmitigated climate change could have severe physical impacts on companies with exposed assets or

business operations including iGATE Major environmental risks and liabilities can significantly impact future

earnings

iGATE is committed to establish itself as climate responsible organization which conducts its business in

sustainable fashion so as to optimize resources and energy utilization We ultimately wish to achieve carbon

neutrality and position ourselves on low carbon growth path As the first step of preparing our action plan for

climate change mitigation we have undertaken carbon footprint estimation study that determines the GHG

inventory covering all of our facilities In 2008 we began estimating our carbon footprint and GHG emissions

For 2008 our overall GHG inventory stood at 28434 tCO2 and the GHG emission intensity was 4.23 tCO2/

employee For the period of January 2011 to June 2012 our estimated carbon footprint stands at 117417 tCO2

and carbon intensity stands at 3.29 tCO2/ employee This represents 22% decrease and may be attributable to

the various GHG emission mitigations practices and energy efficiency improvement programs we adopted

To the extent we are unable to comply with applicable regulations related to climate change and such

failure to comply results in material increases in compliance costs or litigation expenses those costs or expenses

could have an adverse effect on our profitability If our clients are adversely affected by climate change or related

compliance costs this may reduce their spending and demand for our services leading to decrease in revenue

In addition to emissions and climate change risks posed directly to iGATE we also have clients in varied

industries such as financial services insurance banking manufacturing retail media and entertainment and

healthcare among others who may be significantly affected by climate change which could result in greater

physical risk to and impact on their operations This may lead to an overall reduction of demand for our services

and loss of business from such clients which would impact our business results of operations financial

condition and cash flows
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Information regarding the principal properties owned and leased by the Company and its subsidiaries as of

December 31 2012 is set forth below

Location

Fremont California

Bangalore India

Chennai India

Chennai India

Hyderabad India

Noida India

Noida India

Mumbai India

Mumbai India

Pune India

Pune India

Gandhinagar India

Ballarat Australia

Suzhou China

Ireland

Guadalajara Mexico

Queretaro Mexico

U.S.A

Bangalore India

Principal Use

Corporate headquarters management administration

human resources sales and marketing

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Offshore development center

Development center

Training center

We currently have capacity for approximately 28233 professionals at these facilities As of December 31

2012 we were utilizing approximately 83% of our existing office space for our operations

In addition to the properties listed above the Company and its subsidiaries lease sales offices in many IT

services markets in the United States and throughout the world These locations allow the Company to respond

quickly to the needs of our clients and to recruit qualified IT professionals in these markets

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of our business we are involved in number of lawsuits and administrative

proceedings While uncertainties are inherent in the final outcome of these matters we believe after consultation

with legal counsel that the disposition of these proceedings should not have material adverse effect on our

financial position results of operations or cash flows

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable

Approximate

Type Square Footage

Lease 12069

Own
Own

Lease

Lease

Own
Lease

Own

Lease

Own

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

966000

230000

119796

227060

355000

79500

564684

221774

20000

295750

82900

3786

22144

2174

10176

522

98547

55000
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the ticker symbol IGTE The

following table sets forth for the periods indicated the range of high and low closing sale prices for iGATEs

common stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market

High Low

2012

First Quarter $18.65 $15.63

Second Quarter 19.97 15.65

Third Quarter 18.88 14.96

Fourth Quarter $19.39 $14.67

2011

First Quarter $20.38 $14.70

Second Quarter 19.58 15.03

Third Quarter 17.39 9.32

Fourth Quarter $16.78 $10.71

On January 31 2013 we had 102 registered holders of record of our common stock We currently have no

program regarding the repurchase of our common stock

Dividends

Although there was 81.1% increase in net income in fiscal year 2010 as compared to fiscal year 2009 on

January 19 2011 the Board of Directors decided to retain the 2010 profits to fund the iGATE Computer

Acquisition and therefore did not declare dividend

Further so long as Viscaria Limited remains shareholder of iGATE Series Preferred Stock the issuance

of future dividends except cash dividends payable to holders of the Companys stock of up to 25% of the net

income of the Company will require the consent of majority of the investor holders In the event the Company
declares or pays any dividend upon the Companys common stock in cash securities or other property other

than dividend payable solely in shares of common stock the Company is required to declare and pay to the

holders of the Series Preferred Stock at the same time the dividends which would have been declared and paid

with respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion had all of the Series Preferred Stock been

immediately converted The terms of our Senior Notes and Term Loans also contain restrictions on our ability to

declare dividends While the Board of Directors may have the ability to declare dividends subject to certain

restrictions it is likely that cash from operations will be used for working capital and to service debt over the

next few years

For more information on the Series Preferred Stock and the Senior Notes please refer to Note Series

Preferred Stock and Note Senior Notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in

this Form 10-K
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended December 31

2012 20111 2010 2009 2008

in thousands except per share data

Income Statement Data

Revenues $1073930 779646 $280597 $193099 $218798

Gross margin 424120 296142 112691 75406 82357

Income from operations 206267 105910 53008 32391 27682

Other expense income net 75359 21638 4686 3231 2661

Income from continuing operations before income

taxes 130908 84272 57694 29160 30345

Income tax provision 30599 24218 5939 585 675

Income from continuing operations 100309 60054 51755 28575 29670

Income from discontinued operations net of

income taxes2 1605

Net Income 100309 60054 51755 28575 31275

Less Net income attributable to the

noncontrolling interest 4476 8586 371

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation 95833 51468 51755 28575 30904

Accretion to preferred stock 404 302

Preferred dividend 29047 22147

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation

common shareholders 66382 29019 51755 28575 30904

Net earnings per common share Basic

Earnings from continuing operations per share

attributable to iGATE 0.87 0.39 0.92 0.52 0.54

Earnings from discontinued operations per share

attributable to iGATE 0.03

Net earnings Basic attributable to iGATE 0.87 0.39 0.92 0.52 0.57

Net earnings per common share Diluted

Earnings from continuing operations per share

attributable to iGATE 0.85 0.38 0.90 0.51 0.53

Earnings from discontinued operations per share

attributable to iGATE 0.03

Net earnings Diluted attributable to iGATE 0.85 0.38 0.90 0.51 0.56

Weighted average common shares basic 57228 56740 56055 55114 54608

Weighted average common shares diluted 58821 57943 57394 55951 55451

Cash dividends declared per share 0.26 0.11

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 95155 75440 67924 29565 30878

Short-term investments 510816 354528 71915 67192 34601

Working capital3 611818 442399 147678 104112 74497

Total assets 1876079 1714849 305043 228160 189893

Long-term obligations 3265 4610 1251 1035 4016

Senior notes 770000 770000

Term Loans 263500

Redeemable Non controlling interest 32422

Non controlling interest 177183

iGATE shareholders equity 67503 76996 $248056 $191318 $146072
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On May 12 2011 the Company acquired iGATE Computer and the selected financial information for the

year 2011 includes iGATE Computer results for the period from May 16 2011 through December 31 2011

On September 2008 the Board of Directors authorized management to utilize tax-free separation for the

divestiture of iGATE Professional Services iPS and declared stock dividend consisting of share of

Mastech for each 15 shares of iGATE On September 30 2008 we completed the spin-off of Mastech On

July 31 2008 we completed the sale of iGATE Clinical Research International ICRI
Working capital represents current assets less current liabilities

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K including this Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and should

also be read in conjunction with the disclosures and information contained in Disclosure Regarding Forward-

Looking Statements and Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Our future results are subject to

the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933 the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 the Exchange Act All statements other than statements of histori cal facts are statements that could

be deemed forward-looking statements These statements are based on current expectations estimates forecasts

and projections about the industries in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management

Words such as expects anticipates targets goals projects intends plans believes

seeks estimates continues endeavors strives may variations of such words and similar

expressions are intended to identfy such forwa rd-looking statements In addition any statements that refer to

projections of ourfuture financial performance our anticipated growth and trends in our businesses and other

characterizations offuture events or circumstances are forward-looking statements Readers are cautioned that

these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks uncertainties and assumptions

that are difficult to predict including those identified under Part Item IA Risk Factors and elsewhere

herein Therefore actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-

looking statements We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any

reason We use the terms iGATE we the Company our and us in this report to refer to iGATE

Corporation and its subsidiaries All references to years unless otherwise noted refer to our fiscal year which

ends as of December 31 For example reference to fiscal 2012 means the 12-month period that ended as of

December 31 2012 All references to quarters unless otherwise noted refer to the quarters of our fiscal year

We use the term in local currency so that certain financial results may be viewed without the impact of

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations the reby facilitating period-to-period comparisons of business

performance Financial results in local currency are calculated by restating current period activity into U.S

dollars using the comparable prior year periods foreign currency exchange rates This approach is used for all

results where the functional currency is not the U.S dollar

Introduction

The following Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

MDA is intended to help understand the Company our operations and our present business environment

MDA is provided as supplement to and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial

statements and the accompanying notes thereto contained in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary

Data of this report This overview summarizes the MDA which includes the following sections

Our Business general overview of our business and industry background our strategic objectives

and our core capabilities

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates discussion of accounting policies that require critical

judgments and estimates
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Operations Review an analysis of our Companys consolidated results of operations for the three

years presented in our consolidated financial statements

Liquidity and Capital Resources an analysis of cash flows aggregate contractual obligations

foreign exchange financial position and the impact of inflation and changing prices

Our Business

Overview

iGATE is leading provider of IT and IT-enabled operations offshore outsourcing solutions services to

large and medium-size organizations We provide end-to-end business solutions that leverage technology thus

enabling our clients to enhance business performance We are fully integrated iTOPS enterprise with global

services model We enable clients to optimize their business through combination of process investment

strategies technology leverage and business process outsourcing and provisioning

From time to time we have pursued strategic and targeted acquisitions intended to enhance and add to our

offerings of services and solutions or enable us to expand in certain geographic and other markets On May 12

2011 we completed our largest acquisition to date and acquired majority stake in iGATE Computer The

iGATE Computer Acquisition was valued at $1.24 billion iGATE Computer provided multiple service offerings

to its clients across various industries including banking and insurance manufacturing retail and distribution

life sciences product engineering communications media and entertainment and utilities These service

offerings include application development and maintenance enterprise software and systems integration services

business and technology consulting product engineering services infrastructure management services customer

interaction services BPO quality assurance and engineering services The iGATE Computer Acquisition enabled

us to enhance our offerings of services and solutions and facilitated the expansion of our geographic and industry

penetration

Our strong presence in banking and financial services combined with iGATE Computers strength in

verticals like manufacturing product engineering and insurance helped us create new go-to-market position

Key synergies from the iGATE Computer Acquisition included increased access to global customers scale

leadership strength and engineering depth and greater opportunities to seek our larger transactions across

additional business verticals improve efficiencies in operations and delivery services and enhance economies of

scale from consolidation of shared services We believe that our strategy of global delivery model combined

with the iGATE Computer Acquisition position us well to provide greater breadth of services expertise and

solutions in addressing market needs and opportunities

Following the iGATE Computer Acquisition we began the process of integrating iGATE Computers

operations management and corporate structure into our own We acquired iGATE Computers outstanding

share capital from iGATE Computers public shareholders delisted its fully paid-up equity shares and

commenced the process of merging iGATE Computer with our 100% owned subsidiary For more information

on these efforts please refer to Our Business Recent Developments

Industry Background

The rise of global service providers has enabled companies to reduce costs and improve productivity This

growth has been driven by numerous factors including the broad adoption of global communications increased

competition from globalization and the organization and availability of highly-trained offshore workforces

While many of the initial global providers focused on IT services numerous other players have arisen to offer

business services as well including BPO

IT and business services are typically managed as separate offerings by service providers The two offerings

have very different workflows and infrastructure requirements Additionally whereas IT services require highly

trained professionals many offshore business services such as BPO generally require only graduates with
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foreign language skills As result many large service providers who offer both IT and business services

manage them through separate internal organizations Many clients have also separated these functions

Unfortunately this separation often results in competing interests between IT and business operations

As global services has become mainstream many clients are now seeking tighter integration of their IT and

business processes to maintain differentiation and cost effectiveness Additionally as most BPO services depend

upon client technology and infrastructure many BPO clients are seeking to outsource their IT services as well

We believe that this demand will require global service providers to offer converged IT and business solutions

We believe that those providers who are experts in their clients IT and businesses processes and who can best

deliver converged services using combination of onsite and offshore professionals will most benefit from these

industry trends

Our Core Capabilities

As the first outsourcing solutions provider to offer fully integrated technology and operations structure with

global service delivery we offer differentiated business model By integrating IT and BPO services our

approach enables business model that encourages continual innovation in all areas of business transformation

iTOPS impact all areas of business transformation We have deep industry expertise covering numerous industry

verticals and offer specialized industry practices in areas such as financial services insurance life sciences

manufacturing retail media and entertainment and healthcare We have characterized clear value proposition

around our global delivery model which enables us to offer flexible onsite and offshore services that are cost

efficient and responsive to our clients preferences Our operational excellence is enabled through highly

collaborative work environment superior infrastructure management and adoption of best practices We have

clearly defined organizational vision objectives and methods to achieve and sustain organizational excellence in

highly competitive market We have set organizational excellence as the foundation to meet customers

expectations ensure employee performance and achieve shareholders satisfaction

Our Strategic Objectives

Our vision is Changing the rules to deliver high-impact outcomes for new technology-enabled world

We have introduced the Pay for Results paradigm which has had significant impact in the IT and BPO

market Our Business Outcomes-driven solutions approach mitigates the inherent IT and common business risks

of our clients large projects and complex offshore practices and operations by transferring the risks to us This

model provides key benefits to clients by reducing risk from demand variation technology delivering truly

variable cost structure to better manage their businesses providing predictable results and costs and eliminating

management and personnel overheads We intend to become the leading provider of iTOPS services by

strengthening and broadening our industry expertise service lines optimizing and expanding delivery capability

We also intend to expand geographically and build our brand globally Our global delivery model allows us to

offer varied and complex IT-enabled services to our customers across multiple locations Our commitment to

operational excellence and varied adopted practices has created highly skilled global resource teams which are

capable of addressing challenges across all time cycles and zones We believe our model is adaptable to meet

changing market demands and needs of our customers

Economic Trends and Outlook

According to Gartner Inc Source Gartner Forecast Alert IT Spending Worldwide 4Q12 Update ID

Number G00229878 an IT research and advisory company the IT Services industry worldwide IT spending is

forecasted to total $927 billion in 2013 5.2% increase from 2012 spending of nearly $881 billion

Disclaimer The Gartner Report described herein represents data research opinion or viewpoints published

as part of syndicated subscription service by Gartner Inc Gartner and are not representations offact

Each Gartner Report speaks as of its original publication date and not as of the date of this Report and the

opinions expressed in the Gartner Reports are subject to change without notice
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The global economic recovery continues and modest growth in IT spending is expected However

uncertainities surrounding the prospects for an upturn in global economic growth remain major hindrances to IT

growth This uncertainty has caused pessimistic business and consumer sentiment throughout the world The

industry is aggressively pursuing innovations that it expects to stimulate demand beyond such modest growth

Besides organic growth industry players are also aggressively pursuing mergers and acquisitions to stimulate

growth We believe that our business model is somewhat diversified both geographically and operationally as we

serve both IT and IT-enabled solutions We believe our strategy of global delivery model positions us well to

provide greater breadth of services expertise and solutions in catering to market needs and opportunities

Recent Events Impacting Future Operations

iGATE Computer Acquisition

On May 12 2011 we completed the iGATE Computer Acquisition through our 100% owned subsidiaries

Pan-Asia and iGATE Global To consummate the acquisition of iGATE Computer we entered into securities

purchase agreement with Viscaria Limited to raise equity financing to fund portion of the cash consideration

for the iGATE Computer Acquisition We also agreed to sell to Viscaria Limited in private placement up to

480000 shares of Series Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of up to $480 million In February

and May of 2011 we issued total of 330000 shares of Series Preferred Stock to Viscaria Limited for total

consideration of $330 million

The remainder of the consideration for the iGATE Computer Acquisition was funded through our issuance

on April 29 2011 of the Notes through private placement pursuant to the Indenture Interest on the Notes is

payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on May and November of each year beginning on November

2011 The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company guaranteed by the Companys restricted

subsidiaries as defined in the Indenture The Notes were eligible to be exchanged for Exchange Notes registered

under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and pursuant to an exchange offer initiated on December 13

2011 all of the Notes were tendered by the Note holders as of February 14 2012 For more information on the

Notes please refer to Note Senior Notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in

this Form 10-K

In connection with our integration efforts following the iGATE Computer Acquisition we commenced the

process of acquiring the remaining 15.82% of iGATE Computers outstanding share capital excluding ADSs

from iGATE Computers public shareholders and delisting the fully paid-up equity shares of iGATE Computer

On March 14 2012 Pan-Asia along with iGATE Global and iGATE issued public announcement regarding

the proposed acquisition of remaining iGATE Computer share capital and delisting the fully paid-up equity

shares of iGATE Computer iGATE Computer then applied to the BSE and the NSE to voluntarily delist its

equity shares from those exchanges Upon completion of the purchase of iGATE Computers remaining shares

trading was discontinued as of May 21 2012 and iGATE Computers shares were delisted from the records of

the BSE and the NSE as of May 28 2012 Subsequently iGATE Computer applied for voluntary delisting of its

ADSs from the NYSE and for deregistration of the ADSs under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The ADSs

were delisted from the NYSE after the close of trading on September 28 2012 and became tradable on the U.S

over-the-counter market as of October 2012 On October 2012 iGATE Computer filed Form 15 with the

SEC deregistering the ADSs from the SECs reporting requirements The deregistration automatically became

effective 90 days after such filing on December 31 2012

Immediately following the iGATE Computer Acquisition we commenced the process of integrating iGATE

Computer into our organization We successfully completed the complex integration of operations systems

technology networks and other assets by year end 2011 As result we succeeded in minimizing any adverse

impact on customers vendors suppliers employees and other constituencies and limiting disruptions of our

standards controls procedures policies and services Nevertheless certain risks which are inherent in an

acquisition of this scope are ongoing including among others our ability to successfully manage the expanded

business monitor new operations and minimize increased costs and complexity For discussion of other risks
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specifically related to the issuance of equity and our ability to generate cash required to service our debt

obligations resulting from the iGATE Computer Acquisition see Item Risk Factors Our earnings may be

adversely affected if our subsidiaries iGATE Computer and iGATE Global receive an adverse determination

resulting from pending tax review of their domestic or foreign operations Our ability to generate cash

depends on many factors beyond our control and we may not be able to generate the cash required to service our

debt The shares of Series Preferred Stock are senior obligations rank prior to our common stock with

respect to dividends distributions and payments upon liquidation and have other terms such as put right and

mandatory conversion date that could negatively impact the value of shares of our common stock and Viscaria

Limited an affiliate of Apax Partners LLP and Apax Partners L.P is significant shareholder in our Company

and may have conflicts of interest with us or you in the future of this report

Mergers of iGATE Subsidiaries

Following the successful integration of our company and iGATE Computer we began the
process

of

merging certain subsidiaries to simplify our corporate structure increase operational efficiencies and reduce

costs As an initial step in this process iGATE Computer entered into share purchase agreement on August 28

2012 with another subsidiary of the Company iTI to transfer all the shares of iAI to iTI for total consideration of

$82.9 million To facilitate this purchase on August 29 2012 iTI borrowed $70 million under term loan

agreement from bank In addition to the above noted consolidation on December 31 2012 we merged two of

our U.S subsidiaries namely Patni Telecom Inc into iAI and then iAI was merged into iTI The
purpose

of this

merger was to help us achieve our long term objective of simplifying the U.S legal entity structure which would

lead to delivering greater synergies and cost efficiencies to our clients minimizing compliance costs and

enabling us to pool management teams and employees CHCS Services Inc will continue as an independent

subsidiary of iTT

Continuing with this process on October 11 2012 our Board of Directors approved the plan to merge

iGATE Computer with iGATE Global The Merger plan was further approved by the Board of Directors of

iGATE Computer and iGATE Global on October 26 2012 To allow for the consolidation of iGATE Computer

with iGATE Global pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement iGATE Computer terminated its ADR program On

December 14 2012 iGATE Computer provided termination and amendment notice to holders of its ADRs

pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Agreement Under the terms of the Deposit Agreement the ADR program

was to have terminated on January 13 2013 Following termination of the ADR program the Depositary will

service the ADRs until March 13 2013 allowing holders to transfer their ADRs or exchange their ADRs for the

Shares On or around March 13 2013 the Depositary expects to tender any Shares remaining in the ADR

program into the Subsequent Offering Period and provide holders of ADRs the cash proceeds less customary

expenses

Concurrently with the termination of iGATE Computers ADR program we continued the process of

merging iGATE Computer and iGATE Global and on December 29 2012 in accordance with the direction of

the High Court of Judicature at Mumbai India iGATE Computer sent notice to its shareholders convening

meeting of shareholders Court Convened Meeting or CCM to approve the Scheme of Arrangement of iGATE

Computer with iGATE Global filed with the High Court of Judicature at Mumbai India on October 29 2012

the Scheme Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme holders of Shares will receive iGS Shares in accordance

with the Share Exchange Ratio Prior to the completion of the Merger the terms of the Subsequent Offering

Period will not change Upon the consummation of the Merger holders of Shares will be issued iGS Shares in

accordance with the Share Exchange Ratio subject to rounding for fractional shares Following completion of the

Merger iGS Shares will be accepted pursuant to the terms of the Subsequent Offering Period subject to price

adjustment to account for the Share Exchange Ratio and each iGS Share owned may be tendered in the

Subsequent Offering Period for Rs 2288

Accordingly the CCM was conducted on January 22 2013 at which time the Merger was approved and the

appointed date changed to April 2012
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Term Loan to Acquire the Balance of iGATE Computers shares

To consummate these acquisitions and consolidations on March 2012 Pan-Asia entered into the Original

Credit Facility for term commitments and bankers guarantees with the lenders named therein and DBS Bank

LTD Singapore as administrative agent the Administrative Agent in an aggregate principal U.S Dollar

equivalent of $215 million maturing on June 2014 The borrowings under the Original Credit Facility carried

an interest rate of LIBOR plus an applicable interest rate ranging from 280 basis points to 320 basis points and

contained customary representations and warranties events of default and affirmative and negative covenants

The borrowings are guaranteed by the Company and several of its 100% owned subsidiaries

The Original Credit Facility was amended and restated on April 2012 the Amended Credit Facility

with the above lenders named and Administrative Agent The Amended Credit Facility increased the

commitment amount to $265 million matures on June 2014 and is available to finance Pan-Asias purchase of

the remaining publicly outstanding equity shares of iGATE Computer As of December 31 2012 Pan-Asia

borrowed $228.5 million in cash at weighted average interest rate of 3.01% and received bank guarantee of

INR 1.6 billion or $29.9 million to fund the purchase of iGATE Computers shares and delisting related

expenses The bank guarantee expires on July 2013

The Amended Credit Facility was subsequently amended on January 22 2013 to amend four covenants

regarding maintenance of security interests of iGATE Global application of proceeds received from iGATE

Computer negative pledge in respect of shares of iGATE and Pan-Asias holding in the merged Indian

subsidiary

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following explains our most critical accounting policies and estimates See Note to our audited

consolidated financial statements set forth on pages 76 to 85 of this Form 10-K for complete description of our

significant accounting policies

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of contractual arrangement with customers

services have been rendered the fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured The

Company has concluded that it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement when it enters into an agreement with

its clients with terms and conditions which describe the services and the related payments are legally enforceable

When the terms of the agreement specify service level parameters that must be met the Company monitors such

service level parameters and determines if there are any service credits or penalties which need to be accounted

for Revenue is recognized net of any service credits that are due to client and net of applicable taxes and

includes reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses with the corresponding cost for out-of- pocket expenses

included in cost of revenue Multiple contracts with single counterparty are accounted for as separate

arrangements

IT services are provided either on fixed price fixed time frame or on time and material basis Revenue

with respect to time-and-material contracts is recognized as the related services are performed Time-and-

material contracts typically bill at an agreed upon hourly or daily rate The Companys fixed price contracts

include application maintenance and support services on which revenue is recognized ratably over the term of

maintenance Revenue related to fixed-price contracts that provide for highly complex IT application

development services are recognized as the services are performed using the percentage of completion method

with input cost to cost method while contracts that do not provide for highly complex IT development services

are recognized as the services are performed using proportional performance basis with input efforts expended

method The Company considers the input method to be the best available measure of progress on these

contracts as there is direct relationship between input and productivity Costs are recorded as incurred over the

contract period Provisions for estimated losses if any on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in
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which such losses become probable based on the current contract estimates Revenues from BPO services are

derived from both time-based and transaction-priced contracts Revenue from these contracts are recognized on

rendering of the services as per the terms of the contract

Significant judgment is required to estimate the time and cost to complete the project Our project delivery

personnel continually review the labor hours incurred and the estimated total labor hours which may result in

revisions to the amount of revenue recognized for the contract Changes in estimates are accounted for in the

period of change Any estimation process including that used in preparing contract accounting models involves

inherent risk We reduce the inherent risk relating to revenue and cost estimates through approval and monitoring

processes Risks relating to service delivery usage productivity and other factors are considered in the

estimation process

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the cost of the acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of identifiable tangible

and intangible net assets purchased We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC 350

Intangible Assets including Goodwill and Amortization

The provisions of ASC 350 requires that recoverability of goodwill be evaluated using two-step process

Under the first step the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the goodwill resides is compared with

its carrying value of the assets and liabilities including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds

its carrying value step two does not need to be performed If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its

carrying value an indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the step two of the

impairment test measurement is performed Under step two an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of

the carrying amount of the reporting units goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair

value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in manner similar to purchase

price allocation in business combination The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of

the reporting unit goodwill

Based on the results of its annual impairment tests the Company determined that no impairment of goodwill

existed as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Intangible Assets

As of December 31 2012 the definite lived intangible assets were predominantly comprised of customer

relationship and intellectual property rights arising from the iGATE Computer Acquisition The acquired

company is often party to certain customer contracts and relationships that are of material value to an acquirer

Customer contracts and relationships refer to forecast revenues from existing customers from whom there is

readily identifiable income stream as at the valuation date as result of established business relationships with

them We have estimated the fair value of customer contracts and relationships based on the Excess Earnings

Method under the Income Approach

The excess earnings method is predicated on the basis that the value of an intangible asset is the present

value of the earnings it generates net of reasonable return on other assets also contributing to that stream of

earnings The main steps under this method are

Forecast sales to which the acquired intangibles contribute and estimate the cash flows earned from

these sales To arrive at the projected revenues from the existing customers we have considered the

revenues of the last years from all the existing customers as at the valuation date and applied an

annual average chum rate of 3% rounded to these revenues

Deduct the tax charge on these cash flows we estimated the effective tax rate on go forward basis

to be 30%
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Deduct contributory asset charges in order to assess the excess earnings attributable to customer

contracts and relationships we have deducted conthbutory asset charges for the use of other assets The

contributory charges for the economic returns are computed based on the assets utilized by the

intangible asset The notional contributory charges are based on the presumption that the contributory

assets were leased from third party in an arms-length transaction All such contributory charges are

computed based on the fair value of the relevant contributory asset The applied contributory asset

charges take into account the return of the asset wear and tear and the return on asset interest on

invested capital

We considered the risk of the above intangible in relation to the risk of other intangibles and in relation

to the risk of the overall business Based on this analysis we utilized discount rate of 18.00% We

used this to discount the excess earnings to obtain the value of the intangible

We have assumed an economic life of 15 years considering the uncertainty of continuity of customer

relationship beyond this period and also that the present value factor beyond such period is not

material

Customer relationship is amortized on an accelerated basis undiscounted net cash flows basis and

intellectual property rights are amortized on straight line basis The estimated useful life of customer relationship

and intellectual property rights is 15 years and 0.5 year to years respectively The estimated useful life of an

identifiable intangible asset is based on number of factors including the effects of obsolescence demand

competition and other economic factors such as the stability of the industry and known technological advances

and the level of maintenance expenditures required to obtain the expected future cash flows from the asset

Intangible assets are initially valued at fair market value using generally accepted valuation methods

appropriate for the type of intangible asset Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over the estimated

useful lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment arise such as termination of contracts

with customers restructuring actions or plans or downward revisions to forecasts The evaluation of impairment

is based upon comparison of the carrying amount of the intangible asset to the estimated future undiscounted

net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset If estimated future undiscounted cash flows are less than the

carrying amount of the asset the asset is considered impaired The impairment expense is determined by

comparing the estimated fair value of the intangible asset to its carrying value with any shortfall from fair value

recognized as an expense in the current period The estimated fair value is computed based on the forecasted

future revenue and cash flows from the customer contracts

Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for income tax expense income tax liabilities and deferred tax

assets and liabilities involves judgment As global company we calculate and provide for income taxes in each

of the tax jurisdictions in which we operate This involves estimating current tax exposures in each jurisdiction as

well as making judgments regarding the recoverability of deferred tax assets Tax exposures can involve complex

issues and may require an extended period to resolve In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets we

consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized

and adjust the valuation allowances accordingly Factors considered in making this determination include the

period of expiration of the tax asset planned use of the tax asset tax planning strategies and historical and

projected taxable income as well as tax liabilities for the tax jurisdiction in which the tax asset is located

Valuation allowances will be subject to change in each future reporting period as result of changes in one or

more of these factors Changes in the geographic mix or estimated level of annual income before taxes can affect

the overall effective tax rate

We apply an estimated annual effective tax rate to our quarterly operating results to determine the interim

provision for income tax expense In accordance with FASB guidance on uncertainty in income taxes change

in judgment that impacts the measurement of tax position taken in prior year is recognized as discrete item
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in the interim period in which the change occurs In the event there is significant unusual or infrequent item

recognized in our quarterly operating results the tax attributable to that item is recorded in the interim period in

which it occurs

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into foreign currency forward and option contracts foreign exchange derivative

contracts to mitigate and manage the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates on inter-company and end

customer accounts receivables and forecasted sales and inter-company transactions The Company hedges

anticipated sales transactions that are subject to foreign exchange exposure with foreign exchange derivative

contracts that are designated effective and that qualify as cash flow hedges under ASC Topic 815 Derivatives

and Hedging

As part of hedge strategy the Company also enters into foreign exchange derivative contracts which are

replaced with successive new contracts up to the period in which the forecasted transaction is expected to occur

i.e roll-over hedges In case of rollover hedges the hedge effectiveness is assessed based on changes in fair

value to the extent of changes in spot prices and recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss

until the hedged transactions occur and at that time is recognized in the consolidated statements of income

Accordingly the changes in the fair value of the contract related to the changes in the difference between the spot

price and the forward price i.e forward premiumldiscount are excluded from assessment of hedge effectiveness

and is recognized in consolidated statements of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss

In respect of foreign exchange derivative contracts which hedge the foreign currency risk associated with

the both anticipated sales transaction and the collection thereof dual purpose hedges the hedge effectiveness is

assessed based on overall changes in fair value with the effective portion of gains or losses included in

accumulated other comprehensive income loss The effective portion of gain or loss attributable to forecasted

sales are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income loss and recognized in consolidated

statements of income when the sales transaction occurs Post the date of sales transaction the Company

reclassifies an amount from accumulated other comprehensive income loss to earnings to offset foreign

currency translation gain loss recorded for the respective receivable during the period In addition the

Company determines the amount of cost to be ascribed to each period of the hedging relationship based on the

functional currency interest rate implicit in the hedging relationship and recognizes this cost by reclassifying it

from accumulated other comprehensive income loss to consolidated statements of income for recognized

receivables based on the pro rata method

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges deemed ineffective are recognized in the consolidated

statement of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss The Company also uses foreign exchange

derivatives contracts not designated as hedging instruments under ASC No 815 to hedge intercompany and end

customer accounts receivables and other monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency Changes in the fair value of these foreign exchange derivatives are recognized in the consolidated

statements of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss

Stock-Based Compensation

FASB ASC Topic 718 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation requires all share-based payments

including grants of stock options restricted stock units and employee stock purchase rights to be recognized in

our financial statements based on their respective grant date fair values Under this standard the fair value of

each employee stock option and employee stock purchase right is estimated on the date of grant using an option

pricing model that meets certain requirements

We currently use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of our share-based

payments The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards utilizing the Black-Scholes model

is affected by our stock price and number of assumptions including expected volatility expected life risk-free
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interest rate and expected dividends We estimate the expected volatility of our stock options at grant date based

on the historical traded prices of our stock as the expected volatility assumption required in the Black-Scholes

model The expected life of the stock options is based on historical and other data including life of the option and

vesting period

The risk-free interest rate assumption is the implied yield currently available on zero-coupon government

issues with remaining term equal to the expected term The dividend yield assumption is based on our history

and expectation of dividend payouts

We evaluate the assumptions used to value stock-based awards on periodic basis If factors change and we

employ different assumptions stock-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what we have

recorded in the past If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested securities we may

be required to accelerate increase or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense To the

extent that we grant additional equity securities to employees or we assume unvested securities in connection

with any acquisitions our stock-based compensation expense will be increased by the additional unearned

compensation resulting from those additional grants or acquisitions

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S GAAP requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of property and equipment

carrying amount of property and equipment intangibles and goodwill valuation allowance for receivables and

deferred tax assets valuation of derivative instruments valuation of share-based compensation assets and

obligations related to employee benefits income tax uncertainties and other contingencies and commitments

Management believes that the estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are

prudent and reasonable Although these estimates are based upon managements best knowledge of current

events and actions actual results could differ from these estimates

Presentation of Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In this managements discussion and analysis we use supplemental non-GAAP financial measures as

defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with or

an alternative for measures prepared in accordance with U.S GAAP and may be different from non-GAAP

measures used by other companies In addition these non-GAAP measures are not based on any comprehensive

set of accounting rules or principles Reconciliations of these non-GAAP measures to their comparable GAAP

measures are included in the financial tables set forth on pages 54 to 59 of this Form 10-K
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Results of Operations from Continuing Operations for the Year Ended December 31 2012 as Compared to

the Year Ended December 31 2011 Dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

change

2012 2011
of Amount

of of comparable
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues period

Revenues $1073930 100.0% $779646 100.0% 37.7%

Cost of revenuesa 649810 60.5 483504 62.0 34.4

Gross margin 424120 39.5 296142 38.0 43.2

Selling general and administrative 171471 16.0 151497 19.4 13.2

Depreciation and amortization 46382 4.3 38735 5.0 19.7

Income from operations 206267 19.2 105910 13.6 94.8

Interest expense 83766 7.8 50608 6.5 65.5

Foreign exchange gain loss net 20084 1.9 13076 1.7 253.6
Other income 28491 2.7 15894 2.0 79.3

Income before income taxes 130908 12.2 84272 10.8 55.3

Income tax expense 30599 2.9 24218 3.1

Net income 100309 9.3 60054 7.7 67.0

Non-controlling interest 4476 0.4 8586 1.1 47.9

Net income attributable to iGATE 95833 8.9 51468 6.6 86.2

Accretion to preferred stock 404 302 33.8

Preferred dividend 29047 2.7 22147 2.8 31.2

Net income attributable to iGATE common

shareholders 66382 6.2% 29019 3.7% 128.8%

Cost of revenues is exclusive of depreciation and amortization

The percent is insignificant

As the effective tax rate is better comparable measure the percent change from comparable period is not

computed

Note iGATE Computer results are consolidated for period of 231 days with effect from May 15 2011 for the

year ended December 31 2011 as compared to the full period for the year ended December 31 2012 This

accounts for the major variances in the year end comparison

Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 increased by 37.7% as compared to the year ended

December 31 2011 Our revenue increase for the period presented is directly attributable to the iGATE

Computer Acquisition and combination of increased business with our recurring customers and business with

new customers which was partly offset by the cessation of business with certain existing customers resulting

from streamlining our customer list to focus on long term strategic customers Revenues increased due to the

iGATE Computer Acquisition by 35.8% recurring customers by 1.3% and new customers by 1.6% and were

partly offset by the cessation of business with some of our existing customers by 1.0% for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to the year ended December 31 2011

Our top five customers accounted for 37% and 40% of the revenues for the year ended December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively Our revenues are primarily denominated in USD so the direct effect of foreign currency

fluctuations on our revenues has not been material The strengthening of the USD during the year ended
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December 31 2012 as compared to the corresponding period in the previous year against the Euro GBP CAD

and INR adversely impacted our revenues by 0.5% We continue to derive significant portion of our revenues

from clients located in the United States

Gross margin

Our Gross Margin percentage was 39.5% for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to 38.0% for

the year ended December 31 2011 As we conduct business through our globally integrated onsite and offshore

delivery locations primarily in India the strengthening of the USD against other currencies could have direct

effect on our cost by reducing the cost of our services in offshore delivery centers and thereby increasing our

Gross Margin The increase in the Gross Margin percentage for the current year was primarily due to increase in

revenue and favorable movement of the USD against the INR as compared to the year ended December 31 2011

This resulted in lower cost of revenues in dollar terms yielding higher gross margin by 3.6% which was partly

offset by the adverse impact of currency movement on revenues by 0.5% and an increase in salaries due to full

year impact of the iGATE Computer Acquisition on our employees average billable headcount

Selling general and administrative expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses SGA include all costs that are not directly associated

with revenue-generating activities SGA expenses include employee costs corporate costs and facilities costs

Employee costs include selling marketing and administrative salaries and related employee benefits travel

recruiting and training costs Corporate costs include costs such as acquisition delisting and reorganization costs

legal accounting and outside consulting fees Facilities costs primarily include rent and communications costs

SGA costs for the year
ended December 31 2012 increased by $20.0 million as compared to the year

ended December 31 2011 SGA costs increased mainly due to the iGATE Computer Acquisition which

accounted for full twelve months in the current reporting period as compared to seven and half months in the

previous period Net employee costs increased by $5.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2011 resulting from an increase in salaries overhead expenses
and

benefits of $8.1 million and travel expenses by $3.4 million The increase in salaries was mainly due to the

iGATE Computer Acquisition and an increase in our average employee headcount by 221 which was partly

offset by $5.6 million lower bonus provision $0.2 million lower employee stock based compensation cost

provision and $0.7 million lower staff welfare expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to

the year ended December 31 2011

Our net corporate costs increased by $1.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 mainly due to $4.0

million of expenses incurred during the current reporting period due to delisting iGATE Computer from the

records of Indian stock exchanges an increase in accounting and professional fees of $3.1 million increased

reorganization expenses of $1.5 million incurred in connection with implementation of structural changes

simplifying our corporate structure and an increase in legal fees by $1.2 million marketing expenses by $0.9

million other costs by $0.8 million bad debt and taxes by $0.6 million and recruitment expenses by $0.6 million

These increases were offset by $10.9 million of acquisition costs incurred during the year ended December 31

2011 reduction of our public costs by $0.6 million and bank charges by $0.2 million

Net facilities costs increased by $14.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 due to an increase in

insurance and maintenance costs by $6.5 million communication related expenses by $3.8 million rent by $1.9

million and electricity charges by $1.8 million

Currency movements in the foreign exchange market favorably impacted our SGA costs by $11.2 million

for the year
ended December 31 2012 as compared to year

ended December 31 2011
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Depreciation and amortization costs

Depreciation and amortization costs for the year ended December 31 2012 were 4.3% of revenue as

compared to 5.0% of revenue for the year ended December 31 2011 representing an increase of $7.6 million

Depreciation and amortization costs increased mainly due to the iGATE Computer Acquisition which accounted

for full twelve months in the current reporting period as compared to seven and half months in the previous

period and an increase on account of additional assets purchased during the current period as compared to the

previous period The increase was partly offset by the full depreciation in the second quarter of 2012 of certain

depreciable assets attributable to the iGATE Computer Acquisition with one year
useful life

Operating income

Our operating income percentage was 19.2% for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to 13.6%

for the year ended December 31 2011 This increase was mainly due to our increased gross margin which was

partly offset by increased SGA expenses and depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Interest expenses were 7.8% of revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to 6.5% for the

year
ended December 31 2011 The increase of $33.2 million was driven by higher interest expense resulting

from higher debt balances incurred during the current year

We issued the Notes on April 29 2011 We recorded interest expense of $69.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to $46.6 million for the year ended December 31 2011 We amortized the debt

issuance costs of $5.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to $3.7 million for the year

ended December 31 2011 The increase in the interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs was due

to the full year impact in 2012

The interest expense recorded on our lines of credit and term loans for $375.5 million amounted to $6.7

million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to $0.7 million on our line of credit of $57 million

for the
year

ended December 30 2011 We amortized debt issuance cost of $1.0 million on term loans for the

year ended December 31 2012 as compared to $0 million for the year ended December 30 2011 We also

recorded provision of $0.4 million for interest to be paid in connection with court-ordered rescission of land

sale agreement

Foreign exchange loss gain net

Foreign exchange loss was $20.1 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to gain of

$13.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011

We entered into foreign exchange derivative contracts in connection with the iGATE Computer Acquisition

which resulted in realized gain of $15.0 million on settled contracts for the year ended December 31 2011

We recognized foreign currency loss of $18.6 million on all foreign exchange derivative contracts for the

year ended December 31 2012 as compared to loss of $15.9 million for the year
ended December 31 2011

We also recognized foreign currency loss of $4.1 million on remeasurement of escrow account balance

gain of $2.7 million related to other monetary assets and liabilities and gain of $0.4 million on the remeasurement

of redeemable non controlling interest for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to gain of $5.3

million on remeasurement of escrow account balance and gain of $7.2 million related to other monetary assets

and liabilities for the year ended December 31 2011 respectively We also recorded foreign currency loss of

$0.5 million and gain of $1.4 million on the remeasurement of the packing credit facility borrowed under our

line of credit for the year ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively
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Other income net

Our investment income for the year ended December 31 2012 totaled $27.3 million as compared to

$14.7 million for the year ended December 31 2011 The investment income increased due to the significant

increase in investment amounts resulting from the iGATE Computer Acquisition Investments increased by

$156.3 million as of December 31 2012 as compared to investments as of December 31 2011 sizable part of

investments in 2011 were in dividend yielding mutual funds whereas in 2012 investments were primarily in

growth funds and certificate of deposits The higher level of investments switch from dividend yielding funds to

growth plans of mutual funds and investments in high yield certificate of deposits primarily contributed to the

increase in investment income

Interest refund from tax authorities amounted to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 We

recorded loss of $0.9 million in connection with court-ordered rescission of land sale agreement

Income taxes

Our effective tax rate ETR was 23.4% and 28.7% during the twelve months ended December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively

The ETR decreased mainly due to the release of valuation allowance of $4.0 million existing as of

December 31 2011 Based on managements review of both positive and negative evidence which includes the

historical and future operating performance of one of iGATE Corporations domestic subsidiaries iTI as well as

iGATE Corporations election to file consolidated return with other members of the U.S affiliated group the

Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to realize portion of the

Companys domestic deferred tax assets Therefore in 2012 the Company has released $4.0 million of the

related valuation allowance

Based on the Companys application the IRS ruled on January 12 2012 that the Companys acquisition of

iGATE Computer falls within the meaning of section 338d3 of the Internal Revenue Code and an election can

be made to be qualified stock purchase QSP under Section 338g This election entitled us to calculate the

U.S income tax basis earnings and profits and foreign non-U.S tax pools for iGATE Computer Based on such

calculations we recorded tax provision of $6.9 million on our U.S subsidiary iTIs share of the Indian

subsidiary iGATE Computers undistributed earnings for the post-acquisition period from May 16 2011 through

December 31 2011 In 2012 we provided an additional $7.0 million on the current year undistributed earnings of

iGATE Computer

Non-controlling interest

For the year ended December 31 2011 we recorded $8.6 million of profits attributable to the non

controlling interest in iGATE Computer representing 18.2% share of net income of $47.3 million of iGATE

Computer

On March 14 2012 Pan-Asia along with iGATE Global and iGATE issued public announcement

regarding the proposed acquisition of the remaining 15.82% of iGATE Computers outstanding share capital

excluding ADSs from iGATE Computers public shareholders and the delisting of the fully paid-up equity

shares of iGATE Computer having face value of INR Delisting of Equity Shares the Offer As of

December 31 2012 the Company had purchased 23.0 million shares 16.9% of iGATE Computers outstanding

shares and recorded redeemable non controlling interest liability for the balance of 3.4 million shares
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amounting to $32.4 million valued at an exit price of INR 520 per share The redeemable non-controlling

interest holders are not entitled to any share of iGATE Computers profits

Prior to the additional purchase of 16.9% of iGATE Computers outstanding share capital we recorded $4.5

million of profits of the non-controlling interest in iGATE Computer representing an 18.9% share of the net

income of $23.7 million of iGATE Computer in the first quarter of 2012

Preferred dividend

On February 2011 pursuant to the securities purchase agreement with Viscaria Limited dated January 10

2011 we issued 210000 shares of Series Preferred Stock for consideration of $210 million and an additional

120000 shares were issued on May 2011 for consideration of $120 million We have accrued for cumulative

dividends of $29.0 million at rate of 8.00% per annum compounded quarterly for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to $22.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011

Results of Operations from Continuing Operations for the Year Ended December 31 2011 as Compared to

the Year Ended December 31 2010 Dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

change

2011 2010
of Amount

of of comparable
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues period

Revenues $779646 100.0% $280597 100.0% 177.9%

Costofrevenuesa 483504 62.0 167906 59.8 188.0

Gross margin 296142 38.0 112691 40.2 162.8

Selling general and administrative 151497 19.4 50669 18.1 199.0

Depreciation and amortization 38735 5.0 9014 3.2 329.7

Income from operations 105910 13.6 53008 18.9 99.8

Interest expense 50608 6.5 108 0.0

Foreign exchange gain loss net 13076 1.7 377 0.1

Other income 15894 2.0 5171 1.8 204.5

Income before income taxes 84272 10.8 57694 20.6 46.1

Income tax expense 24218 3.1 5939 2.1

Net income 60054 7.7 51755 18.5 16.0

Non-controlling interest 8586 1.1

Net income attributable to iGATE 51468 6.6 51755 18.5 0.6

Accretion to preferred stock 302

Preferred dividend 22147 2.8

Net income attributable to iGATE common

shareholders 29019 3.7% 51755 18.5% 43.9%

Cost of revenues is exclusive of depreciation and amortization

The percent is insignificant

As the absolute number in the previous year is insignificant the percent change from current period is not

computed

As in year 2011 realized foreign currency movements gain on fair value hedges is the main component of

foreign exchange gain loss net as compared to year 2010 the percentage change from the comparable

period is not computed
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As there is no amount in the previous period the percent change from current period is not computed

J9 As the effective tax rate is better comparable measure the percentage change from the comparable period

is not computed

As the Series Preferred Stock was issued during 2011 the percentage change of the preferred dividend

and accretion to preferred stock is not computed

Note iGATE Computer results are consolidated for period of 231 days with effect from May 15 2011 for the

year ended December 31 2011 This accounts for the major variances in the year end comparison

Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 increased by 177.9% as compared to the year ended

December 31 2010 Our revenue increase for this period is directly attributable to the acquisition of iGATE

Computer which accounted for $473.4 million or 60.7% of revenues in 2011 contributing to 168.7% of the

increase as compared to the 2010 revenues

The revenue increase for the periods presented is also directly attributable to combination of increased

business with our recurring customers and the addition of new customers offset by unfavorable movement in

currency markets There was an increase in average employee billable headcount from 7398 for the year ended

December 31 2010 to 19944 for the year ended December 31 2011 of which iGATE Computer Acquisition

accounted for 62% Revenues increased primarily due to volume increase of 9.7% which was partly offset by

unfavorable movement in currency markets by 0.6% for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to the

year ended December 31 2010 Our top five customers accounted for 40% and 72% of our revenue for the year

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Gross margin

Gross margin was $296.1 million or 8.0% of revenues for the
year

ended December 31 2011 as compared

to $112.7 million or 40.2% of revenues for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The decrease in
gross margin

percentage is due to salary increments in 2011 which was partially offset by improved utilization contributing to

the increase in gross margin in absolute terms

The increase in gross margin in absolute terms was mainly due to the acquisition of iGATE Computer which

accounted for $176.6 million 59.6% of gross margin or 22.6% of the revenues

Selling general and administrative expenses

SGA includes all costs that are not directly associated with revenue-generating activities SGA expenses

include employee costs corporate costs and facilities costs Employee costs include selling marketing and

administrative salaries and related employee benefits travel recruiting and training costs Corporate costs

include costs such as acquisition and delisting costs legal accounting and outside consulting fees Facilities costs

primarily include rent and communications costs

SGA costs for the year ended December 31 2011 were $151.5 million or 19.4% of revenues as compared

to $50.7 million or 18.1% of consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 The significant

increase in SGA costs was mainly due to non-recurring costs associated with the acquisition of iGATE

Computer which accounted for $95.2 million inclusive of intercompany costs of $20.8 million or 62.8% of

SGA costs

Our net employee cost increased by $13.3 million for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to

the
year

ended December 31 2010 mainly due to an increase in salaries bonus and benefits of $11.8 million and

travel expense and related costs of $2.0 million which was partly offset by decrease in recruitment expense of

$0.5 million The net corporate cost increased by $11.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 mainly

due to expenses
associated with the acquisition of iGATE Computer of $7.2 million expenses relating to

delisting of $0.7 million and $3.3 million increase in outside professional services marketing accounting bad
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debts and administrative charges The net facilities costs increased by $1.9 million for the year ended

December 31 2011 mainly due to an increase in rental office and building maintenance and communication

related expenses We have recorded $20.4 million as cost reimbursement from iGATE Computer towards the

sales and administrative support provided for the current period

Depreciation and amortization costs

Depreciation and amortization costs for the year ended December 31 2011 were $38.7 million or 5.0% of

revenues as compared to $9.0 million or 3.2% of revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 The

significant increase in depreciation and amortization costs is mainly due to the acquisition of iGATE Computer

which accounted for $28.9 million or 74.7% of depreciation and amortization costs

Operating income

Operating income was $105.9 million or 13.6% of revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 as

compared to $53.0 million or 18.9% of revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in absolute

terms is mainly due to the acquisition of iGATE Computer which accounted for $52.4 million or 6.7% of

revenues

Interest expense

We issued 9% senior notes on April 29 2011 and recorded interest expense of $46.6 million for the year

ended December 31 2011 We also amortized the debt issuance costs of $3.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2011 The interest expense recorded on our $57.0 million line of credit at weighted average

interest rate of 1.07% amounted to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31 2011

Foreign exchange gain/loss net

Foreign exchange gain was $13.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to loss of $0.4

million for the year ended December 31 2010

Favorable foreign currency movement related to foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into in

connection with the iGATE Computer Acquisition which resulted in net realized gain of $15.0 million on

settled contracts for the
year

ended December 31 2011

The Company also recognized unfavorable foreign currency movement resulting in realized loss of $1.0

million on settlement of cash flow hedges for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to loss of $0.1

million for the year ended December 31 2010

We also recognized foreign currency gain of $5.3 million on remeasurement of escrow account balance for

the year ended December 31 2011 and $4.5 million of foreign currency loss related to our intercompany debt in

India and remeasurement of current assets denominated in foreign currency as compared to loss of $0.2 million

for the year ended December 31 2010

We have also recorded foreign currency gain of $1.4 million on the derivative contract taken against the

packing credit facility borrowed under our line of credit for the year ended December 31 2011

iGATE Computer accounted for $3.2 million foreign exchange loss in 2011

Other income net

Our investment income for the year ended December 31 2011 totaled $14.7 million as compared to $3.2

million for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The significant increase in investment income is mainly due to

the iGATE Computer Acquisition which accounted for $12.5 million of the investment income
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In the second quarter of 2011 we liquidated the investments to fund the iGATE Computer Acquisition

which reduced investment income in the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2010

We recognized gain on sale of fixed assets of $1.4 million and gain on sale of investment in affiliate of $0.6

million during the year ended December 31 2010

Income taxes

Our ETR was 28.7% and 10.3% for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively The ETR

increased mainly due to the expiration of the STPs tax holiday and our foreign earnings in March 2011 and was

partly offset by deferred tax benefit of 3.9 million recorded on the carry forward of losses relating to earlier

years and $2.6 million on account of foreign tax credit Based on our application the IRS ruled on January 12

2012 that the acquisition of iGATE Computer falls within the meaning of section 338-d-3 of the Internal

Revenue Code and election can be made to be QSP under Section 338-g This election entitled us to calculate

the U.S income tax basis earnings and profits and foreign non-U.S tax pools for iGATE Computer Based on

such calculations we have recorded tax provision of $6.9 million on our U.S subsidiary iGATE Technologies

share of our Indian subsidiary iGATE Computers undistributed earnings for the post-acquisition period from

May 16 2011 to December 31 2011 This calculation will be monitored by us on quarterly basis every year

Non controlling interest

We recorded $8.6 million share of profits of non controlling interest in iGATE Computer representing

18.2% share of net income of $47.3 million of iGATE Computer

Preferred dividend

On February 2011 pursuant to the securities purchase agreement with Viscaria Limited dated January 10

2011 we issued 210000 shares of Series Preferred Stock for consideration of $210 million and an additional

120000 shares were issued on May 2011 for consideration of $120 million We have accrued for cumulative

dividends of $22.1 million at rate of 8.00% per annum compounded quarterly for the year ended

December 31 2011

Use of non-GAAP Financial Measures

Effective from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 we decided to use non-GAAP net income data and non

GAAP basic and diluted earnings per share These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with or an

alternative for measures prepared in accordance with generally U.S GAAP and may be different from non

GAAP measures used by other companies In addition these non-GAAP measures are not based on any

comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles Reconciliations of these non-GAAP measures to their

comparable GAAP measures are included in the attached financial tables

We believe that non-GAAP measures have limitations in that they do not reflect all of the amounts

associated with iGATEs results of operations as determined in accordance with GAAP and that these measures

should only be used to evaluate iGATEs results of operations in conjunction with the corresponding GAAP

measures These non GAAP measures should be considered supplemental in nature and should not be considered

in isolation or be construed as being more important than comparable GAAP measures

We believe that providing Adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP basic and diluted

earnings per share in addition to the related GAAP measures provides investors with greater transparency to the

information used by our management in our financial and operational decision-making These non-GAAP

measures are also used by management in connection with iGATEs performance compensation programs
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The non-GAAP financial measures contained herein exclude the following items

Amortization of intangible assets Intangible assets comprise value of our customer relationships from

the recent iGATE Computer Acquisition and the previous delisting of iGATEs Indian subsidiary We

incur charges relating to the amortization of these intangibles These charges are included in our GAAP

presentation of earnings from operations operating margin net income and diluted earnings per share

We exclude these charges for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures

Stock-based compensation Although stock-based compensation is an important aspect of the

compensation of our employees and executives determining the fair value of the stock-based

instruments involves high degree of judgment and estimation and the expense recorded may not

reflect the actual value realized upon the future exercise or termination of the related stock-based

awards Furthermore unlike cash compensation the value of stock-based compensation is determined

using complex formula that incorporates factors such as market volatility that are beyond our

control Management believes it is useful to exclude stock-based compensation in order to better

understand the long-term performance of our core business

Acquisition expenses We incur costs related to its acquisitions which are inconsistent in amount and

frequency and are significantly impacted by the timing and nature of iGATE acquisitions We believe

that eliminating these expenses for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures facilitates

more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to its past operating

performance

Forex The Company entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate the risk of changes in

foreign exchange rates on payments related to the acquisition of iGATE Computer We also recognized

favorable foreign currency gain on re-measurement of escrow account balance maintained for facilitating

payments related to the iGATE Computer Acquisition We believe that eliminating the non-capitalized

items for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures facilitates more meaningful evaluation of

our current performance and comparisons to its past performance In March 2012 the Company entered

into forward foreign exchange contract to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates on

payments related to the delisting of iGATE Computer During the year 2012 the Company recognized

foreign currency loss on re-measurement of escrow account balance and foreign exchange gain on re

measurement of redeemable non-controlling interest liability iGATE believes that eliminating the non-

capitalized items for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures facilitates more meaningful

evaluation of iGATEs current performance and comparisons to its past performance

Severance Cost As result of the acquisition of iGATE Computer we incurred severance costs in

connection with the termination of the services of some of iGATE Computers employees We believe

that eliminating these costs for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures facilitates more

meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to its past performance

Delisting expenses iGATE voluntarily delisted the equity shares of its majority owned subsidiary

iGATE Computer from the National Stock Exchange of India Limited and the Bombay Stock

Exchange Limited and the American Depository Shares from the New York Stock Exchange Delisting

is an infrequent activity and
expenses

incurred in connection therein are inconsistent in amount and are

significantly impacted by the timing and nature of the delisting We believe that eliminating these

expenses for purposes of calculating these non-GAAP measures facilitates more meaningful

evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to its past operating performance

Merger and reorganization expenses iGATE is merging and reorganizing its overseas subsidiaries and

branches to simplify the corporate structure and has incurred legal and professional expenses in

connection with these actions Merger and reorganization is an infrequent activity and expenses

incurred in connection therein are inconsistent in amount and significantly impacted by the timing and

nature of the reorganization We believe that eliminating these expenses for purposes of calculating

these non-GAAP measures facilitates more meaningful evaluation of our current operating

performance and comparisons to our past operating performance
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Preferred dividend and accretion to preferred stock The Company has issued 8.00% Series Preferred

Stock The Company also incurred issuance costs which have been netted against the proceeds received

from the issuance of Series Preferred Stock The Series Preferred Stock is being accreted over

period of six years The Company believes that eliminating these expenses for purposes of calculating

these non-GAAP measures facilitates more meaningful evaluation of iGATE current operating

performance and comparisons to its past operating performance

From time to time in the future there may be other items that we may exclude in presenting our financial

results
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The table below presents reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable

GAAP measures for each of the past three years in thousands except for per share data

For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

GAAP Net Income attributable to iGATE common shareholders 66382 29019 $51755

Adjustments

Preferred dividend and accretion to preferred stock 29451 22449

Amortization of Intangible assets net of taxes 7988 6191 774

Share Based Compensation net of taxes 8485 8530 6437

Acquisition expenses 10914 3213

Delisting expenses net of taxes 3477 997

Merger and reorganization expenses 1472

Forex loss gain on acquisition hedging and other remeasurement net of

taxes 3755 15975
Severance cost net of taxes 4897

Non-GAAP Net income attributable to iGATE common shareholders $121010 67022 $62179

Basic EPS GAAP to Basic EPS Non-GAAP
BASIC EPS GAAP 0.87 0.39 0.92

Preferred dividend and accretion to preferred stock 0.39 0.30

Amortization of Intangible assets net of taxes 0.10 0.08 0.02

Share Based Compensation net of taxes 0.11 0.12 0.11

Acquisition expenses
0.15 0.06

Delisting expenses net of taxes 0.05 0.01

Merger and reorganization expenses
0.02

Forex loss gain on acquisition hedging and other remeasurement net of

taxes 0.05 0.22

Severance cost net of taxes 0.07

BASIC EPS Non-GAAP 1.59 0.90 1.11

Diluted EPS GAAP to Diluted EPS Non-GAAP
Diluted EPS GAAP 0.85 0.38 0.90

Preferred dividend and accretion to preferred stock 0.38 0.30

Amortization of Intangible assets net of taxes 0.10 0.08 0.01

Share Based Compensation net of taxes 0.11 0.11 0.11

Acquisition expenses
0.15 0.06

Delisting expenses net of taxes 0.05 0.01

Merger and reorganization expenses 0.02

Forex loss gain on acquisition hedging and other remeasurement net of

taxes 0.05 0.21
Severance cost net of taxes 0.07

Diluted EPS Non-GAAP 1.56 0.89 1.08

Weighted average shares outstanding Basic 57228 56740 56055

Add Assumed preferred stock conversion 18778 17347

Non-GAAP shares outstanding Basic 76006 74087 56055

Weighted average dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding 58821 57943 57394

Add Assumed preferred stock conversion 18778 17347

Weighted average dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding 77599 75290 57394
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Includes iGATE Computer balances since May 16 2011

Non-GAAP Disclosure of Adjusted EBITDA

We present Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental measure of our performance We define Adjusted

EBITDA as net income plus depreciation and amortization ii interest expense iii income tax expense

minus iv other income net plus foreign exchange gainfloss vi stock-based compensation

vii acquisition expenses viii severance expenses ix delisting going private expenses
and

merger
and

reorganization expenses We eliminated the impact of the above as we do not consider them as indicative of our

ongoing operating performance These adjustments are itemized below You are encouraged to evaluate these

adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis In evaluating Adjusted

EBITDA you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of

the adjustments in this presentation Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an

inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our

performance across reporting periods on consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are

indicative of our core operating performance In addition we use Adjusted EBITDA as factor in evaluating

managements performance when determining incentive compensation ii to evaluate the effectiveness of our

business strategies and iii because our credit agreement and our indenture use measures similar to Adjusted

EBITDA to measure our compliance with certain covenants

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool Some of these limitations are

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital

expenditures or contractual commitments

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in or cash requirements for our working capital needs

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary

to service interest or principal payments on our debts although depreciation and amortization are non-

cash charges the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future

and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements non-cash

compensation is and will remain key element of our overall long-term incentive compensation

package although we exclude it as an expense when evaluating our ongoing operating performance for

particular period and

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters we

consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations and other companies in our industry may
calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do limiting its usefulness as comparative measure
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Because of these limitations Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as substitute for

performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP We compensate for these limitations by relying

primarily on our GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally

For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Net income $100309 60054 $51755

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization 46382 38735 9014

Interest expenses 83766 50608 108

Income tax expense 30599 24218 5939

Other income net 28491 15894 5171
Foreign exchange gainIloss 20084 13076 377

Stock Based Compensation 12274 10737 6651

Acquisition expenses 10914 3749

Delisting expenses 5029 997

Merger and reorganization expenses 1472

Severance expenses 6164

Adjusted EBITDA non-GAAP measure $271424 $173457 $72422

Includes iGATE Computer Balances since May 16 2011

The company presents the non-GAAP financial measure Adjusted EBITDA because management uses this

measure to monitor and evaluate the performance of the business and believes the presentation of this measure

will enhance the investors ability to analyze trends in the business and evaluate our underlying performance

relative to other companies in the industry

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash balances are held in numerous locations throughout the world with substantially all of those amounts

held outside of the United States primarily in India Amounts held outside of the United States are generally

utilized to support non-U.S liquidity needs Most of the amounts held outside of the United States could be

repatriated to the United States but under current law the amounts would be subject to United States federal

income taxes less applicable foreign tax credits Repatriation of some foreign balances is restricted by local laws

We have provided for the United States federal tax liability on the post-acquisition earnings and profits of iGATE

Computer India All other earnings and profits in other jurisdictions are deemed permanently reinvested

Repatriation could result in additional income tax payments in future years Where local restrictions prevent

an efficient intercompany transfer of funds our intent is that cash balances would remain outside of the United

States and we would meet liquidity needs through ongoing cash flows external borrowings or foreign earnings

that are not deemed permanently reinvested which we expect to be sufficient to meet our operating liquidity

requirements as described in the contractual obligations table below for at least the twelve 12 months

following this report We do not expect restrictions or potential taxes on repatriation of amounts held outside of

the United States to have material effect on our overall liquidity financial condition or results of operations As

of December 31 2012 $586.4 million of cash cash equivalents and short-term investments were held by our

foreign subsidiaries We estimate the potential tax liability relating to the repatriation of such holdings to be

approximately $62.3 million

Cash from Operations

Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers for different information

technology services we render under various Statements of Work SOWs Our primary uses of cash from

operating activities are for personnel related expenditures leased facilities and taxes

59



Net cash provided by operating activities increased by approximately $17.9 million for fiscal 2012 as

compared to fiscal 2011 This increase was primarily due to higher net income adjusted for depreciation

amortization of intangible assets and debt issuance costs provision for recission of land sale contract

deferred gain on derivatives and stock-based compensation The impact of these was partially offset by certain

unfavorable changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily utilization of cash resources for payment of

accounts payables increases in accounts receivable prepaid expenses and unbilled revenues resulting from

increases in revenues during the fiscal period 2012 in comparison to the prior period

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by approximately $21.3 million for fiscal 2011 as

compared to fiscal 2010 This increase was primarily due to higher net income due to the iGATE Computer

Acquisition adjusted for depreciation amortization of intangible assets and debt issuance costs and stock-based

compensation The impact of these was partially offset by deferred loss on derivative and certain unfavorable

changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily increases in accounts receivable and unbilled revenues

resulting from increases in revenues during the fourth quarters of 2011 and 2010 respectively in comparison to

the prior years Our operating assets and liabilities may be impacted by some of the aforementioned factors in

future periods certain amounts and timing of which are variable

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $406.4 million $1.2 billion and $11.6 million for the
year

ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Cash used in investing activities in 2012 decreased by $791.0

million compared to 2011 primarily due to the completion of the iGATE Computer Acquisition in 2011 This

reduction was offset by the additional purchase of non-controlling interests increase in capital expenditure and

increase in net purchase of investments in 2012

Our investment portfolio and other investments increased by $143.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to an increase of $10.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011 and

decrease of $1.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 The decrease in investments during 2010 was

due to our iGATE Computer Acquisition plans

During the year ended December 31 2012 we deposited $235.6 million in an escrow account to facilitate

the purchase of remaining shares in iGATE Computer from which $228.4 million was used to purchase

23.0 million shares of iGATE Computer as of December 31 2012 The escrow account balance was re-measured

to $3.1 million and is disclosed as restricted cash as of December 31 2012

Capital expenditures were $31.3 million $21.4 million and $16.8 million for the
years

ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Significant portions of the capital expenditures in all three years presented

were due to the expansion of our campus located in our Indian centers During the year ended December 31

2010 we sold one of our office buildings located in Bangalore India and some of our furniture and office

equipments at our office located in Hyderabad India for total consideration of $3.0 million

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $323.1 and $1.1 billion for the years ended December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively as compared to the usage of $13.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010

The cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31 2012 was primarily due to

the drawdown of $228.5 million from bank to fund the purchase of iGATE Computers remaining shares and

delisting related expenses and term loan of $70 million to finance the purchase of iAI We also withdrew an

additional $20 million from an existing unsecured revolving working credit facility during the year ending

December 31 2012 The net proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options was $7.7 million $1.5 million

and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively
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On February 2011 and May 09 2011 we issued Series Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price

of $330 million Proceeds from this issuance net of related costs of $3.4 million amounted to $326.6 million and

were used to finance the iGATE Computer Acquisition

On February 21 2011 we entered into an arrangement with Standard Chartered Bank for an unsecured

revolving working credit facility of $70.0 million renewable on an annual basis As of December 31 2011 we
had borrowed $52.0 million under this line of credit at an effective interest rate of 1.07%

On April 29 2011 we issued $770.0 million $737.0 million net of commitment placement and other

financing and professional fees aggregate principal amount of Notes in private placement to finance portion

of the iGATE Computer Acquisition The Notes require semi-annual interest payments on May and

November Proceeds from the issue of the Notes were also used to finance the iGATE Computer Acquisition

We paid interest of $35.0 million on November 2011 and $69.3 million on May 2012 and November

2012

On May 10 2011 we entered into an arrangement with DBS Bank Ltd Singapore as administrative agent

for the lenders and DBS Bank Ltd Bangalore Branch as lead arranger for an unsecured revolving working

credit facility of $50 million maturing on May 16 2016 As of December 31 2011 we had borrowed $5.0

million under this line of credit at an effective interest rate of 3.2%

Dividends paid amounted to $14.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 No dividends were paid

during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 as the Board of Directors decided to retain the 2010 profits

for funding the iGATE Computer Acquisition in 2011 Further so long as Viscaria Limited remains

shareholder of iGATE Series Preferred Stock the issuance of future dividends may require the consent of

majority of the investor holders under certain circumstances

Our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments were $606.0 million $430.0 million and $139.8

million as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2012 in thousands

Less than More than

Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

Senior Notes1 770000 $770000

Interest payments due on senior notes 231000 69300 138600 23100

Term Loans2 298500 35000 263500

Line of Credit2 77000 77000

Operating lease obligations 17765 8621 7267 1877

Capital lease obligations 1268 461 676 131

Purchase obligations 54854 5041 49813

Defined benefit gratuity plan contributions 29294 2855 6008 7052 13379

Defined benefit pension plan contributions 667 111 556

Total $1480348 $198278 $465864 $802271 $13935

At any time prior to May 2014 the Company may redeem the Notes in whole or in part at its option at

redemption price equal to 109% of the principal amount of such Notes and accrued and unpaid interest if

any to the redemption date At any time and from time to time on or after May 2014 and before May
2015 the Company may redeem the Notes in whole or in part at redemption price equal to 104.5% of the

principal amount of such Notes and accrued and unpaid interest if any to the redemption date At any time
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and from time to time on or after May 2015 the Company may redeem the Notes in whole or in part at

redemption price equal to 100.0% of the principal amount of such Notes and accrued and unpaid interest if

any to the redemption date The aggregate interest payable on the Notes through their maturity assuming

we do not exercise our redemption option prior to such time is expected to be approximately $231.0 million

from January 2013 through May 2016

As of December 31 2012 the Term Loans carried an interest rate of LIBOR plus 280 basis points payable

at the end of each interest period The Lines of Credit are comprised of two credit facilities which are

renewed periodically and carried interest rates of LIBOR plus 130 basis points and LIBOR plus 280 basis

points respectively as of December 31 2012 For more information on the Borrowings please refer to Note

Borrowings to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

If Viscaria Limited does not exercise the option to convert within six years from the Series Preferred

Stock closing dates of February and May 2011 it has the option to exercise its put right and require that the

Series Preferred Stock be redeemed for cash at an amount equal to the outstanding principal plus accrued and

unpaid dividends amounting to $538.0 million as the end of the sixth year So long as Viscaria Limited remains

shareholder of iGATE Series Preferred Stock the issuance of future dividends except cash dividends payable

to holders of the Companys stock of up to 25% of the net income of the Company will require the consent of

majority of the investor holders In the event the Company declares or pays any dividend upon the Companys

common stock in cash securities or other property other than dividend payable solely in shares of common

stock the Company is required to declare and pay to the holders of the Series Preferred Stock at the same time

the dividends which would have been declared and paid with respect to the common stock issuable upon

conversion had all of the Series Preferred Stock been immediately converted The terms of our Senior Notes

and Term Loans also contain restrictions on our ability to declare dividends While the Board of Directors may

have the ability to declare dividends subject to certain restrictions it is likely that cash from operations will be

used for working capital and to service debt over the next few years rather than for the payment of dividends in

the foreseeable future

As of December 31 2012 we had $22.1 million of unrecognized tax benefits This represents the tax

benefits associated with certain tax positions on our domestic and international tax returns that have not been

recognized on our financial statements due to uncertainty regarding their resolution The resolution or settlement

of these tax positions with the relevant taxing authorities is at various stages and therefore we are unable to make

reliable estimate of the eventual cash flows by period that may be required to settle these matters

Our primary future cash requirements will be to fund working capital debt service capital expenditures and

benefit obligations In addition to our working capital requirements we expect our primary cash requirements for

2012 to be as follows

Debt service We expect to make payments of approximately $80.1 million during 2013 for interest

associated with senior notes and bank borrowings

Capital expenditures We have budgeted $80.4 million for new and existing facility expansion new

hardware and software during 2013 Of this we have open purchase obligations of $54.8 million

towards construction of new facilities and purchase of property and equipment We will fund the entire

capital expenditures through combination of available cash reserves and short term investments and

expect to fund the costs of future expansion through our net cash flows provided by operations

We and our subsidiaries may from time to time seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debt including

publicly issued debt through cash purchases and/or exchanges in open market purchases privately negotiated

transactions by tender offer or otherwise Such repurchases or exchanges if any will depend on prevailing

market conditions liquidity requirements contractual restrictions and other factors The amounts involved may

be material
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Future Sources of Liquidity

We expect our primary source of cash to be positive net cash flows provided by operating activities Further

we continue to focus on cost reductions and have initiated steps to reduce overheads and provide cash savings In

2012 we initiated the simplification of our corporate structure by completing the merger of our subsidiaries in

the United States We also initiated the
merger

of our Indian subsidiaries through court approved process which

commenced in October 2012 and is expected to be completed in 2013 We expect to save significant costs due to

these internal mergers For more information on the Merger please refer to the disclosure provided in Item

Recent Events Impacting Future Operations in this Form 10 and in the Schedule TO we filed on January 03

2013

The Company currently has two revolving credit facilities providing for borrowings of up to an aggregate of

$120 million subject to certain contractual limitations As of December 31 2012 we had borrowed $77 million

under the revolving credit facilities Both revolving credit facilities include other conditions that if not complied

with could restrict our availability to borrow

For more information on the revolving credit facilities and the restrictions on borrowing thereunder please

refer to Note Borrowing and Note Senior Notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this Form 10-K

In order to meet our cash needs we may from time to time repatriate borrow under our credit facilities or

issue long term or short-term debt or equity if the market and our credit facilities and the indentures governing

our notes permit us to do so For more information on the income tax consequences of the repatriation of the

earnings of our foreign subsidiaries please refer to the disclosure provided in Item Liquidity and Capital

Resources in this Form 10-K We regularly evaluate market conditions our liquidity profile and various

financing alternatives for opportunities to enhance our capital structure If market conditions are favorable we

may refinance our existing debt or issue additional securities

On November 29 2010 iGATE filed with the SEC the second amendment to registration statement on

Form S-3 relating to proposed follow-on public offering of 10 million shares of its common stock million

shares offered by its selling shareholders and $100 million of debt securities If we do not generate sufficient

cash from operations face unanticipated cash needs such as the need to fund significant strategic acquisitions or

do not otherwise have sufficient cash and cash equivalents we may need to incur additional debt or issue

additional equity

Based on past performance and current expectations we expect our existing cash cash equivalents and

short-term investments of $606.0 million as of December 31 2012 and our ongoing cash flows external

borrowings or foreign earnings that are not deemed permanently reinvested to be sufficient to meet our operating

liquidity requirements described above for at least the twelve 12 months following this report

Debt Service Obligations

As result of the acquisition of iGATE Computer our level of indebtedness increased As of December 31

2012 principal payments due under our indebtedness were $1.1 billion excluding capital lease obligations of

$1.0 million Our interest expense for the year 2012 was $83.8 million and includes $12.4 million of accrued

interest expense

Our leverage requires that substantial portion of our cash flows from operations be dedicated to the

payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness We continually monitor our exposure to the risk of

increased interest rates as portions of our borrowings under our credit facilities are at variable rates of interest

The Company has made all scheduled payments timely under the indenture governing its senior notes and

the revolving credit facilities
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements

Seasonality

Our operations are generally not affected by seasonal fluctuations However our consultants billable hours

are affected by national holidays and vacation policies which vary by country

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation had significant impact on our results of operations for the periods

presented On an ongoing basis we attempt to minimize any effects of inflation on our operating results by

controlling operating costs and whenever possible seeking to insure that billing rates reflect increases in costs

due to inflation

For all significant foreign operations the functional currency is the local currency Assets and liabilities of

these operations are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each period end Statement of Income accounts are

translated at the exchange rate prevailing as of the date of the transaction The gains or losses resulting from such

translation are reported under accumulated other comprehensive income loss as separate component of equity

Realized gains and losses from foreign currency
transactions are included in other income net for the periods

presented

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

For information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements and the impact of these pronouncements

on our audited consolidated financial statements see Note Company Overview and Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk Factors

We are exposed to market risks from adverse changes in foreign exchange rates interest rates especially the

INR We do not engage in speculative or leveraged transactions nor do we hold or issue financial instruments for

trading purposes

Foreign Exchange Rate Sensitivity

Our cash flow and earnings are subject to fluctuations due to exchange rate variation between the INR and

USD CAD JPY Euro and GBP This foreign currency risk exists based upon the nature of the subsidiary

operations namely iGATE Global and iGATE Computer For example the majority of the revenue that the

Company derives from operations originates from services provided to two customers in the United States and

Canada This results in an inherent foreign currency risk between USD CAD and INR exchange rates
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We attempt to limit our exposure to changing INR rates mainly through financial market transactions These

transactions may include entering into forward or option contracts to hedge existing exposures The instruments

are used to reduce risk by essentially creating offsetting currency exposures The following table presents

information related to foreign currency contracts held by the Company in thousands

Currency

US Dollar contracts

CAD contracts

JPY contracts

GBP contracts

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31 2012

Amount Local Currency Amount USD

236150 $236150

30500 30663

282

10300 16648

$283464

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as result of long term and short term debt

The nature and amount of the Companys long-term and short-term debt can be expected to vary as result of

future business requirements market conditions and other factors

Effect of Hypothetical 10% Fluctuation In Market Prices

Our primary net foreign currency exposure is the INR The fair value of foreign exchange contracts are

subject to changes in foreign currency exchange rates

As of December 31 2012 the potential gain or loss in the fair value of the Companys outstanding foreign

currency contracts assuming hypothetical 10% 5% 2% and 1% fluctuations in currency rates would be

approximately in millions

Valuation given X% decrease
Fair Value

in Rupee /USD rate
as of

10% 5% 2% 1% December3l2012

Rupee to USD rate 49.49 52.24 53.89 54.44 54.99

Derivative Instruments 24.0 7.8 l.l$ 3.9 6.7

Valuation given X% increase

in Rupee 1USD rate

1% 2% 5% 10%

55.54 56.09 57.74 60.49

9.5$12.2$19.9$31.9

However it should be noted that any change in the fair value of the contracts real or hypothetical would be

significantly offset by an inverse change in the value of the underlying hedged items In relation to currency

contracts this hypothetical calculation assumes that each exchange rate would change in the same direction

relative to the USD
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Financial Statements and Supplementary Data required by this item are filed as part of this Form 10-K

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 68 of this Form 10-K

66



MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of iGATE Corporation and subsidiaries have been

prepared by management which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity The statements have been

prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and

necessarily include amounts based on managements best estimates and judgments

The Companys Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31 2012 have been

audited by Ernst Young Associates an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm whose report thereon

appears on page
69 of this Form 10-K

The Board of Directors pursues
its responsibility for the Companys financial reporting and accounting

practices through its Audit Committee all of the members of which are independent directors The Audit

Committees duties include recommending to the Board of Directors the Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firmto audit the Companys financial statements reviewing the scope and results of the independent

accounting firms activities and reporting the results of the committees activities to the Board of Directors The

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm has met with the Audit Committee in the presence of

management representatives to discuss the results of their audit work The Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firmhas direct access to the Audit Committee

Phaneesh Murthy

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

Sujit Sircar

Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of iGATE Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of iGATE Corporation as of December 31

2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income equity and cash

flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2012 These financial statements are the

responsibility of iGATE management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of iGATE Corporation at December 31 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States iGATE Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based

on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 18 2013 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young Associates

Gurgaon India

March 18 2013
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iGATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Amounts in thousands except share and per share data

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 95155 75440
Restricted cash 3072

Short-term investments 510816 354528

Accounts receivable net 162335 172898

Unbilled revenues 72901 45223

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 31710 18752

Prepaid income taxes 8541 8341

Deferred tax assets 14655 20574

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 782 277

Total current assets 899967 696033

Deposits and other assets 25372 32102

Prepaid income taxes 28351 18481

Property and equipment net 167252 175672

Leasehold land 86933 90339

Deferred tax assets 30635 30456

Goodwill 493141 511060

Intangible assets net 144428 160706

Total assets $1876079 $1714849

LIABILITIES REDEEMABLE NON CONTROLLING INTEREST
PREFERRED STOCK AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 7799 7857

Line of credit 77000 57000

Term loans 35000

Accrued payroll and related costs 54802 71913

Other accrued liabilities 79008 77988

Accrued income taxes 9134 3993

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 7516 12471

Deferred revenue 17890 22412

Total current liabilities 288149 253634

Other long-term liabilities 3265 4610

Senior notes 770000 770000

Term loans 263500

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 6739

Accrued income taxes 17272 17672

Deferred tax liabilities 55494 58992

Total liabilities 1397680 1111647

Commitments and Contingencies Note 24
Redeemable non controlling interest 32422

Series Preferred stock without par value 480000 shares authorized 330000 shares issued and

outstanding 378474 349023

iGATE Corporation shareholders equity

Preferred shares without par value 19520000 shares authorized share held in treasury

Common shares par value $0.01 per share

700000000 shares authorized 58533405 and 57696430 shares issued 57543303 and 56706328

shares outstanding as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 585 577

Common shares held in treasury at cost 990102 shares 14714 14714
Additional paid-in capital 185340 201281

Retained earnings 170875 104493

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 274583 214641

Total iGATE Corporation shareholders equity 67503 76996

Non-controlling interest 177183

Total equity 67503 254179

Total liabilities redeemable non controlling interest preferred stock and equity $1876079 $1714849

See accompanying notes
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GATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Amounts in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenues $1073930 $779646 $280597

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation and amortization 649810 483504 167906

Gross margin 424120 296142 112691

Selling general and administrative expense 171471 151497 50669

Depreciation and amortization 46382 38735 9014

Income from operations 206267 105910 53008

Interest expense 83766 50608 108

Foreign exchange gain loss net 20084 13076 377
Other income net 28491 15894 5171

Income before income taxes 130908 84272 57694

Income tax expense 30599 24218 5939

Net income 100309 60054 51755

Non controlling interest 4476 8586

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation 95833 51468 51755

Accretion to preferred stock 404 302

Preferred dividend 29047 22147

Net income attributable to iGATE common shareholders 66382 29019 51755

Distributed earnings per share

Common stock 0.26

Unvested restricted stock 0.26

Participating preferred stock 1.55 1.28

Basic earnings per share

Common stock 0.87 0.39 0.92

Unvested restricted stock 0.87 0.39 0.92

Participating preferred stock 2.42 1.67

Diluted earnings per share 0.85 0.38 0.90

See accompanying notes
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iGATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net income attributable to iGATE common shareholders 66382 29019 $51755

Add Non controlling interest 4476 8586

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on marketable securities net of tax of $3170 $266 and $0

respectively 5615 1987 1060

Unrecognized actuarial gain loss on pension liability net of tax of $73 $4

and $0 respectively 175 198 101
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges net of tax of $9164 $8980 and $0

respectively 22586 22912 2088

Gain loss on foreign currency translation 44689 235528 8323

Total comprehensive income loss 54195 218650 63125

Less Total comprehensive income loss attributable to non controlling

interest net of tax of $0 $1376 and $0 respectively 4476 34693

Total comprehensive income loss attributable to iGATE common

shareholders 49719 $183957 $63125

See accompanying notes
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Balance December 31
2009 55136107

Exercise of stock options

including total tax benefit

recognized of $1.2 million 670371

Vesting of restricted stock

awards 420167

Payment of withholding taxes

related to restricted stock

iGATE stock-based

compensation expense
Cash dividend declared on common

stock per share $0.26

Net Income

Other comprehensive income

Balance December 31
2010 56226645

Exercise of stock options

including total tax benefit

recognized of $1.6 million 169603

Vesting of restricted stock

awards 310080

Stock-based compensation

expense

Exercise of subsidiary stock

options

Subsidiary stock-based

compensation expense

Purchase acquisition

Net Income

Other comprehensive loss

Balance December 31
2011 56706328

iGATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Accumulated

Series Additional Other Total Redeemable
Common Stock

__________________ Preferred Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive Equity- Noncontrolling Total Non Controlling

Shares Par Value Shares Capital earnings Shares Loss IGATE interest Equity Interest

Dollars in thousands

$180278 38228 $14714 13035 191318$561

$572

191318

2424 2431 2431

964 964 964

6651 6651 6651

14509
51755

11370

14509
51755

11370

14509
51755

11370

$188389 75474 $14714 1665 248056 248056

1337 1339 1339

7447 7447 7447

813 813 813

3295

29019

212976

3295

29019

212976

211876

8586

43279

3295

211876

37605

256255

$577 $201281 $104493 $14714 $214641 76996 $177183 254179



iGATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY Continued

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Accumulated

St
Series Additional Other Total Redeemable

ommon OC
Preferred Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive Equity- Noncontrouing Total Non Controlling

Shares Par Value Shares Capital earnings Shares Loss iGATE interest Equity Interest

Dollars in thousands

Balance December 31
2011 56706328 $577 $201281 $104493 $14714 $214641 76996 $177183 254179

Exercise of stock options

including total tax benefit

recognizedof$0.8million 423298 2518 2522 2522

Vesting of restricted stock

awards 413677

Exercise of subsidiary stock

options 5490 5490 5490

Stock-based compensation

expense 12274 12274 12274

Purchase of additional non

controlling interest 25830 43279 69109 91889 160998
Recognition of redeemable non

controlling interest 10393 10393 89770 100163 100163

Purchase of additional redeemable

non-controlling interest 67377
Redeemable non controlling interest

foreign exchange adjustments .. 364
Net Income 66382 66382 4476 70858

Othercomprehensiveloss 16663 16663 16663

Balance December 31
2012 57543303 $585 $185340 $170875 $14714 $274583 67503 67503 32422

See accompanying notes



iGATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 100309 60054 51755

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 46382 38735 9014

Stock based compensation 12274 10742 6651

Write off of software implementation costs 1196
Provision for rescission of land sale contract 909

Provision for lease termination 446

Realized gain on investments 20764 3304 3014
Equity in income of affiliated companies 149
Provision recovery of doubtful debts 1681 1055 440
Deferred gain loss on settled derivatives 18173 20207
Deferred income taxes 10201 4454 6506
Loss gain on sale of property and equipment 28 51 1370
Loss gain on investments in affiliate 551 568
Deferred rent 161 24 21
Amortization of debt issuance costs 6826 3655

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 320 630 341

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 15821 19895 16535
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17287 470 643
Accounts payable 2417 6711 916

Accrued and other liabilities 16720 5194 21954

Restructuring reserve 101
Deferred revenue 3015 1534 266

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 100371 82488 61167

CASH FLOWS FROM IN VESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment 31309 21439 16844
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 82 305 3280

Purchases of available-for-sale investments 1766988 565807 145760
Proceeds from maturities and sale of available-for-sale investments 1623627 555726 146.829

Restricted cash 3072
Receipts from payments of lease deposits 327 2211 338

Proceeds from sale of investments in affiliate 568

Payment for acquisition net of cash acquired 1168404
Purchase of non-controlling interests 228375

Net cash flows used in investing activities 406362 1197408 11589

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments on capital
lease obligations 114 355 221

Proceeds from line of credit and term loans 318500 57000

Proceeds from sale of preferred stock net of issuance costs 326574

Payment of delisting related financing costs 3263
Proceeds from senior notes 770000

Payment of debt issuance costs 33456
Dividends paid 14509
Purchase of subsidiarys stock 45
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2206 709 2083

Proceeds from exercise of subsidiary stock options 5490 813

Payment of withholding taxes related to restricted stock 964
Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 320 630 341

Net cash flows provided by used in financing activities 323139 1121915 13315

Effect of exchange rate changes 2567 521 2096

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 19715 7516 38359
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 75440 67924 29565

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 95155 75440 67924

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Cash payment for income taxes 41672 31945 6974

Cash payment of interestexpense 75667 35708 110

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capitalized leases 539 430 335

See accompanying notes
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iGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

Company Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

1.1 Company Overview

iGATE Corporation iGATE or the Company is one of the leading providers of Information

Technology IT and IT-enabled operations offshore outsourcing solutions services to large and medium-size

organizations iGATE provides end-to-end business solutions that leverage technology thus enabling its clients

to enhance their business performance

On May 12 2011 the Company through two of its 100% owned subsidiaries Pan-Asia iGATE Solutions

Pan Asia and iGATE Global Solutions Limited iGATE Global and together with Pan Asia the

Promoters completed the acquisition of majority stake in iGATE Computer Systems Limited iGATE
Computer formerly known as Patni Computer Systems Limited the iGATE Computer Acquisition iGATE

Computer is incorporated in India under the Indian Companies Act 1956 iGATE Computer is engaged in IT

consulting software development and business process outsourcing BPO

1.2 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying financial data has been prepared by the Company in accordance with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles GAAP

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on consolidated basis and reflect the financial

statements of iGATE and all of its subsidiaries that are more than 50% owned or controlled When the Company

does not have controlling interest in an entity but exerts significant influence on the entity the Company

applies the equity method of accounting and are initially recorded at cost All inter-company transactions and

balances are eliminated in consolidation

1.3 Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes Significant

items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of property and equipment carrying

amount of property and equipment intangibles and goodwill valuation allowance for receivables and deferred

tax assets valuation of derivative instruments valuation of share-based compensation assets and obligations

related to employee benefits income tax uncertainties and other contingencies and commitments Management

believes that the estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prudent and

reasonable Although these estimates are based upon managements best knowledge of current events and

actions actual results could differ from these estimates Appropriate changes in estimates are made as

management become aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates Changes in estimates are

reflected in the financial statements in the period in which changes are made and if material their effects are

disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

1.4 Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues primarily from IT services and to lesser extent from BPO services

Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of contractual arrangement with customers services

have been rendered the fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured The Company has

concluded that it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement when it enters into an agreement with its clients with
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iGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31 2012

terms and conditions which describe the services and the related payments are legally enforceable When the

terms of the agreement specify service level parameters that must be met the Company monitors such service

level parameters and determines if there are any service credits or penalties which need to be accounted for

Revenue is recognized net of any service credits that are due to client and net of applicable taxes and includes

reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses with the corresponding cost for out-of-pocket expenses included in

cost of revenue

IT services are provided either on fixed price fixed time frame or on time and material basis Revenue

with respect to time-and-material contracts is recognized as the related services are performed Time-and-

material contracts typically bill at an agreed upon hourly or daily rate The Companys fixed price contracts

include application maintenance and support services on which revenue is recognized ratably over the term of

maintenance

Revenue related to fixed-price contracts that provide for highly complex IT application development

services are recognized as the services are performed using the percentage of completion method with input

cost to cost method while contracts that do not provide for highly complex IT development services are

recognized as the services are performed using proportional performance basis with input efforts expended

method The Company considers the input method to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts

as there is direct relationship between input and productivity

Costs are recorded as incurred over the contract period Provisions for estimated losses if any on

uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which such losses become probable based on the current

contract estimates

Revenues from BPO services are derived from both time-based and transaction-priced contracts Revenue

from these contracts are recognized on rendering of the services as per
the terms of the contract

The Company grants volume discounts to certain customers which are computed based on pre-determined

percentage of the total revenues from those customers during specified period as per the terms of the contract

These discounts are earned only after the customer has provided specified cumulative level of revenues in the

specified period

The Company also provides cash discounts to certain customers which are computed based on pre

determined percentage of the receivables depending on the payment schedule The Company reports revenues net

of discounts offered to customers

Unbilled revenue represents revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed These amounts are billed after

the milestones specified in the agreement are achieved Billing done during the reporting period in excess of

revenue recognized or billing done in advance is recorded as deferred revenue until the revenue recognition

criteria is met

Direct and incremental contract origination and set up costs incurred in connection with supporti

maintenance service arrangements are charged to expense as incurred These costs are deferred only in situations

where there is contractual arrangement establishing customer relationship for specified period The costs to

be deferred are limited to the extent of future contractual revenues Further revenue attributable to set up

activities is deferred and recognized systematically over the periods that the related fees are earned as services

performed during such period do not result in the culmination of separate earnings process
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iGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 312012

Warranty costs on sale of services are accrued based on managements estimates and historical data at the

time related revenues are recorded

1.5 Cash and cash equivalents

The Company classifies all highly liquid investments including fixed term deposits with original maturity

at the date of purchase of three months or less and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash to be

cash equivalents

1.6 Investments

Management determines the appropriate classification of investment securities at the time of purchase and

re-evaluates such designation at each balance sheet date As of December 31 2012 and 2011 investment

securities were classified as available-for-sale short-term investments The investment securities classified as

available-for-sale consists of units of liquid and fixed maturity mutual funds and other investments Other

investment primarily consists of certificate of deposit with banks and non convertible debentures which are

carried at fair value The investments that are expected to be realized in cash within one year but do not

otherwise qualify as cash equivalents are classified as short-term investments The investments that are not

expected to be realized in cash within one year are classified as other investments and disclosed as part of

Deposits and other assets in balance sheet

The Company accounts for its investments in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB ASC Topic 320 Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities These

investments are considered available for sale and are recorded at fair value with the unrealized gains or losses

net of tax reported as component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of

equity The unrealized gain or loss is the difference between the Companys original cost for an investment and

the investments fair value at each reporting period The fair values represent either the quoted market prices for

the investments at balance sheet date where available or Net Asset Value NAV as stated by the issuers of

these mutual fund units in the published statements NAVs represent the price at which the issuer will issue

further units in the mutual fund and the price at which the issuer will redeem such units from the investors

Accordingly such NAY are analogous to fair market value with respect to these investments as transactions

of these mutual funds are carried out at such prices between investors and the issuers of these units of mutual

funds Fair value of investments in certificate of deposits classified as available for sale is determined using

observable market inputs

The Companys investments consist primarily of investment in debt linked mutual funds and certificates of

deposit with banks Fair value of debt linked mutual funds are based on prices as stated by the issuers of mutual

funds and are classified as Level or after considering whether the fair value is readily determinable Fair

value of investments in certificate of deposits classified as available for sale is determined using observable

market inputs and are classified as Level

Realized gains and losses and decline in value judged to be other than temporary on available-for-sale

securities are included in the consolidated statements of income The cost of securities sold or disposed is

determined on First in First out FIFO method

1.7 Accounts Receivable

The Company extends credit to clients based upon managements assessment of their creditworthiness

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest
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iGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

1.8 Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

Accounts receivable are reviewed periodically to determine the probability of loss The allowance for

uncollectible accounts or doubtful debts is determined using specific identification method for balances deemed

uncollectible Accounts receivable balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection

have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote

1.9 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost The Company provides for depreciation using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives Upon disposal assets and related accumulated depreciation are removed

from the Companys accounts and the resulting gains and losses are reflected in other income net in the

Consolidated Statements of Income Improvement and betterments that extend the useful life of an asset are

capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset

Leased capital assets are recorded at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of

the minimum lease payments during the lease term and depreciated over their useful life or the lease term

whichever is shorter The depreciation on the same is disclosed as part of the accumulated depreciation on

property and equipment

The estimated useful lives of assets are as follows

Building 25 40 years

Computer equipment years

Furniture and fixtures years

Vehicles
years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the life of the improvement or lease term

ranging from to 10 years

Leased capital assets Shorter of the life of the leased asset or lease term

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property and equipment and the cost of property and equipment

not put to use before the balance sheet date are disclosed under the caption capital work-in-progress in Note 11

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment arise There were no

impairment charges related to property and equipment recognized during the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010

Software that has been purchased is included in property and equipment and is amortized using the straight-

line method over one to three years

1.10 Accounting for leases

The Company leases its delivery centers and office facilities under operating lease agreements that are

renewable on periodic basis at the option of the lessor and the lessee The lease agreements contain rent free

periods and rent escalation clauses Lease payments under operating leases are recognized as an expense on

straight-line basis over the lease term

The Company procures certain networking components office equipments and vehicles under financing

lease arrangement The lease classification and accounting of the finance lease is accounted for in accordance
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with FASB ASC Topic 840 Accounting for Leases The lower of the fair value of the leased property or the

present value of the minimum lease payment is capitalized as an asset with corresponding liability and

depreciated on straight-line basis over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset whichever is

shorter

1.11 Goodwill and intangible assets

The Company accounts for its business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting Intangible

assets acquired in business combination are recognized and reported separately from goodwill Goodwill

represents the cost of the acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible net

assets purchased The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in

circumstances such as decline in operating results business plans and future cash flows indicate its carrying

value may not be recoverable

The provisions of ASC 350 requires that recoverability of goodwill be evaluated using two-step process

Under the first step the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the goodwill resides is compared with

its carrying value of the assets and liabilities including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds

its carrying value step two does not need to be performed If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its

carrying value an indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the step two of the

impairment test measurement is performed Under step two an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of

the carrying amount of the reporting units goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair

value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in manner similar to purchase

price allocation in business combination The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of

the reporting unit goodwill

The fair values used in this evaluation are estimated based upon the market capitalization adjusted for

control premium and discounted future cash flow analysis The discounted future cash flow analysis is based

upon number of estimates and assumptions including operating results and business plans The Company

performs its annual impairment review of goodwill on November 30 and when triggering event occurs between

annual impairment tests Based on the results of its annual impairment tests the Company determined that no

impairment of goodwill existed as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Intangible assets are initially valued at fair market value using generally accepted valuation methods

appropriate for the type of intangible asset Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over the estimated

useful lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment arise such as termination of contracts

with customers restructuring actions or plans or downward revisions to forecasts The evaluation of impairment

is based upon comparison of the carrying amount of the intangible asset to the estimated future undiscounted

net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset If estimated future undiscounted cash flows are less than the

carrying amount of the asset the asset is considered impaired The impairment expense is determined by

comparing the estimated fair value of the intangible asset to its carrying value with any
shortfall from fair value

recognized as an expense in the current period The estimated fair value is computed based on the forecasted

future revenue and cash flows from the customer contracts

As of December 31 2012 the definite lived intangible assets predominantly comprise customer relationship

and balance relates to intellectual property rights The estimated useful life of customer relationship and

intellectual property rights is 15 years and 0.5 year to years respectively Customer relationship and

intellectual property rights are amortized over their respective individual estimated useful lives in proportion to

the economic benefits consumed in each period i.e based on ratio of the undiscounted cash
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flows for period to the total estimated undiscounted cash flows The estimated useful life of an identifiable

intangible asset is based on number of factors including the effects of obsolescence demand competition and

other economic factors such as the stability of the industry and known technological advances and the level of

maintenance expenditures required to obtain the expected future cash flows from the asset

1.12 Foreign currency

The consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S Dollars which is the Companys functional

currency As per ASC 830 the Company determines the functional currency of all its foreign entities

Accordingly for those foreign entities where the functional currency is the home currency and is non U.S

Dollar the translation of the functional currencies of such entities into U.S Dollars is performed for balance

sheet accounts using the exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet date and for revenues and expense

accounts using the exchange rate prevailing as of the date of the transaction The gains or losses resulting from

such translation are reported under accumulated other comprehensive income loss as separate component of

equity

For those foreign entities where the functional currency is not the home currency and is non U.S Dollar

translation gains and losses are recorded in net earnings

Monetary assets and liabilities of all the entities denominated in currencies other than the entitys functional

currency are translated into the respective functional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance

sheet date and gains or losses are recorded in the income statement

1.13 Earnings per share

The Company computes earnings per share in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 260 Earnings per

Share and FASB ASC Topic 260-10-45 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment

Transactions Are Participating Securities Basic earnings per share for different classes of stock common

stock unvested restricted stock and Series Preferred Stock is calculated by dividing net income available to

each class by the weighted average number of shares outstanding for each class Diluted earnings per share is

computed using the weighted average number of common stock unvested restricted stock plus the potentially

dilutive effect of common stock and Series Preferred Stock equivalents

1.14 Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method as described in FASB ASC Topic 740-10

Accounting for Income Taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences

attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and

their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to

apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled

The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized as income or expense in the

period that includes the enactment date The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced if necessary by

valuation allowance for any tax benefits of which future realization is not more-likely-than-not Changes in

valuation allowance from period to period are reflected in the income statement of the period of change Tax

benefits of deductions earned on exercise of employee stock options in excess of compensation charged to

earnings are credited to additional paid in capital Deferred taxes are not provided on the undistributed earnings

of non-U.S subsidiaries as it is expected that the earnings of the foreign subsidiaries will be indefinitely

reinvested

FASB ASC Topic 740 Accounting for Income Taxes on the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes

recognized in an enterprises financial statements prescribes recognition threshold of more-likely-than-not to

be sustained upon examination Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that has
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greater
than 50% likelihood of being realized Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period

in which change in judgment occurs Interest related to uncertain tax positions are disclosed within the interest

expense line in the consolidated statements of income

1.15 Derivative instruments and hedging activities

The Company enters into foreign currency forward and option contracts foreign exchange derivative

contracts to mitigate and manage the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates on inter-company and end

customer accounts receivables and forecasted sales and inter-company transactions The Company hedges

anticipated sales transactions that are subject to foreign exchange exposure with foreign exchange derivative

contracts that are designated effective and that qualify as cash flow hedges under ASC Topic 815 Derivatives

and Hedging ASC No 815

As part of its hedge strategy the Company also enters into foreign exchange derivative contracts which are

replaced with successive new contracts up to the period in which the forecasted transaction is expected to occur

i.e roll-over hedges In case of rollover hedges the hedge effectiveness is assessed based on changes in fair

value to the extent of changes in spot prices and recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss

until the hedged transactions occur and at that time is recognized in the consolidated statements of income

Accordingly the changes in the fair value of the contract related to the changes in the difference between the spot

price and the forward price i.e forward premium/discount are excluded from assessment of hedge effectiveness

and are recognized in consolidated statements of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss

In respect of foreign exchange derivative contracts which hedge the foreign currency
risk associated with

the both anticipated sales transaction and the collection thereof dual purpose hedges the hedge effectiveness is

assessed based on overall changes in fair value with the effective portion of gains or losses included in

accumulated other comprehensive income loss The effective portion of gain or loss attributable to forecasted

sales are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income loss and recognized in consolidated

statements of income when the sales transaction occurs Post the date of sales transaction the Company

reclassifies an amount from accumulated other comprehensive income loss to earnings to offset foreign

currency translation gain loss recorded for the respective receivable during the period In addition the

Company determines the amount of cost to be ascribed to each period of the hedging relationship based on the

functional currency interest rate implicit in the hedging relationship and recognizes this cost by reclassifying it

from accumulated other comprehensive income loss to consolidated statements of income for recognized

receivables based on the pro rata method

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges deemed ineffective are recognized in the consolidated

statement of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss The Company also uses foreign exchange

derivatives contracts not designated as hedging instruments under ASC No 815 to hedge intercompany and end

customer accounts receivables and other monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency Changes in the fair value of these foreign exchange derivative contracts are recognized in the

consolidated statements of income and are included in foreign exchange gain loss

In respect of foreign exchange derivative contracts designated as hedges the Company formally documents

all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk management objective and

strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions The Company evaluates hedge effectiveness at the time

contract is entered into as well as on an ongoing basis If during this time contract is deemed ineffective the

change in the fair value is recorded in the consolidated statements of income and is included in foreign exchange

gain loss In situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the foreign exchange derivative contract
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remains outstanding the net derivative gain or loss continue to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive

income unless it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified

time period as documented at the inception of the hedging relationship or within an additional two-month

period of time thereafter

1.16 Stock based compensation

FASB ASC Topic 718-10-25 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation requires compensation costs

related to share-based transactions including employee share options to be recognized in the financial

statements based on its fair value The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options net of

estimated forfeitures which are estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary
in subsequent periods if

actual forfeitures differ from those estimates Stock-based compensation recognized in the Consolidated

Statement of Income is based on awards ultimately expected to vest

The Company has elected to use the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model to determine the fair value of

share-based awards on the date of grant which is recorded as an expense on straight-line basis over the vesting

term

1.17 Employee benefits

Defined Contribution Plans

Eligible employees of the Company in India receive benefits from the Provident Fund administered by the

Government of India which is defined contribution plan Both the employees and the Company make monthly

contributions to the Provident Fund equal to specified percentage of the eligible employees salary

Eligible employees of the Company in the United States may elect to participate in an employee retirement

savings plan maintained pursuant to Section 40 1k of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the 401k Plan The 401k Plan allows for employees to defer portion of their annual earnings

on pre-tax basis through voluntary contributions to the 401k Plan The Company may make discretionary

matching contributions under the 401k Plan but the Company is not currently making any such matching

contributions

The Company has no further funding obligation under defined contribution plans beyond the contributions

elected or required to be made under these plans Contributions are charged to income in the year in which they

are incurred and are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income

Defined Benefit Plans

Employees in India are entitled to benefits under the Gratuity Act defined benefit retirement plan

covering eligible employees The plan provides for lump-sum payment to eligible employees at retirement

death and incapacitation or on termination of employment of an amount based on the respective employees

salary and tenure of employment In India iGATE Global contributes to funds administered and managed by the

ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited and Reliance Life Insurance Company Limited the Fund

Administrators to fund the gratuity liability of its Indian subsidiaries Under this scheme the obligation to pay

gratuity remains with the Company although the Fund Administrator administers the scheme

iGATE Computer contributes annually to gratuity fund administered by iGATE Computer through trust

set up
for that purpose All assets of the iGATE Computer plan are owned by the trust and comprised of

investment in government securities government securities based mutual funds and other securities
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Current services costs for defined benefit plans are accrued in the period to which they relate The liability

in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated annually by qualified actuary using the projected unit credit

method The Company recognizes the net funded position of its plans as an asset or liability in the consolidated

balance sheets In measuring the defined benefit obligations the Company uses discount rates based on yields of

high quality fixed income instruments i.e yields on high quality corporate bonds prevailing as at the balance

sheet date for the corresponding tenure of the obligations

1.18 Fair value of financial instruments and concentration of credit risk

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents short-term investments

accounts and unbilled receivables other current assets line of credit accounts payable accrued expenses and

other current liabilities is at fair value due to the short-term maturity of these items and the variable interest rate

on its line of credit borrowings

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist

principally of cash and cash equivalents short-term investments accounts and unbilled receivables and foreign

exchange derivative contracts By their nature all such instruments involve risks including credit risks of

non-performance by counterparties substantial portion of the Companys cash and cash equivalents are

invested with nationally recognized banks located in the United States Canada Europe and India portion of

the funds are also invested in mutual funds time deposits and non convertible debentures with nationally

recognized banks in India Accounts and unbilled receivables are unsecured and are derived from revenue earned

from customers in industries based primarily in the United States Canada and Europe The Company monitors

the credit worthiness of its customers to whom it grants credit terms in the normal course of its business and of

counterparties when it enters into foreign exchange derivative contracts Management believes there is no

significant risk of loss in the event of non-performance of the counterparties to these financial instruments other

than the amounts already provided for in the consolidated financial statements

1.19 Commitments and contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims tax assessments litigation fines and penalties and

other sources are recorded when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment

and/or remediation can be reasonably estimated Legal costs incurred in connection with the same are expensed

as incurred

1.20 Advertising cost

Advertising costs incurred during the year have been expensed The total amount of advertising costs

expensed was $6.1 million $1.3 million and $0 for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

1.21 Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In December 2011 the FASB issued an ASU No 2011-11 Disclosure about Offsetting Assets and

Liabilities which was further amended as ASU No 2013-01 Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about

Offseting Assets and Liabilities which further clarified the scope of the offsetting disclosures The ASU requires

entities to disclose both gross information and net information about both instruments and transactions eligible for

offset in the statement of financial position and instruments and transactions subject to an agreement similar to

master netting arrangement The scope would include derivatives sale and repurchase agreements and reverse sale
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and repurchase agreement and securities borrowing and securities lending arrangements
The objective of this

disclosure is to facilitate comparison between those entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of

U.S GAAP and those entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of IFRS In addition the standard

requires disclosure of collateral received and posted in connection with master netting agreements or similar

arrangements The ASU is effective for annual and interim period for fiscal years beginning on or after January

2013 The Company has evaluated this ASU and determined that the adoption of this ASU is expected to have

disclosure impact only on the consolidated financial statements with effect from interim and annual periods

cornnlencing from January 2013

In February 2013 the FASB issued an ASU No 2013-02 Comprehensive Income Reporting of

Amounts Reclassfied Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income which requires entities to report the

effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the respective line items

in net income if the amount being reclassified is required under U.S GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net

income For other amounts that are not required under U.S GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net

income in the same reporting period an entity is required to cross-reference other disclosures required

under U.S GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts This would be the case when portion of

the amount reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income is reclassified to balance sheet account

instead of directly to income or expense in the same reporting period The ASU is effective for annual and

interim period for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2012 The Company is currently evaluating

this ASU

Business combination

On May 12 2011 the Company through its 100% owned subsidiaries Pan-Asia and iGATE Global

completed the acquisition of 82.4% of the outstanding share capital of iGATE Computer The iGATE Computer

Acquisition was valued at $1.24 billion iGATE Computer provided multiple service offerings to its clients

across various industries including banking and insurance manufacturing retail and distribution life sciences

product engineering communications media and entertainment and utilities These service offerings include

application development and maintenance enterprise software and systems integration services business and

technology consulting product engineering services infrastructure management services customer interaction

services BPO quality assurance and engineering services The Company believes that its strategy of global

delivery model and the iGATE Computer Acquisition positions it well to provide greater breadth of services in

catering to market needs and opportunities

The iGATE Computer Acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in

accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ASC No 805 Business Combination The total

purchase price has been allocated to iGATE Computers net tangible and intangible assets based on their

estimated fair values at the date of acquisition Since the actual results from May 12 2011 through May 15 2011

were not material for convenience the Company utilized May 15 2011 as the acquisition date

The purchase price in excess of amounts allocated to net tangible and intangible assets has been recorded as

goodwill The goodwill recognized is not deductible for income tax purposes
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 2011 in

thousands

Amount

Property and equipment 168608

Intangible assets 196015

Other assets 701859

Other liabilities 189773

876709

Non-controlling interest 211876

Goodwill 574266

Total purchase price $1239099

The following table summarizes the supplemental pro forma results of operations of the Company for the

year
ended December 31 2011 in thousands

Year ended

December 312011

Pro forma revenues $1059403

Pro forma net income attributable to iGATE Corporation common shareholders 51843

In connection with the Companys integration efforts following the iGATE Computer Acquisition the

Company commenced the process of acquiring the remaining 17.6% of iGATE Computers outstanding share

capital from public shareholders and delisting the fully paid-up equity shares of iGATE Computer On March 14

2012 Pan-Asia along with iGATE Global and iGATE issued public announcement regarding the proposed

acquisition of remaining iGATE Computer share capital and delisting the fully paid-up equity shares of iGATE

Computer Delisting of Equity Shares the Offer

The public shareholders holding iGATE Computers equity shares were invited to submit bids via the Offer

that opened on March 28 2012 and closed on March 30 2012 On April 10 2012 iGATE announced the Offer

which resulted in discovered price of Indian Rupee INR 520 per equity share determined through reverse

book building process using the electronic facility of the Bombay Stock Exchange BSE

iGATE Computer then applied to the BSE and the National Stock Exchange NSE to voluntarily delist its

equity shares from those exchanges Upon completion of the purchase of iGATE Computers remaining shares

trading was discontinued as of May 21 2012 and iGATE Computers shares were delisted from the records of

the BSE and the NSE as of May 28 2012 The Promoters announced an Exit Offer Exit Offer on May 28

2012 asking the Residual Shareholders of iGATE Computer to tender their Shares to the Promoters at INR 520 at

any time from May 28 2012 until May 27 2013 Exit Period Subsequently iGATE Computer applied for

voluntary delisting of its ADSs from the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE and for deregistration of the

ADSs under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The ADSs were delisted from the NYSE after the close of

trading on September 28 2012 and became tradable on the U.S over-the-counter market as of October 2012

On October 2012 iGATE Computer filed Form 15 with the SEC deregistering the ADSs from the

SEC reporting requirements The deregistration automatically became effective 90 days after such filing on

December 31 2012 As of December 31 2012 iGATE and its subsidiaries owned 97.8% of the outstanding

equity of iGATE Computer
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Following the integration of iGATE and iGATE Computer the Company began the process of merging
certain subsidiaries As an initial step in this process iGATE Computer entered into share purchase agreement
on August 28 2012 with another subsidiary of the Company iGATE Technologies Inc iTI to transfer all the

shares of iGATE Americas Inc f/ida Patni Americas Inc iAI to iTI for total consideration of $82.9 million
To facilitate this purchase on August 29 2012 iTT borrowed $70 million under term loan agreement from
bank at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 280 basis points see Note On December 31 2012 the Company
merged two of our U.S subsidiaries namely Patni Telecom Inc PTS into iAI and then iAI was merged into

ITT

As part of its integration process the Companys Board of Directors approved the plan to merge the

Companys Indian subsidiaries iGATE Computer with iGATE Global which was subsequently filed with the

High Court of Judicature at Mumbai Accordingly shareholders were sent notice convening meeting of
shareholders Court Convened Meeting or CCM to

approve the Scheme filed with the High Court of Judicature
at Mumbai India

To facilitate the remaining acquisition of iGATE Computers outstanding share capital Pan-Asia borrowed
$228.5 million in cash and received bank guarantee of Rs 1.6 billion or $29.9 million from DBS Bank Ltd
Singapore see Note Of this $218.5 million along with the Companys funds of Rs 93.6 million or

approximately $17.1 million was placed in an escrow for the acquisition of iGATE Computers shares As of
December 31 2012 approximately $228.4 million was utilized to purchase additional 16.9% stake in iGATE
Computers outstanding share capital As of December 31 2012 the escrow account balance was re-measured to

$3.1 million and is disclosed as restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheets

Redeemable Non Controlling Interest

As of December 31 2012 the balance of iGATE Computer shares yet to be purchased was 3.4 million

including vested options of 0.4 million shares As per ASC 480 the Company has recorded the fair value of such
shares totaling $32.4 million and presented this in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet as redeemable non
controlling interest

Series Preferred Stock

On January 10 2011 the Company entered into securities purchase agreement with an entity to raise

equity financing to pay portion of the cash consideration for the iGATE Computer Acquisition Under the

securities purchase agreement the Company agreed to sell in private placement up to 480000 shares of newly
designated 8.00% Series Convertible Participating Preferred Stock no par value

per share the Series

Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of up to $480 million On February 2011 and May 2011
the Company issued 210000 shares and 120000 shares respectively of the Series Preferred Stock for

consideration of $330 million

Significant economic terms of the Series Preferred Stock include

accrues cumulative dividends at rate of 8.00%
per annum which dividends will be added to the

liquidation preference of the Series Preferred Stock and compounded quarterly

is entitled to participate in dividends and other distributions payable on the Companys common stock

on an as-converted basis

provides for holder option to convert the outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid dividends into

the Companys common stock at any time and from time to time at an initial conversion price of

$20.30 per share which conversion price is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances such as the

87



iGATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

Companys sale or issuance of shares of Common Stock is for price per share less than the current

market price of its Common Stock on the date of sale or issue other than issuances under our stock

option or stock ownership plans subdivision or combination of the Companys Common Stock e.g

by stock split or stock dividend wherein the conversion price in effect will be proportionately reduced

or increased on or after such effective or record date and merger reorganization consolidation or sale

of substantially all of our assets

is subject to Company option to convert the Series Preferred Stock into common stock of the

Company after 18 months from the applicable closing date if among other things the volume weighted

average price of the Companys common stock exceeds 205% of the then applicable conversion price

for specified period of time

is redeemable for cash at an amount equal to the outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid

dividends upon the exercise of the holders put right at six years from the last occurring closing date

provides that if the Series Preferred Stock is not sooner converted such preferred stock is subject to

mandatory conversion into shares of the Companys common stock on the date that is six years from

the applicable closing date subject to extension in limited circumstances unless the holder exercises

the put right described in the immediately preceding bullet point and

provides the holder the right to receive prior to any payment in respect of any junior equity securities

the greater of the outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid dividends and the as-converted value

upon liquidation of the Company or upon certain changes of control

The Company incurred issuance costs amounting to $3.4 million which have been netted against the

proceeds received from the issuance of Series Preferred Stock The Series Preferred Stock is being accreted

over period of six years The amount accreted totaled $0.4 million and $0.3 million during the years
ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The Company is accruing for cumulative dividends at rate of 8.00% per annum compounded quarterly

The amount of such dividends accrued was $29.0 million and $22.1 million during the years ended December 31

2012 and 2011 respectively

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 18.8 million and 17.3 million shares of Series Preferred Stock are

potentially convertible into Common Stock

Borrowings

Line of Credit

On February 21 2011 the Company entered into an arrangement
with bank for availing an unsecured

revolving working credit facility of $70 million at an annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 195 basis points The

interest rate was initially renewed on an annual basis and is now renewed periodically This facility was renewed

and the interest rate was changed to LIBOR plus 130 basis points with effect from September 20 2012 As of

December 31 2012 the Company had borrowed $52 million under this line of credit at weighted average

interest rate of 1.95% Interest expense
for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was $0.6 million each

respectively

On May 10 2011 the Company entered into credit agreement with bank for revolving credit

commitments in an aggregate principal U.S Dollar equivalent of $50 million maturing on May 10 2016 The

proceeds are to be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes This facility carries an interest

rate of LIBOR plus 280 basis points As of December 31 2012 the Company had borrowed $25 million under

this revolving credit arrangement at weighted average interest rate of 3.1% Interest expense for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 was $0.2 million and $0.1 million respectively

88



IGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

As of December 31 2012 iGATE Computer has line of credit facility of approximately $11.1 million with

banks for requirements such as pre and post shipment loans export bill discounting overdrafts working capital

demand loans and financial and performance guarantees
This facility bears interest in accordance with rates

negotiated with the bank from time to time This facility is secured by iGATE Computers accounts receivables

and amounts outstanding are payable on demand to the bank upon breach of the terms and conditions of the

credit facility letter As of December 31 2012 $10.4 was unutilized under this line of credit facility

Term Loans

On April 2012 Pan-Asia entered into an amended and restated credit agreement
for secured term loan

facility with the lenders named therein and the DBS Bank LTD Singapore as administrative agent in an

aggregate principal U.S Dollar equivalent of $265 million maturing on June 2014 The borrowings under this

facility carried an interest rate of LIBOR plus an applicable interest rate ranging from 280 basis points to 320

basis points and contained customary representations and warranties events of default and affirmative and

negative covenants This facility is guaranteed by the Company and several of its 100% owned subsidiaries This

facility was undertaken to finance Pan-Asias purchase of the remaining publicly traded equity shares of iGATE

Computer see Note As of December 31 2012 Pan-Asia borrowed $228.5 million in cash at weighted

average
interest rate of 3.01% and received bank guarantee

of INR 1.6 billion or $29.9 million to fund the

purchase of iGATE Computers shares and delisting related expenses The bank guarantee expires on July

2013 In connection with the term loan the Company recorded an interest expense of $5.2 million for the year

ended December 31 2012

On August 29 2012 iTI borrowed $70 million from bank to finance the purchase of iAI see Note

Of this $35 million payable at the end of twelve months has been classified as current liability and the balance is

recorded as noncurrent liability The loan is repayable over period of 18 months and currently carries an

interest rate of LIBOR plus 280 basis points payable at the end of each interest period The loan documents

contain customary representations and warranties events of default and affirmative and negative covenants and

the loan is guaranteed by the Company and several of its 100% owned subsidiaries As of December 31 2012

the interest rate was 3.01% and the Company recorded an interest expense for $0.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2012

In connection with these term loans the Company incurred debt issuance costs of $3.3 million of which

$1.7 million is accounted for as part of prepaid expenses and other current assets and $0.6 million as part of

deposits and other assets These costs are being amortized to interest expense over the respective term of the

loans using the effective interest method The amount amortized was $1.0 million for the year ended

December 31 2012

As of December 31 2012 the Company was in compliance with all covenants associated with the

aforementioned borrowings

Senior Notes

On April 29 2011 the Company sold $770 million of 9.0% senior notes due May 2016 the Notes

through private placement
transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933

pursuant to an Indenture the Indenture by and among the Company iTI and the trustee as supplemented by the

Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 12 2011 by and among the Company iTI iGATE Holding Corporation

iGATE Inc and the trustee The interest is payable semiannually in cash in arrears on May and November of

each year beginning on November 2011 The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company

guaranteed by the Companys domestic 100% owned subsidiaries as identified in Note 23 with limited exceptions
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considered
customary for such guarantees under which subsidiarys guarantee would terminate In accordance

with the terms of the second supplemental indenture dated September 30 2012 iAI 100% owned domestic

subsidiary of iTI was included as guarantor to the senior notes with effect from September 2012 Subsequently

on December 31 2012 as part of an integration process iAI along with PTS were merged into iT

The terms of the Indenture governing the Notes among other things limits the ability of the Company and

its restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred stock ii pay dividends

on or make distributions in respect of their capital stock or repurchase their capital stock iiimake certain

investments or other restricted payments iv sell certain assets create liens or use assets as security in other

transactions vi merge consolidate or transfer or dispose of substantially all of their assets and vii engage in

certain transactions with affiliates These covenants are subject to number of important limitations and

exceptions that are described in the Indenture The Indenture also contains certain financial covenants relating to

Consolidated Priority Debt Leverage Ratio and Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio that the Company is required to

comply with when any of the above events occur As of December 31 2012 no such events have occurred

At any time prior to May 2014 the Company may redeem the Notes in whole or in part at its option at

redemption price equal to 109% of the principal amount of such Notes and accrued and unpaid interest if any to

the redemption date At any time and from time to time on or after May 2014 the Company may redeem the

Notes in whole or in part at redemption price equal to the percentage of principal amount set forth below plus

accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date

12-Month period commencing Percentage

On or after May 12014 104.5%

On or after May 2015 and thereafter 100.0%

Upon the occurrence of change of control triggering event specified in the Indenture the Company must
offer to purchase the Notes at redemption price equal to 101 of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and

unpaid interest if any to the date of purchase

On December 13 2011 the Company issued prospectus pursuant to Registration Rights Agreement which

granted the initial purchasers and any subsequent holders of the Notes certain exchange and registration rights The

exchange offer was completed and as of February 14 2012 all the Notes were tendered by the Note holders

As of December 31 2012 the amortizable debt issuance cost was $24 million of which $6.4 million is

accounted for as part of prepaid expenses and other current assets and $17.6 million as part of deposits and other

assets These costs are being amortized to interest expense over the balance period of approximately three and

half years using the effective interest method The amount amortized was $5.8 million and $3.7 million for the

years ended December 30 2012 and 2011 respectively Interest expense including amortized debt issue costs

for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was $75.1 million and $50.3 million respectively

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Cash and bank balances $95089 $75402

Fixed deposits with banks 66 38

$95155 $75440
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Investments

Short term investments are comprised of the following in thousands

Mutual Funds

Liquid mutual funds

Fixed maturity plan funds

Certificate of deposits with banks and others

Mutual Funds

Liquid mutual funds

Fixed maturity plan funds

Certificate of deposits with banks and others

As of December 31 2012

Carrying Unrealized Gain Fair

Value Loss Value

$458310 8158 $466468

3637 315 3952

37158 3238 40396

$499105 $11711 $510816

As of December 31 2011

Carrying Unrealized Gain

Value Loss Fair Value

$231422 81 $231341

111559 2728 114287

8621 279 8900

$351602 $2926 $354528

Contractual maturities of short-term and other investments in available for sale securities as of

December 31 2012 was as follows dollars in thousands

As of

December 31
2012

Due within one year
$510816

Dividends from available for sale securities gross realized gains and losses on sale of available for sale

securities are as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Dividends 5378 $11058 $3332

Gross realized gains 21438 3700 110

Gross realized losses 674 396 428

$26142 $14362 $3014

The changes in the gross unrealized gain on marketable securities carrying value for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 are as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011

Unrealized gain on marketable securities at the beginning of the year 2926 673

Reclassification into earnings on maturity 20764 3304
Net unrealized gain due to changes in the fair value 29549 5557

Unrealized gain on marketable securities at the end of the year 11711 2926
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The following table provides details of the allowance for doubtful accounts as recorded by the Company in

thousands

Balance at

the beginning Additions on
of the year acquisition

$1494

___________ __________
Additions

433

934 $3485 984

$4014 $1828

The following table presents information related to foreign exchange derivative contracts

OUTSTANDING HEDGE TRANSACTIONS QUALIFYING FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING AS OF
DECEMBER 31 2012 in thousands

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS USD

From

To

Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS CAD

From

To

Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS GBP

From

To

Subtotal

As of December 31

2010

2011

2012

Derivative instruments and hedging activities

Recoveries/

write ofTs

993
$l389

172

Balance at

the end

of the year

934

$4014

$5670

Strike Pnce Fair value as

At Rupee Rate of December 31
Maturity Date Ranges Ranges Amount 2012

31-January-13 51.99

29-November- 13 57.71

$167000 $143

31-January-13 56.15

31-October-13 58.02

30663 286

31 -January- 13 90.02

31-May-13 91.36

8082 30

$173
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OUTSTANDING HEDGE TRANSACTIONS NOT QUALIFYING FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING AS OF

DECEMBER 31 2012 in thousands

Strike Price Fair value

At Rupee Rate as of

Maturity Date Ranges Ranges Amount December 31 2012

FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPTION

CONTRACTS USD
From 29-May-13 46.75

To 48.75

Subtotal 5000 686

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS USD

From 11-January-13 41.16

To 31-March-13 55.09

Subtotal $64150 $6217

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS JPY

From 04-January-13 0.64

To

Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS GBP

From
31-January-13 88.70

To 88.86

Subtotal 8566

$6907
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OUTSTANDING HEDGE TRANSACTIONS QUALIFYING FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING AS OF

DECEMBER 31 2011 in thousands

Strike Price At Fair value as

Maturity Date Rupee of December 31

Ranges Rate Ranges Amount 2011

FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPTION CONTRACTS
USD

From 25-January-12 46.50

To 31-May-13 49.30

Subtotal 19500 2145

FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPTION CONTRACTS

CAD
From 25-January-12 46.00

To 27-April-12 49.70

Subtotal 16889 1340

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS CAD

From 31-May-12 47.73

To 29-June-12 50.54

Subtotal 5875 489

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS USD

From 31-January-12 41.16

To 31-March-13 55.05

Subtotal $281750 $14929

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS GBP

From 31-January-12 81.31

To 30-June-12 85.39

Subtotal 10043 33

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS EURO

From 31-January-12 69.56

To 29-February-12 69.94

Subtotal 1294

$18928
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OUTSTANDING HEDGE TRANSACTIONS NOT QUALIFYING FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING AS OF
DECEMBER 31 2011 in thousands

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS USD

From

To
Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS CAD

From

To
Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS JPY

From

To

Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS GBP

From

To

Subtotal

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD
CONTRACTS EURO

From

To
Subtotal

03-January-12

30-April- 12

03-January- 12

The effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended

December 31 2012 in thousands

Derivatives in

ASC Topic 815

Cash Flow Hedging

Relationships

Location of Amount of

Gain Loss Gain Loss
reclassified from reclassified from

Accumulated Accumulated

OCI into Income OCI into Income

Effective Portion

Location of Amount of

Gain Loss Gain Loss
recognized in recognized

Income on in Income

Derivative Statement

Ineffective Portion and amount excluded

from effectiveness testing

December 31 2012

Maturity Date

Ranges

Strike Price At

Rupee Rate

Ranges

41.13

53.77

52.14

77.68

81.83

69.33

Fair value as

of December 31

Amount 2011

$71600 $108

$1273

969

$10646 98

841

31-January-12

31-January-12

30-January- 12

Amount of

Gain Loss
recognized in OCI

on Derivative

Effective Portion

December 31 2012 December 31 2012

Foreign Exchange $409 Foreign exchange $3 1341 Foreign exchange $4717

Contracts gain loss net gain loss net

Includes deferred gain on settled rollover derivatives amounting to $8.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2012
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The effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended

December 31 2011 in thousands

Location of Amount of Location of Amount of

Derivatives in Amount of Gain Loss Gain Loss Gain Loss Gain Loss

ASC 815 Cash Gain Loss reclassified from reclassified from Recognized in Recognized

Flow Hedging recognized in OCI Accumulated Accumulated Income on in Income

Relationships on Derivative OCI into Income OCI into Income Derivatives Statement

Effective Portion Effective Portion Ineffective Portion and amount excluded from

effectiveness testing

December 31 2011 December 31 2011 December 31 2011

Foreign Exchange $33214 Foreign exchange $l322 Foreign exchange $2366

Contracts gain loss net gain loss net

The effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended

December 31 2010 in thousands

Location of Amount of Location of Amount of

Derivatives in Amount of Gain Loss Gain Loss Gain Loss Gain Loss

ASC 815 Cash Gain Loss reclassified from reclassified from Recognized in Recognized

Flow Hedging recognized in OCI Accumulated Accumulated Income on in Income

Relationships on Derivative OCI into Income OCI into Income Derivatives Statement

Effective Portion Effective Portion Ineffective Portion and amount excluded

from effectiveness testing

December 31 2010 December 31 2010 December 31 2010

Foreign Exchange $2088 Foreign exchange $147 Foreign exchange $0

Contracts gain loss net gain loss net

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Statement of Income

Foreign exchange gain loss net $9905 $880 $0

These foreign exchange derivative contracts were entered into to hedge the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates

for recognized balance sheet items such as inter-company and end customer receivables and were not originally

designated as hedges Realized gains losses and changes in the fair value of these foreign exchange derivative

contracts are recorded in foreign exchange gains losses net in the audited consolidated statements of income

Information on the location and amounts of derivative fair values in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in

thousands

Derivative Instruments Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts

December 312012 December 312011

Balance Sheet Location Designated Not Designated Fair Value Fair Value

Current Assets Designated 780 98

Not Designated
179

Current liabilities Designated 607 $11731

Not Designated $6909 740

Non-current liabilities Designated 6739

Not Designated
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The estimated net amount of existing gains net of taxes as of December 31 2012 that is expected to be

reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings within the next 12 months is $0.4

million

As of January 2012 the Company discontinued designation of all dual purpose foreign exchange

derivative contracts As of December 31 2012 there is no foreign exchange gain or loss continued in

accumulated other comprehensive income in respect of such dc-designated contracts as the forecasted transaction

occurred during the year

The Company mitigates the credit risk of these foreign exchange derivative contracts by transacting with

highly rated counterparties in India which are major banks As of December 31 2012 the Company has

evaluated the credit and non-performance risks associated with the counterparties and believes that the impact of

the credit risk associated with the outstanding derivatives was insignificant

10 Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following in thousands

As of

December 312012 December 31 2011

Prepaid expenses 7332 6173

Advances 2351 2663

Debt issuance costs 8113 5808

Service tax receivable 11659 2980
Other current assets 2255 1128

$31710 $18752

11 Property and equipment net

Property and equipment consist of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Land 6783 7024

Buildings 104810 106002

Furniture and fixtures 57985 55087

Computer equipment 42041 36362

Software 19613 15326

Leasehold improvements 7360 7128

Vehicles 808 599

Leased assets 1286 1052

Property and equipment gross 240686 228580

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization 97577 65378

143109 163202

Capital work in
progress 24143 12470

Property and equipment net $167252 $175672
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Depreciation expense on property and equipment amounted to $34.8 million $30.9 million and $8.2 million

during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively of which amortization on software

amounted to $6.8 million $5.3 and $0.2 million during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively Accumulated depreciation on leased assets amounted to $0.7 million and $0.5 million as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively and accumulated amortization on software amounted to $11.1 million

and $3.2 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

12 Goodwill and intangible assets

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 in

thousands

Amount

Goodwill as of December 31 2010 31741

Addition on account of acquisition 574266

Foreign currency
translation effect 94947

Goodwill at December 31 2011 511060

Addition on account of acquisition

Foreign currency translation effect 17919

Goodwill as of December 31 2012 $493141

The changes in the carrying value of intangible assets for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 in

thousands

Amount

Intangible assets as of December 31 2010 1378

Addition on account of acquisition 196015

Foreign currency translation effect 29417
Amortization 7270

Intangible assets as of December 31 2011 160706

Addition on account of acquisition

Foreign currency translation effect 4723
Amortization 11555

Intangible assets as of December 31 2012 $144428

As of December 31 2012 intangible assets are comprised of the following in thousands

Amount

Customer relationships $189844

Intellectual property rights 9400

Foreign currency translation adjustments 34521
Accumulated amortization 20295

Intangible assets as of December 31 2012 $144428

Intangible assets are amortized over the remaining weighted average period of 13.0
years

Intellectual

property rights are amortized over weighted average period of 4.4 years Customer relationship is amortized

over their estimated useful life of 15 years

98



iGATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

Amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets was $11.6 million $7.8 million and $0.8

million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Future estimated annual

amortization is as follows in thousands

2013 $11173

2014 11591

2015 12097

2016 12520

2017 12141

13 Leases

The Company leases vehicles certain networking components and office equipments under capital leases

which are secured by lien of the underlying asset Future minimum rental payments as of December 31 2012

in thousands

Year ending December 31

2013 461

2014 409

2015 267

2016 102

2017 29

Total minimum lease payments 1268

Less amount representing future interest 250

Present value of minimum lease payments as of December 31 2012 1018

Less current portion 334

Long-term capital lease obligations 684

The Company conducts its operations using facilities under non-cancellable operating lease agreements that

expire at various dates Future minimum lease payments under these agreements are as follows in thousands

Year ending December 31

2013 8621

2014 4918

2015 2349

2016 1084

2017 793

Total minimum lease payments $17765

Rent expense under cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases was $12.4 million $9.6 million and

$4.5 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively
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14 Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Accrued expenses $19494 $13158

Provision for
expenses 18359 19272

Provision for volume discounts 16767 21314

Sales and other taxes 5550 5737

Interest 12391 11580

Other liabilities 6447 6927

$79008 $77988

15 Accumulated other comprehensive loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss was as follows in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Net unrealized gain loss on cash flow hedges net of tax of $184 and $7453 445 18524
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities net of tax of $3436 and $218 8275 2178

Actuarial gain loss relating to defined benefit plan net of tax of $69 and $9 123 20

Loss on foreign currency
translation adjustment 283180 198315

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $274583 $214641

16 Employee benefit plan

Defined Contribution Plan

The Companys contribution to Provident Fund for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was

$8.4 million $6.3 million and $2.4 million respectively

Defined Benefit Plan

iGATE Global and iGATE Computer provide for gratuity defined benefit retirement plan covering

eligible employees in India Liabilities with regard to the plan are determined by actuarial valuation The

following table sets forth the net periodic cost recognized in respect of such plans in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net periodic plan cost

Service cost $3082 $2085 $1138

Interest cost 1070 820 196

Expected return on plan asset 777 612 244

Recognized net actuarial loss 16 16

Net periodic plan cost for the year $3379 $2309 $1106
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Change in benefit obligation in thousands

As of December 31
2012 2011

Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $11482 3328

Acquisition 9106

Service cost 3082 2085

Actuarial gain loss 821 83
Interest cost 1070 820

Benefits paid 1854 1770
Effect of exchange rate changes 498 2004

Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year $14103 $11482

Accumulated benefit obligation 7525 6398

Change in fair value of plan assets in thousands

As of December 31
2012 2011

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 9586 3125

Acquisition 7934

Employer contributions 4370 1359

Actual return on plan assets 1036 568

Benefits paid 1854 1770
Effect of exchange rate changes 445 1630

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $12693 9586

Funded status in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Funded Status $1410 $1896

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consists of

Provision for Gratuity included in other current liabilities 142 83

Provision for Gratuity included in other liabilities 1268 1813

1410 1896
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The weighted average assumptions used in accounting for the Gratuity Plan for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 are presented below

iGATE Global

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Discount rate 8.9% 9.8% 9.0%

Rate of increase in compensation per annum 12% years 12% years
12%

years

10% thereafter 10% thereafter 10% thereafter

Expected long term rate of return on plan assets per

annum 8.9% 9.8% 9.0%

iGATE Computer

Year ended December 31

2012 2011

Discount rate 9.80% 10.05%

Rate of increase in compensation per annum 10% years 10% years

8% next years 8% next years

6% thereafter 6% thereafter

Expected long term rate of return on plan assets per annum 7.5% 7.5%

The Company evaluates these assumptions annually based on its long-term plans of growth and prevalent

industry standards The estimates of future salary increases considered in the actuarial valuation take account of

historical compensation increases inflation rate seniority promotions and other relevant factors such as supply

and demand factors in the employment market The discount rate is based on the corporate bond rates in India

The expected rate of return on the plan assets has been determined considering the plan asset allocation

historical rates of return earned on such plan assets and current market trends Plan assets are primarily invested

in long-term fixed income securities and to lesser extent in money market funds

Unrecognized actuarial loss is amortized over the average remaining service period of the employees

expected to receive benefits under the plan

The following benefit payments reflect expected future service as appropriate which are expected to be

paid during the years shown in thousands

Year ending December 31 Amount

2013 2855

2014 2783

2015 3225

2016 3444

2017 3608

2018-2022 13379
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Plan assets Fund allocation iGATE Global

Allocation
December 31

2012 2012 2011

Reliance Life Insurance

Corporate Bond 60% 61% 60%

Money Market 40% 39% 40%

ICICI Prudential Life Insurance

Group Debt 80% 90% 94%

Short Term Debt 20% 10% 6%

Plan assets Fund allocation iGATE Computer

Allocation
December 31

2012 2012 2011

Central/State Government Securities 25% 1% 1%

Investment in Government Securities based funds 15% 55% 57%

Public Sector bonds/ Financial Institutions/ Bank bonds/ Term Deposits 30% 44% 42%

Balance any of the three above categories or Private Sector Bonds 30% 0% 0%

Investment strategy The objective is to ensure that the defined benefit plan assets will be sufficient to

fund the defined benefit obligations in the long-term and to meet the current defined benefit obligations while

simultaneously managing the risk

Risk Management The Company mitigates the return risk or interest rate risk by allocating the plan

assets in various fixed income securities which has low or moderate risk The plan assets are managed through

professionally qualified investment managers The fund allocation and the performance of the fund is reviewed

on monthly basis and rebalancing is done if warranted The actual allocation of funds may differ from the

target allocation depending on the current requirements of the cash flows

Fair value ASC 820 Fair value measurements establishes three-tier value hierarchy which

prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value

Level Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in

active markets

Level Includes other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace

Level Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity

In accordance with ASC 820 the Company measures plan asset investments at fair value and is classified

within Level This is because the investments are in debt instruments involving fixed income securities and

money market instruments that are principally valued using quoted market prices

The contribution towards accumulated benefit obligation that is likely to be made in the next twelve months

is $3.4 million As of December 31 2012 the pretax amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss not yet

recognized as component of net periodic pension costs consists of actuarial loss of $0.3 million The estimated

actuarial loss that will be amortized from other comprehensive loss in net periodic pension cost in the next twelve

months is $0.03 million
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One of the founder directors of iGATE Computer is entitled to receive pension benefits upon retirement or

on termination from employment at the rate of 50% of his last drawn monthly salary The payment of pension

will start when he reaches the age of 65 The Company has invested in plan with Life insurance Corporation of

India which will mature at the time this founder director will reach age
of 65 Since the Company is obligated to

fund the shortfall if any between annuity payable and the value of plan asset the pension liability is actuarially

valued at each balance sheet date

With regard to iGATE Computers founder directors pension plan the following table sets forth the plans

net periodic pension cost components in thousands

Net periodic pension cost

Service cost

Interest cost

Net periodic pension cost for the period

With regard to iGATE Computers founder directors pension plan the following tables set forth the plans

funded status and amounts recognized in the Companys consolidated balance sheet in thousands

Change in benefit obligation in thousands

Projected benefit obligation at the date of acquisition

Service cost

Interest cost

Translation gain

Actuarial loss gain
Benefits paid

Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year

Accumulated benefit obligation

Change in fair value of plan assets in thousands

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Translation gain loss

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

As of December 31

2012 2011

$1111 $2664

69 97

133 59
133

1458

1048 1111

1048 1111

As of December 31

2012 2011

$986

24

1178

192

986

35

$975

May 16 2011 through

December 31 2012 December 312011

$0 $0
69 97

$69 $97
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Funded status in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011

Funded Status $125

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consists of

Provision for Pension included in other current liabilities

Provision for Pension included in other liabilities 73 125

$73 $125

Key weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation for iGATE Computers founder

directors pension plan were as follows

For the year ended

December 31

2012 2011

Discount rate 7% 7%

Increase in compensation levels 0% 0%

The Plan asset is invested with Life Insurance Corporation of India which in turn has invested the funds in

Government Security funds and is classified as Level

The expected benefit payments for next ten years are as follows in thousands

Amount

2013 $0
2014

2015

2016

2017 111

2018-2022 $556

As of December 31 2012 the pretax amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss not yet recognized

as component of net periodic pension costs consists of actuarial gain of $0.1 million The estimated actuarial

gain that will be amortized from other comprehensive loss in net periodic pension cost in next twelve months is

$0.1 million

17 Stock Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost in cost of revenues for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

was $4.1 million $2.3 million and $1.7 million respectively Stock-based compensation cost included within

selling general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was $8.2

million $8.4 million and $5.0 million respectively The Company has recognized total tax benefit associated

with its share-based compensation arrangements for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 of $0.8

million $1.6 million and $1.2 million respectively
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iGATE Corporation Stock Incentive Plans

The Company adopted the Second Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan the 1996 Plan in the

year 2000 The 1996 Plan provided that up to 14.7 million shares of the Companys common stock shall be

allocated for issuance to directors executive management and key personnel This plan expired by its terms on

November 2006 and no options have been granted under the 1996 Plan since it expired

On May 25 2006 the 2006 iGATE Corporation Stock Incentive Plan the 2006 Plan and together with the

1996 Plan the iGATE Plans was approved by the Companys shareholders The 2006 Plan replaced the

expired 1996 Plan Revisions were made primarily to address changes in applicable law since the year 2000 The

2006 Plan provides that up to 14.7 million shares of the Companys common stock shall be allocated for issuance

to officers employees directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries As of December 31 2012

there were 6.2 million shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2006 Plan

summary of the stock option and restricted stock activity is presented below

Weighted

Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate

Average Contractual Intrinsic

Exercise Term Value

1996 Plan Options Price in years in millions

Options outstanding at December 31 2009 70307 4.60

Exercised 44484 4.29

Lapsed and forfeited 2073 16.10

Options outstanding at December 31 2010 23750 4.16

Exercised 5000 5.58

Lapsed and forfeited

Options outstanding at December 31 2011 18750 3.78

Exercised

Lapsed and forfeited

Options outstanding at December 31 2012 18750 3.78 0.83 $0.22

Options vested at December 31 2012 18750 3.78 0.83 $0.22

Options exercisable at December 31 2012 18750 3.78 0.83 $0.22
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Weighted

Average

Weighted Remaining Aggregate

Average Contractual Intrinsic

Exercise Term Value

2006 Plan Options Price in years in millions

Options outstanding at December 31 2009 2460041 3.58

Granted 699238 13.28

Exercised 625887 3.02

Lapsed and forfeited 64508 3.87

Options outstanding at December 31 2010 2468884 6.46

Granted 218000 15.76

Exercised 164603 4.15

Lapsed and forfeited 140811 11.47

Options outstanding at December 31 2011 2381470 7.18

Granted 606651 15.58

Exercised 423298 5.22

Lapsed and forfeited 218630 12.49

Options outstanding at December 31 2012 2346193 9.20 6.00 $16.30

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31 2012 2302962 9.09 5.94 $16.24

Options exercisable at December 31 2012 1268661 5.52 4.12 $13.28

Weighted

Average
Restricted Fair

2006 Plan Stock Value

Unvested at December 31 2009 1242459 6.49

Granted 252233 9.96

Vested 502797 5.93

Lapsed and forfeited 52292 7.11

Unvested at December 31 2010 939603 7.12

Granted 2008311 17.25

Vested 310080 8.07

Lapsed and forfeited 61158 10.37

Unvested at December 31 2011 2576676 $14.84

Granted 800750 16.05

Vested 413677 6.30

Lapsed and forfeited 267079 16.54

Unvested at December 31 2012 2696670 $16.34

Available for future grant 6164630

Options under the iGATE Plans generally expire ten years from the date of the original grant or earlier if an

option holder ceases to be employed by or associated with the Company for any reason

Restricted stock grants under the iGATE Plans generally vest over four year period Upon vesting these

shares have voting rights
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On March 30 2010 iGATE Compensation Committee the Committee approved grant of 0.1 million

restricted stock to the Chief Executive Officer Mr Phaneesh Murthy covering the performance period from

January 2010 through December 31 2012 For this grant the Committee approved performance/payout scale

that provides for payouts ranging from 0% to 200% of the achievement target based on 3-year earnings per share

growth The stock based compensation expense recorded relating to this grant amounted to $1.1 million $0.2

million and 0.5 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

On May 12 2011 and June 15 2011 the Compensation Committee awarded grants of 1.5 million

performance based restricted award grants to certain members of the Companys Executive Committee and other

employees These awards will vest only if the Company attains specified twelve-month trailing adjusted

EBITDA goals at any fiscal quarter end beginning with the quarter ending December 31 2011 within the five

and half year period of January 2011 through June 30 2016 If the Company achieves its maximum twelve-

month trailing adjusted EBITDA goal at any eligible fiscal quarter end within this performance period two times

the target number of shares will vest The stock based compensation expense
recorded relating to this grant

amounted to $4.1 million and $2.2 million for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2012 2011 and 2010 was $5.3 million $2.0 million and

$8.2 million respectively The fair value of stock options vested during 2012 2011 and 2010 was $4.5 million

$6.5 million and $6.7 million respectively

As of December 31 2012 approximately $22.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost is expected to

be recognized for the unvested shares This expense is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period

of 1.7 years as of December 31 2012

iGATE Stock Options Outstanding as of December 31 2012

1996 Plan

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average

Remaining

Range of Contractual Life Weighted Average Weighted Average

Exercise Price Options Years Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

$3.78$3.78 18750 0.83 $3.78 18750 $3.78

$3.78$3.78 18750 0.83 $3.78 18750 $3.78
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2006 Plan

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average

Remaining

Range of Contractual Life Weighted Average Weighted Average
Exercise Price Options Years Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

$0.01 $0.07 58784 3.01 0.04 36830 0.02

$0.08 $0.08 492677 0.83 0.08 492677 0.08

$2.11 -$6.55 168653 4.71 5.45 160653 5.44

$6.66 $6.66 240000 6.50 6.66 144000 6.66

$6.81 $9.07 265585 6.57 7.53 143085 7.58

$9.80 $10.16 88238 7.15 9.98 51913 9.95

$1l.67-$11.67 234859 7.28 $11.67 123609 $11.67

$14.41-$15.70 50252 8.19 $14.67 10000 $14.41

$15.89-$15.89 405500 9.42 $15.89 0.00

$15.91-$20.61 341645 8.24 $18.28 105894 $18.38

$0.01 $20.61 2346193 6.00 9.20 1268661 5.52

The fair value of each option grant under the iGATE Plans was estimated using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model The fair value is then amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the

awards which is generally the vesting period Use of valuation model requires management to make certain

assumptions with respect to selected model inputs Expected volatility was calculated based on the historical

volatility of the Companys common stock from exchange traded shares The average expected life was based on

the expected employee exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior The risk-free interest rate

was based on U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining term equal to the expected life assumed at the

date of grant

iGATE Computer Stock Option Plans

On June 30 2003 iGATE Computer established the ESOP 2003 plan the 2003 ESOP Plan Under the

2003 ESOP Plan iGATE Computer is authorized to issue up to 11142085 equity shares to eligible employees

Employees covered by the 2003 ESOP Plan are granted an option which may be based on service or

performance criteria to purchase shares of iGATE Computer subject to vesting requirements The options vest in

graded manner from one year to four years and expire at the end of five years from the date of vesting The

compensation committee constituted by the Board of Directors of iGATE Computer administers the 2003 ESOP

Plan On June 21 2006 the 2003 ESOP Plan was amended to enable iGATE Computer to issue up to 2000000

ADR linked options wherein one ADR linked option is equal to two equity shares of iGATE Computer to its

employees

In June 2009 the shareholders authorized iGATE Computer to issue up to an additional 8000000 equity

shares to eligible employees under the 2003 ESOP Plan hereinafter referred to as the ESOP Plan

The fair value of outstanding options at the date of the iGATE Computer Acquisition amounted to $18.2

million using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model The fair value of vested options and fair value of

unvested options attributable to the pre-combination service period aggregating $13.9 million was included as

part of non-controlling interest and recorded as component of purchase consideration The fair value of

unvested options attributable to post-combination service period amounting to $4.3 million will be recorded as

stock-based compensation cost on straight line basis over the remaining vesting/service period
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The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31 2012 and

period from May 16 2011 to December 31 2011 was $0 and $6.00 for equity linked options and $17.84 and

$12.99 for ADR linked options respectively

Stock options activity under the ESOP Plan is as follows

Weighted

Average

Weighted Remaining Aggregate

Average Contractual Intrinsic

Exercise Term Value

Options Price in years in millions

Options outstanding at May 16 2011 4053598 5.90 4.6

Granted including 4125 ADR options 20250 0.06 7.1

Forfeited 742887 9.45

Exercised 886465 0.95

Options outstanding at December 31 2011 2444496 6.48 2.4 $9.8

Granted including 2250 ADR options 4500 0.08

Forfeited 415337 10.78

Exercised 1679678 3.27

Options outstanding at December 31 2012 353981 11.01 2.8 $2.1

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31 2012 353981 $11.01 $2.1

Options exercisable at December 31 2012 353981 7.89 2.8 $2.0

During the period from May 16 2011 through December 31 2011 0.02 million restricted shares were

granted which generally vest over four year period

The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended December 31 2012 was $10.42 million and

for the period May 16 2011 through December 31 2011 the total intrinsic value was $5.8 million The fair value

of stock options vested for the year ended December 31 2012 was $0.41 million and for the period May 16 2011

through December 31 2011 was $11.4 million

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 approximately $0 million and $0.6 million of unrecognized

compensation cost is expected to be recognized for the unvested shares The unrecognized expense for 2011 is

expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of years as of December 31 2011
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The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model are as follows

iGATE iGATE

Computer Computer
Year Ended December 312012 iGATE Equity ADR

Weighted average fair values of options granted during 2012 8.559 17.84

Risk-free interest rate 0.65% 0% 0.66%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.74%

Expected life of options 4.34 years 0.0 years 4.60 years

Expected volatility rate 66.11% 0.00% 39.84%

Year Ended December 312011

Weighted average fair values of options granted during 2011 9.063 6.00 12.99

Risk-free interest rate 1.65% 8.33% 0.87%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.67% 0.68%

Expected life of options 4.39 years 4.50 years 4.50 years

Expected volatility rate 73.59% 38.84% 39.7 1%

Year Ended December 312010 iGATE

Weighted average fair values of options granted during 2010 6.6 10

Risk-free interest rate 2.17%

Expected dividend yield 1.0%

Expected life of options 4.56 years

Expected volatility rate 1.88%
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18 Earnings per share

Earnings per
share for the common stock unvested restricted stock and the Series Preferred Stock under

the two class method are presented below dollars and shares in thousands except per
share data

Year ended December 31

PARTICULARS 2012 2011 2010

Net income attributable to iGATE common shareholders $66382 $29019 $51755

Add Dividend on Series Preferred Stock 29047 22147

$95429 $51166 $51755

Less Dividends paid on

Common Stock $14509

Unvested restricted stock 103

Series Preferred stock 29047 22147

Undistributed Income $66382 $29019 $37143

Allocation of Undistributed Income

Common stock $50020 $22157 $36878

Unvested restricted stock 39 84 265

Series Preferred stock 16323 6778

$66382 $29019 $37143

Shares outstanding for allocation of undistributed income

Common stock 57543 56706 56227

Unvested restricted stock 45 214 280

Series Preferred stock 18778 17347

76366 74267 56507

Weighted average shares outstanding

Common stock 57183 56523 55656

Unvested restricted stock 45 217 399

Series Preferred stock 18778 17347

76006 74087 56055

Weighted average common stock outstanding 57183 56523 55656

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted shares outstanding 1638 1420 1738

Dilutive weighted average shares outstanding 58821 57943 57394

Distributed earnings per share

Common stock 0.26

Unvested restricted stock 0.26

Series Preferred stock 1.55 1.28

Undistributed income per share

Common stock 0.87 0.39 0.66

Unvested restricted stock 0.87 0.39 0.66

Series Preferred stock 0.87 0.39

Net earnings per share basic

Common stock 0.87 0.39 0.92

Unvested restricted stock 0.87 0.39 0.92

Series Preferred stock 2.42 1.67

Net earnings per common share diluted 0.85 0.38 0.90
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The number of outstanding options to purchase common shares for which the option exercise prices exceeded the

average market price of the common shares aggregated 0.6 million 0.5 million and 0.6 million shares for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively These options were excluded from the computation of diluted

earnings per share under the treasury stock method The number of shares of outstanding Series Preferred Stock for

which the earnings per share exceeded the earnings per share of common stock aggregated to 18.8 million and

17.3 million shares for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively These shares were excluded from

the computation of diluted earnings per share as they were anti-dilutive

19 Other income net

Components of other income net are as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Investment income $27346 $14694 $3224

Gain loss on sale of fixed assets 28 51 1370

Other 1117 1251 577

Other income net $28491 $15894 $5171

20 Income taxes

The components of income loss from continuing operations before income taxes as shown in the

accompanying consolidated statements of income consists of the following in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Income loss before income taxes

Domestic 11685 $10095 2795

Foreign 119223 94367 54899

Income from continuing operations before income taxes $130908 84272 $57694

The provision benefit for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following in

thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Current provision

Federal 9378 6168 3239

State 1699 773 918

Foreign 36247 19833 8473

Total current provision 47324 26774 12630

Deferred benefit provision

Federal 3635 2050
State 677 354

Foreign 12413 4960 6691

Total deferred benefit 16725 2556 6691

Total provision for income taxes 30599 $24218 5939
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The reconciliation of income taxes computed using the statutory U.S income tax rate and the provision for

income taxes from continuing operations is as follows in thousands

December 312012 December 312011 December 31 2010

Income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate $45818 35.0% 29496 35.0% 20193 35.0%

State income taxes net of federal tax benefit 598 0.5 733 0.9 714 1.2

Benefit for untaxed foreign income subject to tax

holiday 8293 6.3 10740 12.7 17078 29.6

Foreign taxes at other than U.S statutory rate 1222 0.9 2888 3.4 383 0.7

Acquisition expenses 1274 1.5 691 1.2

Unbenefited tax losses 1595 1.2 756 0.9 540 0.9

Reversal of reserves on expiry of statute limitation

net 7014 5.3 7648 9.1

Change in valuation allowance 2754 2.2 2973 3.5 829 1.5

Non deductible expenses 2759 2.1 3306 3.9

Othernet 888 0.7 1180 1.4 433 0.8

$30599 23.4%$ 24218 28.7%$ 5939 10.3%

Under the Indian Income-tax Act 1961 the Companys Indian subsidiaries are eligible to claim tax

holiday for 10 consecutive assessment years on profits derived from the export of software services from

divisions registered under the Software Technology Parks STPs at Bangalore Chennai and Noida The tax

holiday ceased to exist from 31st March 2011 with respect to all the units located in STPs For the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the tax holiday resulted in income tax benefits of $0 million $3.2 million

and $13.0 million respectively when calculated at the statutory U.S rate Non-operating income such as interest

income and capital gains income along with operating income to the extent of expiry of tax holiday is not

included in the tax holiday and has been considered as part of our income tax provision

Under the Indian Income-tax Act 1961 iGATE Global and iGATE Computers are eligible to claim income

tax holiday on profits derived from export of software services from the divisions registered under the Special

Economic Zones SEZs Profits derived from export of the software services from these divisions registered

under the SEZ scheme are eligible for 100% of tax holiday during the initial five consecutive assessment years

followed by 50% for the subsequent ten consecutive assessment years from the date of commencement of

operations by the respective SEZ For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the tax holiday

benefits were $8.3 million $7.4 million and $4.1 million respectively when calculated at the statutory U.S rate

This tax relief holiday will begin to expire from March 2023

The basic earnings per share effect of the tax holiday is $0.15 $0.14 and $0.30 respectively for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 The diluted earnings per share effect of the tax holiday is $0.14 $0.19

and $0.30 respectively for the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

The Company conducts its business globally and as result the Company and some of its subsidiaries file

income tax returns in India the U.S and various foreign jurisdictions The tax years ended March 31 2002 to

March 31 2012 remain open to examination by the Indian tax authorities The Company is no longer subject to

U.S federal tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2009 with regard to the Companys U.S branch

and with regard to the Companys U.S entities
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The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows in thousands

December 31

2012 2011

Dollars in Thousands

Deferred tax assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts and employee advances 1268 1009

Accrued health benefits 51
Accrued vacation and bonuses 15104 14658

Depreciation 1648 1419

Stock based compensation 3534 2102

Foreign currency translation adjustments 770 793

Lease equalization charges 15 183

Capital losses carried forward 11400 7757

Deferred revenue 1274 1682

Deferred compensation 5595

Net operating loss carryovers 17180 19040

Minimum Alternate tax 34015 44115

Other 20 1482

Payroll taxes 395 577

Unrealized loss on derivatives 904 4373

Accrued restructuring changes
153 185

Valuation allowance 29094 36835

Total deferred tax assets 58586 68084

Deferred tax liabilities

Amortization of acquired intangibles 35357 40520
Amortization of tangibles 253 348

Section 481a adjustment 40
Prepaid expenses

Unrealized gain 3382 291
Undistributed earnings 2772
Depreciation 29798 32066

Total deferred tax liabilities 68790 76046

Net deferred tax liability $10204 7962
Less Net current deferred tax asset 14655 20574

Net long-term deferred tax asset liability $24859 $28536

The decline in deferred tax assets is primarily relating to the utilization of Minimum Alternate Tax credit in

the Indian subsidiaries of $10.0 million The decline in deferred tax liabilities is primarily due to current year

amortization of acquired intangible assets

The Company has not provided for U.S deferred income taxes or foreign withholding tax of approximately

$93.7 million on basis differences in certain of its non-U.S subsidiaries that result primarily from undistributed

earnings of $210.3 million which the Company intends to reinvest indefinitely Determination of the deferred

income tax liability on these basis differences is subjective and dependent on circumstances existing if and when

remittance occurs
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The U.S branch of iGATE Global has approximately $14.20 million of net operating losses NOL
available to offset future federal and state taxable income In addition iTI has approximately $8.3 million of state

NOLs All of these losses are due to expire by 2032 The significant foreign NOL carry forwards comprise of

$19.9 million attributable to U.K and $2.9 million attributable to Singapore which can be carried forward

indefinitely

As of December 31 2012 we had MAT credit carry forward of $49.4 million which will begin to expire

from March 2015 We also have $19.0 million of capital loss carry forward which will begin to expire from

2016 We have recorded full valuation allowance against the capital loss carry forward

The Company has established partial valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets due to uncertainty

regarding their future realization In assessing the realizability of its deferred tax assets management considers

the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities including the impact of available carryback and carryforward

periods projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies As result the Company has created

valuation allowance for deferred tax assets at entities or units that have been unprofitable and where it believes

that such assets may not be utilized in the near term

The change in the total valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

is as follows in thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011 2010

Opening valuation allowance $36835 $21339 $22195

Reduction during the
year 9465 846 3139

Addition during the year 1724 16342 2283

Closing valuation allowance $29094 $36835 $21339

Based on managements review of both positive and negative evidence which includes the historical and

future operating performance of one of iGATE Corporations domestic subsidiaries iTI as well as iGATE

Corporations election to file consolidated return with other members of the U.S affiliated group the Company
has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to realize portion of the Companys
domestic deferred tax assets Therefore in 2012 the Company has released $4 million of the related valuation

allowance Additions during December 31 2011 includes amount added on account of iGATE Computer

Systems Ltd acquisition amounting to $13.6 million
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ASC 740-10-Reserves

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 amounts of $22.1 million and $30.2 million respectively constitute the

ASC 740-10-Reserve with respect to the Companys iGATE Computer subsidiary reconciliation of the

beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

As of

December 31

Beginning Balance as of January 01 2011

Additions on acquisition 34819

Additions based on the current period tax positions 4256

Settlement/Refund 243
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 186
Reductions for tax positions due to lapse of statute of limitations 8160
Foreign currency translation effect 262

Balance as of January 2012 $30224

Additions based on the current period tax positions 127

Additions based on prior period tax positions 571

Reduction based on current period tax positions 526
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 8266
Foreign currency translation effect 52

Balance as of December 31 2012 $22078

The Company recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions within the interest
expense

line in the

consolidated statements of income The U.S branch of iGATE Computer has $0.4 million and $0.5 million as

accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions for the year ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The total amount of accrued interest relating to this in the consolidated balance sheet amounted to $0.9 million

and $1.3 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively There are no penalties as of December 31 2012

and 2011 During the current year an amount of $7.4 million is reversed by the U.S branch of iGATE Computer

on account of expiration of the statute of limitations relating to year ended March 2009

As of December 31 2012 the Company had $17.6 million of net unrecognized tax benefits arising out of

the tax positions which would affect the effective tax rate if recognized The nature of the events that would

cause the change to the reserves will be mainly due to the expiry of the statute of limitation in U.S Although it

would be difficult to anticipate the final outcome on timing of resolution of any particular uncertain tax position

the Company believes that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will be decreased by $7.2 million during

the next 12 months due to expiration of statute of limitation

Election of iGATE Computer Acquisition as Qualified Stock Purchase

The Companys acquisition of iGATE Computer in 2011 qualified as qualified stock purchase or QSP
iGATE calculated the U.S income tax basis earnings and profits and foreign non-U.S tax pools for iGATE

Computer Based on such calculations we have provided $7 million of current tax on our U.S subsidiary iTIs

share of Indian subsidiary iGATE Computers undistributed earnings for the post-acquisition period
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Taxes related to Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Year Ended

December 31

Tax expense fbenefit on unrealized gains losses on marketable securities 3170 266
Tax expense /benefit on unrecognized actuarial gains loss relating to defined benefit

plan 73

Tax expense /benefit on unrealized gains losses on cash flow hedges 9164 8980

Total benefit expense $12261 $8710

21 Segment information

Following the delisting of iGATE Computer from the Indian Stock Exchanges in May 2012 the Companys

Chief Executive Officer who is the chief decision making officer determined that the business will be operated

and managed as single segment As result the prior year segment information is no longer presented

Revenues based on the location of the customer and fixed assets by geographic area consisted of the

following in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenues

United States 758040 $514576 $139571

Canada 104012 114509 97061

EMEA1 142473 98384 25325

Asia Pacific 69405 52177 18640

Total revenues $1073930 $779646 $280597

As of December 31

2012 2011

Fixed assets

United States 4109 4930

Canada 2095 98

EMEA1 928 1538

Asia Pacific principally India 160120 169106

Total fixed assets $167252 $175672

Comprises Eurpoe Middile East and African countries

The following is concentration of revenues greater than 10% for the periods shown

Particulars 2012 2011 2010

General Electric Company GE 13% 12% 19%

Royal Bank of Canada RBC 11% 15% 35%

The Company accounts for multiple contracts statement of works with RBC and GE as separate

arrangements since each of these arrangements are negotiated separately The receivables from these customers

comprised 21% and 25% of accounts receivable net and unbilled revenue as of December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively
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22 Related party transactions

As of December 31 2012 Sunil Wadhwani directly owned 9006551 common shares of the Company and

indirectly owned 1367624 common shares of the Company through two family trusts and 511900 common

shares through one family foundation

As of December 31 2012 Ashok Trivedi directly owned 9532832 common shares of the Company and

indirectly owned 1356343 common shares of the Company through one family trust

Sunil Wadhwani and Ashok Trivedi also own significant interest in Mastech Holdings Inc The

transactions with Mastech Holdings Inc are as follows in thousands

For the year ended

December 31

Particulars 2012 2011 2010

Outsourcing services rendered to Mastech Holdings Inc $0 $901 $835

Reimbursable expenses incurred on behalf of Mastech Holdings Inc $0 $48 $0
$0 $949 $835

The balances receivable from related parties are summarized as follows in thousands

As of December 31

Particulars 2012 2011

Due from Mastech Holdings Inc

Accounts receivable net of allowance $0 $187

$0 $187

23 Guarantor Subsidiaries Supplemental consolidating financial information

In connection with the iGATE Computer Acquisition the Company issued the Notes which are the senior

unsecured obligations of the Company The Notes are guaranteed by the Companys 100% owned domestic

subsidiaries iTI iGATE Inc and iGATE Holding Corporation collectively the Guarantors In accordance

with the terms of the second supplemental indenture dated September 30 2012 iAI was included as guarantor

to the Notes with effect from September 2012 Subsequently on December 31 2012 as part of an integration

process iAI along with PTS were merged into iTI The Company has not included separate financial statements

of the Guarantors because they are 100% owned by the Company the guarantees issued are full and

unconditional and the guarantees are joint and several

There are customary exceptions in the Indenture under which subsidiarys guarantee would terminate

namely

permitted sale or other disposition by guarantor of all or substantially all of its assets

the designation or classification of guarantor as an unrestricted subsidiary pursuant to the indenture

governing the guarantees

defeasance or discharge of the Senior Notes

the release of guarantor due to the operation of the definition of Immaterial Subsidiary in the

documents governing the guarantees or

the Senior Notes achievement of investment grade status
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Consolidating financial information for the Company and the Guarantors are as follows in thousands

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14365 80790 95155

Restricted cash 3072 3072

Short-term investments 510816 510816

Accounts receivable net 75253 95936 8854 162335

Unbilled revenues 32221 42374 1694 72901

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6418 3958 21334 31710

Prepaid income taxes 7228 1313 8541

Deferred tax assets 7240 7415 14655

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 782 782

Receivable from group companies 26802 2303 29105

Total current assets 33220 142568 763.832 39653 899967

Investment in subsidiaries 438669 1071565 1510234

Intercorporate loan 770000 770000

Deposits and other assets 17594 1064 6714 25372

Prepaid income taxes 794 27557 28351

Property and equipment net 1945 165307 167.252

Leasehold land 86933 86933

Deferred tax assets 14175 16460 30635

Goodwill 1026 492115 493141

Intangible assets net 225 144203 144428

Total assets $1259483 $1233362 $1703121 $2319887 $1876079

LIABILITIES REDEEMABLE NON CONTROLLING
INTEREST PREFERRED STOCK AND

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 24404 2552 19157 7799

Line of credit 25000 52000 77000

Term loans 35000 35000

Accrued payroll and related costs 16937 37865 54802

Other accrued liabilities 11550 25239 42219 79008

Accrued income taxes 5509 3625 9134

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 7516 7516

Deferred revenue 5809 12081 17890

Payable to group companies 18193 18193

Totalcurrentliabilities 11550 156091 157858 37350 288149

Other long-term liabilities 5568 2303 3265

Senior notes 770000 770000

Term loans 35000 228500 263500

Foreign exchange derivative contracts

Accrued income taxes 650 16622 17272

Intercompany loan 770000 770000
Deferred tax liabilities 55494 55494

Total liabilities 781550 961741 464042 809653 1397680

Redeemable non controlling
interest 32422 32422

Series Preferred stock 378474 378474

iGATE Corporation shareholders equity

Common shares 585 330000 52989 382989 585

Common shares held in treasury at cost 14714 14714
Additional paid-in capital 199302 794 1112489 1127245 185340

Retained earnings 85714 59270 315859 170875

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 97 274680 274583

Total iGATE Corporation shareholders equity 99459 271621 1206657 1510234 67503

Non controlling interest

Total Equity 99459 271621 1206657 1510234 67503

Total liabilities redeemable non controlling interest

preferred stock and shareholders equity $1259483 $1233362 $1703121 $2319887 $1876079
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2011

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7384 68056 75440

Restricted cash

Short-term investments 354528 354528

Accounts receivable net 15197 158537 836 172.898

Unbilled revenues 3364 42149 290 45223

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5808 610 12334 18752

Prepaid income taxes 8341 8341

Deferred tax assets 20574 20574

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 277 277

Receivable from group companies 121004 121004

Total current assets 126812 26555 664796 122130 696033

Investment in subsidiaries 330000 1052660 1263841 2646501

Intercorporate loan 770000 770000

Deposits and other assets 23993 17 8092 32102

Prepaid income taxes 18481 18481

Propertyandequipmentnet
471 175201 175672

Lease hold land 90339 90339

Deferred tax assets 30456 30456

Goodwill 1026 510184 150 511060

Intangible assets net 160706 160706

Total assets $1250805 $1080729 $2922096 $3538781 $1714849

LIABILITIES REDEEMABLE NON CONTROLLING
INTEREST PREFERRED STOCK AND

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable
100 7757 7857

Line of credit 5000 52000 57000

Termloans

Accruedpayrollandrelatedcosts 10349 61564 71913

Other accrued liabilities 11550 5494 60944 77988

Accrued income taxes 2506 1487 3993

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 12471 12471

Deferred revenue 1607 20805 22412

Payable to group companies 17763 104368 122131

Total current liabilities 11550 42819 321396 122131 253634

Other long-term liabilities 770000 4610 770000 4610

Senior notes 770000 770000

Termloans

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 6739 6739

Accrued income taxes 17672 17672

Intercompany loan

Deferred tax liabilities 58992 58992

Totalliabilities 781550 812819 409409 892131 1111647

Redeemable non controlling interest

Series Preferred stock 349023 349023

iGATE Corporation Shareholders equity

Common shares 576 330000 58700 388699 577

Common shares held in treasury at cost 14714 14714

Additional paid-in capital 184843 794 2512196 2496552 201281

Retained earnings 50473 62980 226532 8586 104493

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 96 284741 70004 214641

Total 1GATE Corporation shareholders equity 120232 267910 2512687 2823833 76996

Non controlling
interest 177183 177183

Total Equity 120232 267910 2512687 2646.650 254179

Total liabilities redeemable non controlling interest

preferred stock and shareholders equity $1250805 $1080729 $2922096 $3538781 $1714849
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues $341935 $887415 $155420 $1073930
Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 247318 557912 155420 649810

Gross margin 94617 329503 424120

Selling general and administrative
expense 17045 154426 171471

Depreciation and amortization 516 45866 46382

Income from operations 77056 129211 206267

Interest
expense 75090 1070 7606 83766

Foreign exchange gain loss net 50 20034 20084
Other income expense net 69300 68725 27916 28491

Income before income taxes 5790 7211 129487 130908

Income tax expense 3501 27098 30599

Net income loss 5790 3710 102389 100309

Non controlling interest 4476 4476

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation 5790 3710 97913 95833

Accretion to preferred stock 404 404

Preferred dividend 29047 29047

Net income attributable to iGATE common

shareholders $35241 3710 97913 66382
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2011

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues 85054 $740706 $46114 $779646

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 59031 470587 46114 483504

Gross margin 26023 270119 296142

Selling general and administrative expense 12361 139136 151497

Depreciation and amortization 153 38582 38735

Income from operations 13509 92401 105910

Interest expense 50240 46615 338 46585 50608

Foreign exchange gain loss net 13083 13076

Other income expense net 46585 42 15852 46585 15894

Income loss before income taxes 3655 33071 120998 84272

Income tax expense 5205 19013 24218

Net income loss 3655 38276 101985 60054

Non controlling interest 8586 8586

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation 3655 38276 93399 51468

Accretion to preferred stock 302 302

Preferred dividend 22147 22147

Net income attributable to iGATE common
shareholders 26104 38276 93399 29019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues $0 $49841 $258445 $27689 $280597

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 33474 162121 27689 167906

Gross margin 16367 96324 112691

Selling general and administrative expense 12107 38562 50669

Depreciation and amortization 149 8865 9014

Income from operations 4111 48897 53008

Interest expense 108 108
Foreign exchange gain loss net 20 357 377
Other income expense net 588 4583 5171

Income before income taxes 4679 53015 57694

Income tax expense 3947 1992 5939

Net income loss 732 51023 51755

Non controlling interest

Net income attributable to iGATE Corporation 732 51023 51755

Accretion to preferred stock

Preferred dividend

Net income attributable to iGATE common shareholders 732 51023 51755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net Income loss attributable to iGATE common

shareholders $35241 $3710 97913 $0 66382

Add Non controlling interest 4476 4476

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on marketable securities 5615 5615

Unrecognized actuarial gain loss on pension

liability 175 175

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 22586 22586

Gain loss on foreign currency
translation 44689 44689

Total comprehensive income loss 35241 3710 85726 54195

Less Total comprehensive income loss

attributable to non controlling interest 4476 4476

Total comprehensive income loss attributable to

iGATE common shareholders $35241 $3710 81250 $0 49719

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2011

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net Income loss attributable to iGATE common

shareholders $26104 $38276 93399 $0 29019

Add Non controlling interest 8586 8586

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on marketable securities 1987 1987

Unrecognized actuarial gain loss on pension

liability 198 198

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 22912 22912
Gain loss on foreign currency

translation 576 236104 235528

Total comprehensive income loss 26104 37700 154846 218650
Less Total comprehensive income loss

attributable to non controlling interest 34693 34693

Total comprehensive income loss attributable to

iGATE common shareholders $26104 $37700 $120153 $0 $183957
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net Income loss attributable to iGATE common

shareholders $0 732 $51023 $0 $51755

Add Non controlling interest

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on marketable securities 1060 1060

Unrecognized actuarial gain loss on pension

liability 101 101

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 2088 2088

Gain loss on foreign currency translation 177 8500 8323

Total comprehensive income loss 555 62570 63125

Less Total comprehensive income loss attributable

to non controlling interest

Total comprehensive income loss attributable to

iGATE common shareholders $0 $555 $62570 $0 $63125
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Stock based compensation

Write off of software implementation costs

Provision for rescission of land sale contract

Provision for lease termination

Realized gain on investments

Equity in income of affiliated companies

Provision recovery of doubtful debts

Deferred gain loss on settled derivatives

Deferred income taxes

Loss gain on sale of property and equipment

Loss gain on investments in affiliate

Deferred rent

Amortization of debt issuance costs

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues

Intercorporate Current account

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued and other liabilities

Restructuring reserve

Deferred revenue

Net cash flows used in provided by operating activities 14787

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Proceeds from maturities and sale of available-for-sale investments

Restricted cash

Receipts payments of from lease deposits

Intercorporate loan

Proceeds from sale of investments in affiliate

Payment for acquisition net of cash acquired

Purchase of non-controlling interests

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Payments on capital lease obligations

Proceeds from line of credit and term loans

Proceeds from sale of preferred stock net of issuance costs

Payment of delisting related financing costs

Proceeds from senior notes

Payment of debt issuance costs

Dividends Paid

Purchase of subsidiarys stock

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 14467

Proceeds from exercise of subsidiarys stock options

Payment of withholding taxes related to restricted stock

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 320

Proceeds from issuance of equity stock

Intercorporate loan

Net cash flows provided by used in financing activities 14787

Effect of exchange rate changes

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents end of year

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

100309

46382

12274

909

20764

1681

18173

10201
28

551

161
6826

320

15821

17287
2417

16720

3015

100371

31309
82

1766988
1623627

3072
327

228375

406362

114
318500

3263

2206

5490

320

323139

2567

19715

75440

_______ _______ __________
$0 95155

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012

5790 3710

5790

14787

516

4044

110

86

51

208

320

46567
19933

1214
24986

3014

2865

5222

615

551

83031

84197

90000

4044

85956

6981
7384

14365

102389

45866

8230

909

20764

1571

18173

10115
28
551

212
828

30746

5146
16073
27403
13706

5880

109936

30694
82

1766988
1623627

3072
224

145344

322165

114
228500

3263

8217
5490

222396

2567

12734
68056

80790
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2011

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income 3655 38276 101985 60054

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 153 38582 38735

Stock based compensation 2862 7880 10742

Write off of software implementation costs 1196 1196

Provision for rescission of land sale contract

Provision for lease termination 446 446

Realized gain on investments 3304 3304
Equity in income of affiliated companies 149 149
Provision recovery of doubtful debts 62 993 1055

Deferred gain loss on settled derivatives 20207 20207
Deferred income taxes 4454 4454
Loss gain on sale of property and equipment 51 51

Loss gain on investments in affiliate

Deferred rent 24 24

Amortization of debt issuance costs 3655 3655

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 630 630

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 7.820 12075 19895

Intercorporate current account 16495 30422 13927

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 436 906 470

Accounts payable 82 6629 6711

Accrued and other liabilities 10927 21214 26947 5194

Restructuring reserve

Deferred revenue 1302 232 1534

Net cash flows provided by used in operating activities 28052 51279 105715 82488

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchase of property and equipment 387 21052 21439
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 305 305

Purchase of available-for-sale investments 565807 565807
Proceeds from maturities and sale of available-for-sale investments 555726 555726

Restricted cash

Receipts from payments for lease deposits 14 2225 2211

Intercorporate
loan 770000 770000

Proceeds from sale of investments in affiliate

Payment for acquisition net of cash acquired 330000 1052660 1168404 1382660 1168404
Purchase of non-controlling interests

Net cash flows provided by used in investing activities $1100000 $105306l $1l97007 2152660 $l197408

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Payments on capital
lease

obligations 355 355
Proceeds from line of credit and term loans 5000 52000 57000

Proceeds from sale of preferred stock net of issuance costs 326574 326574

Payment of delisting related financing costs

Proceeds from senior notes 770000 770000

Payment of debt issuance costs 33456 33456
Dividends Paid

Purchase of subsidiarys stock

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 8200 7491 709

Proceeds from exercise of subsidiarys stock options 813 813

Payment of withholding taxes related to restricted stock

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 630 630

Proceeds from issuance of equity stock 330000 1052660 1382660

Intercorporate loan 770000 770000

Net cash flows provided by used in financing activities 1071948 1105000 1097627 $2152660 1121915

Effect of exchange rate changes 525 521

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1185 6331 7516

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 6199 61725 67924

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 7384 68056 75440
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

Non
Issuer Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income 732 51023 $0 51755

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 149 8865 9014
Stock based compensation 3180 3471 6651
Write off of software implementation costs

Provision for rescission of land sale

Provision for lease termination

Realized gain on investments 3014 3014
Equity in income of affiliated companies

Provision recovery of doubtful debts 444 440
Deferred gain loss on settled derivatives

Deferred income taxes 6506 6506
Loss gain on sale of property and equipment 1370 1370
Loss gain on investments in affiliate 568 568
Deferred rent 21 21
Amortization of debt issuance costs

Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 341 341

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 10469 6066 16535

Intercorporate current account 6387 510 6897
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 137 506 643
Accounts payable 158 758 916

Accrued and other liabilities 285 9061 13178 21954

Restructuring reserve 101 101
Deferred revenue 305 571 266

Net cash flows provided by used in operating activities 6443 2925 51.799 $0 61167

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchase of property and equipment 16844 16844
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 3280 3280

Purchase of available-for-sale investments 145760 145760
Proceeds from maturities and sale of available-for-sale investments 146829 146829

Restricted cash

Receipts from payments for lease deposits 340 338

Intercorporate
loan

Proceeds from sale of investments in affiliates 568 568

Payment for acquisition net of cash acquired

Purchase of non-controlling interests

Net cash flows provided by used in investing
activities 566 12155 $0 11589

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Payments on capital lease obligations 221 221
Proceeds from line of credit and term loans

Proceeds from sale of preferred stock net of issuance costs

Payment of delisting related financing costs

Proceeds from senior notes

Payment of debt issuance cost

Dividends paid 14509 14509
Purchase of subsidiarys stock 45 45
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 7770 3180 2507 2083

Proceeds from exercise of subsidiarys stock options

Payment of withholding taxes related to restricted stock 964 964
Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 341 341

Proceeds from issuance of equity stock

Intercorporate loan

Net cash flows provided by used in financing activities 6443 3180 3692 $0 13315

Effect of exchange rate changes 178 2274 2096

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 133 38226 38359

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 6066 23499 29565

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 6199 61725 $0 67924
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24 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments

As of December 31 2012 the Company has open purchase orders totaling $54.9 million towards

construction of new facilities and purchase of property and equipment

Bank guarantees

As of December 31 2012 guarantees and letters of credit provided by banks on behalf of the Companys

subsidiaries to customs authorities and vendors for capital procurements amounted to $2.2 million These

guarantees and letters of credit have remaining term of approximately one to five years

The Company also took bank guarantee of $29.9 million to purchase the remaining shares of iGATE

Computer See Note

Other commitments

The Companys business process delivery centers in India are 100% Export Oriented units or STPs under

the STP guidelines issued by the Government of India These units are exempted from customs central excise

duties and levies on imported and indigenous capital goods stores and
spares

The Company has executed legal

undertakings to pay custom duties central excise duties levies and liquidated damages payable if any in

respect of imported and indigenous capital goods stores and spares consumed duty free in the event that certain

terms and conditions are not fulfilled

The Company has entered into service agreement with customer that provides such customer the option

exercisable at any time by providing 60 days notice to the Company to acquire an equity stake of up to 7% of

the Companys outstanding voting shares at fair market value The fair market value is the volume weighted

average trading price of the Companys shares on the NASDAQ Market for five consecutive trading days

immediately before the date on which the customer delivers its notice under the option The option does not

restrict the customer in any way from buying the Companys shares in the open market The service agreement

also requires the Company to register the shares upon exercise of the option by the customer and there are no

events or circumstances that would require the Company to transfer consideration under the agreement

Contingencies

Income Taxes

As of December 31 2012 the Company has open tax demands of $107.7 million for relevant assessment

years 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 and 2008-09 The assessment orders demand is raised mainly on

account of disallowance of certain benefits under section 1OA of the Indian Income Tax Act and transfer pricing

adjustment on account of interest on delayed recoveries from associated enterprises and BPO operations

Although the Company has paid an amount of $9.1 million in relation to these demands which are pending at

various levels of appeals management considers these disallowances as not tenable against the Company and

therefore no provision for tax contingencies has been established related to unpaid amounts

As of December 31 2012 iGATE Global had received favorable orders from the income tax authorities for

AY 2007-08 and AY 2008-09 restoring back the tax holiday benefits claimed by the Company which were earlier

disallowed during the assessment proceedings

The Company is involved in lawsuits and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business

Management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have material adverse impact on its

financial position results of operations and cash flows
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25 Fair Value Measurements

FASB ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements establishes three-tier value hierarchy which

prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value

Level Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in active

markets

Level Includes other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace

Level Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the

use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value

In accordance with ASC 820 assets and liabilities are to be measured based on the following valuation

techniques

Market approach Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving

identical or comparable assets or liabilities

Income approach Converting the future amounts based on the market expectations to its present value

using the discounting methodology

Cost approach Replacement cost method

Investments and Foreign exchange derivative contracts as disclosed in Note and which are measured at

fair value are summarized below in thousands

Fair Value measurement at reporting date using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable

December 31 Assets Inputs Inputs

Description 2012 Level Level Level

Assets

Current Assets

Short term investments

Liquid mutual fund units $466468 $466468 $0

Fixed maturity fund units 3952 3952

Certificate of Deposits with banks and others 40396 40396

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 782 782

Total current assets $511598 $466468 $45130 $0

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 7516 7516 $0

Total current liabilities 7516 7516 $0

Non current liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative contracts $0

Total non-current liabilities $0
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Fair Value measurement at reporting date using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable

December 31 Assets Inputs Inputs

Description 2011 Level Level Level

Assets

Current Assets

Short term investments

aLiquid mutual fund units $231341 $231341 $0

bFixed maturity fund units 114287 114287

cCertificate of Deposits with banks and others 8900 8900

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 277 277

$354805 $231341 $123464 $0

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 12471 12471 $0

Total current liabilities 12471 12471 $0

Non current liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative contracts 6739 6739 $0

Total non-current liabilities 6739 6739 $0

Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value

The fair value of Companys current assets and current liabilities approximate their carrying value because

of their short-term maturity Such financial instruments are classified as current and are expected to be liquidated

within the next twelve months The fair value of capital lease obligations has been estimated by discounting cash

flows based on current rate available to the Company for similar types of borrowing arrangements The fair value

and carrying value of capital lease obligations is set out below in thousands

Capital lease obligations Fair Value Carrying value

AsofDecember3l2012 $1214 $1008

As of December31 2011 1115 864
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26 Quarterly Financial Information Unaudited

The following table sets forth certain unaudited financial information for each of the quarters indicated

below and in the opinion of management contains all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring

adjustments if necessary for fair presentation thereof Earnings per share amounts for each quarter are required

to be computed independently and therefore may not equal the amount computed for the entire year

Three Months Ended

in thousands March31 June30 September30 December31

2012

Revenues $263265 $267993 $271090 $271582

GrossMargin 105836 100311 107821 110152

Income from Operations 48130 48003 53730 56404

Net Income 28544 12647 28293 30825

Net Income attributable to iGATE 24068 12647 28293 30825

Net earnings per common share basic 0.23 0.07 0.27 0.30

Net earnings per common share diluted 0.22 0.07 0.27 0.29

2011

Revenues 75798 $170417 $265724 $267707

Gross Margin 31003 59214 98159 107766

Income from Operations 6949 9733 37747 51481

Net Income 17939 4486 17203 20426

Net Income attributable to iGATE 17939 3999 14253 15277

Net earnings per common share basic 0.23 0.02 0.10 0.11

Net earnings per common share diluted 0.22 0.02 0.10 0.11

27 Subsequent Events

Termination of ADR program and scheme of arrangement

On December 14 2012 iGATE Computer provided termination and amendment notice to holders of its

ADRs pursuant to the terms of Deposit Agreement dated December 2005 as amended between the Bank of

New York Mellon as Depositary and iGATE Computer the Deposit Agreement Under the terms of the

Deposit Agreement the ADR program was terminated on January 13 2013 Following termination of the ADR

program the Depositary will service the ADRs until March 13 2013 allowing holders to transfer their ADRs or

exchange their ADRs for underlying equity shares of iGATE Computer par value Rs the Shares On or

around March 13 2013 the Depositary expects to tender any Shares remaining in the ADR program into the

Subsequent Offering Period as defined in the Companys Schedule TO filed on January 2013 and provide

holders of ADRs the cash proceeds less customary expenses
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information

required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and

forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Companys management including its

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosure

As of the end of the period covered by this report the Company carried out an evaluation under the

supervision and with the participation of Company management including the Chief Executive Officer and the

Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Companys disclosure controls

and procedures pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Exchange Act Rules 13a-15b and 15d-

15b Based upon and as of the date of this evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial

Officer concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effective The results of

managements assessment were reviewed with the Companys Audit Committee

The certification required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits 31.01 and

31.02 respectively to this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting The Companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Internal control over financial

reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions

providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our financial

statements providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of company assets are made in

accordance with management authorization and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of company assets that could have material effect on our financial statements would be

prevented or detected on timely basis Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become ineffective because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with established policies or procedures may deteriorate

The Companys management including the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2012 In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting management used

the criteria described in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Based upon this assessment management has concluded and hereby reports that the Companys internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2012 There were no changes in our internal

control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2012 that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

The Companys independent registered public accounting firmErnst Young Associates has issued its

report on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of iGATE Corporation

We have audited iGATE Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012

based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria iGATE Corporations management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We

believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion iGATE Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the 2012 consolidated financial statements of iGATE Corporation and our report dated

March 18 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young Associates

Gurgaon India

March 18 2013
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ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this Item not set forth below is incorporated herein by reference from the

Companys definitive proxy statement relating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held

on April 11 2013 which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal year

ended December 31 2012 the Proxy Statement

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the registrant and its subsidiaries are included on pages 70

to 75 and the report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmis included on page 69 in this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets December 31 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Income Years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Years ended December 2012 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity Years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required are not applicable or the required information is

shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index which is incorporated

herein by reference

Exhibit Index Description of Exhibit

2.1 Share Purchase Agreement dated as of January 10 2011 by and among Pan-Asia iGATE

Solutions iGATE Global Solutions Limited and the sellers party thereto is incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 to iGATE Corporations iGATE Form 8-K filed on January 12 2011

2.2 Share Purchase Agreement dated as of January 10 2011 by and among Pan-Asia iGATE

Solutions and General Atlantic Mauritius Limited is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to

iGATEs Form 8-K filed on January 12 2011

2.3 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of January 10 2011 by and among Pan-Asia iGATE

Solutions and General Atlantic Mauritius Limited is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to

iGATEs Form 8-K filed on January 12 2011

2.4 Separation and Distribution Agreement by and between iGATE and Mastech Holdings Inc dated

September 30 2008 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on

October 2008

3.1 Third Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of iGATE dated May 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May 11 2011

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to

iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14 2000

3.3 Statement with Respect to Shares8% Series Convertible Participating Preferred Stock no par

value per share is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to iGATE Form 8-K filed on

February 42011
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4.1 Registration Rights Agreement between iGATE and the Selling Shareholders named therein dated

as of August 17 2010 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to iGATEs Registration

Statement on Form S-3 Commission File No 333-170042 filed on October 20 2010

4.2 Form of certificate representing the Common Stock of the Company is incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.1 to iGATE Registration Statement on Form S-l Commission File No 333-14169

filed on November 19 1996

4.3 Indenture dated April 29 2011 by and among iGATE iGATE Technologies Inc and

Wilmington Trust National Association successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB as

trustee is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May 2011

4.4 Supplemental Indenture dated May 12 2011 among iGATE the guarantors
named therein and

Wilmington Trust National Association successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB as

trustee is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to iGATEs Registration Statement on Form

filed on September 30 2011

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement by and among iGATE iGATE Technologies Inc Jefferies

Company Inc and RBC Capital Markets LLC dated April 29 2011 is incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.2 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May 2011

4.6 Escrow Agreement by and among iGATE as Grantor Wilmington Trust National Association

successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB as Trustee and Standard Chartered Bank as

Escrow Agent is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May

2011

4.7 Account Security Deed dated as of May 2011 by and among iGATE as chargor and

Wilmington Trust National Association successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB as

chargee is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May 2011

10.1 Shareholders Agreement by and among the Company Sunil Wadhwani and Ashok Trivedi and the

Joinder Agreement by Grantor Retained Annuity Trusts established by Messrs Wadhwani and

Trivedi are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to iGATE Registration Statement on

Form S-i Commission File No 333-14169 filed on December 16 1996

10.2 Tax Sharing Agreement by and between iGATE and Mastech Holdings Inc dated September 30

2008 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATE Form 8-K filed on October 2008

10.3 Performance Guarantee dated as of January 10 2011 by iGATE to the Sellers named therein is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATE Form 8-K filed on January 12 2011

10.4 Performance Guarantee dated as of January 10 2011 by iGATE to General Atlantic Mauritius

Limited is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on January 12

2011

10.5 Debt Commitment Letter dated as of January 10 2011 by and among iGATE Jefferies Finance

LLC and Royal Bank of Canada is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to iGATEs Form 8-

filed on January 12 2011

10.6 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of January 10 2011 by and among iGATE and Viscaria

Limited is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on January 12

2011

10.7 Equity Commitment Letter dated as of January 10 2011 by and among iGATE Apax Europe

Vu-A L.P Apax Europe Vu-B L.P Apax Europe VII-1 L.P Apax Europe Vu-A L.P Apax

Europe Vu-I L.P and Apax US VII- L.P is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs

Form 8-K filed on January 12 2011
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10.8 Amended and Restated Voting and Standstill Agreement dated as of February 2011 by and

among iGATE Viscaria Limited and the shareholders party thereto is incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on February 2011

10.8 Investor Rights Agreement dated as of February 2011 by and among iGATE and Viscaria

Limited is incorporated by Reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on February

2011

10.10 Purchase Agreement by and among iGATE iGATE Technologies Inc Jefferies Company
Inc and RBC Capital Markets LLC dated April 14 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on April 15 2011

10.11 Credit Agreement dated as of May 10 2011 among iGATE as borrower DBS Bank Ltd

Singapore as administrative agent and the other lenders named therein is incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on May 16 2011

10.12 Marketing Managers Agreement by and between Quantum Information Resources Limited and

Jason Trussell dated November 1994 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to iGATEs

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009

10.13 iGate Corporation 2006 Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to

iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2006

10.14 Employment Agreement dated as of June 2008 by and between the Company and Sunil

Wadhwani is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31 2009

10.15 Amendment Agreement dated April 2009 between the Company and Sunil Wadhwani is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2a to iGATEs Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2009

10.16 Employment Agreement dated as of June 2008 by and between the Company and Ashok

Trivedi is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATE Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2009

10.17 Amendment Agreement dated April 2009 between the Company and Ashok Trivedi is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1A to iGATEs Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year
ended December 31 2009

10.18 Senior Executive Employment Agreement dated January 2010 between Phaneesh Murthy and

iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to iGATEs Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010

10.19 Amendment Agreement to Senior Executive Employment Agreement dated March 29 2012

between Phaneesh Murthy and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on March 30 2012

10.20 Senior Executive and Wholetime Director Employment Agreement between iGATE Global

Solutions Limited and Sean Narayanan dated January 2010 is incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.35 to iGATE Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010

10.21 Amendment Agreement effective January 2010 by and between iGATE Global Solutions

Limited and Sean Suresh Narayanan is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATE
Form 8-K filed on February 16 2011

138



Exhibit Index Description of Exhibit

10.22 Senior Executive and Wholetime Director Employment Agreement between iGATE Global

Solutions Limited and Sujit Sircar dated January 2010 is incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.14 to iGATE Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 20 10

10.23 Amendment Agreement effective January 2010 by and between iGATE Global Solutions

Limited and Sujit Sircar is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATE Form 8-K filed

on February 16 2011

10.24 Form of non-qualified stock option agreement is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 28 2010

10.25 Form of performance share award agreement is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 28 2010

10.26 Performance Share Award Agreement by and between iGATE and Phaneesh Murthy dated

March 30 2010 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on July 28 2010

10.27 Performance Share Award Agreement by and between iGATE and Phaneesh Murthy dated

March 30 2010 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on July 28 2010

10.28 iGATE Corporation 2011 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan is incorporated by reference to

Annex to iGATE Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 13 2011

10.29 Employment Contract dated July 2011 between Suresh Anantha Narayanan and iGATE

Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATE Form 8-K filed on

July 2011

10.30 Amendment to Employment Agreement between iGATE Technologies Inc and Sean Suresh

Narayanan dated March 29 2012 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs

Form 8-K filed on March 30 2012

10.31 Employment Contract dated July 2011 between Srinivas Rao Kandula and iGATE

Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on

July 2011

10.32 Amendment to Employment Agreement between iGATE Technologies Inc and Srinivas Kandula

dated March 29 2012 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to iGATEs Form 8-K filed on

March 30 2012

10.33 Employment Contract dated July 2011 between Sujit Sircar and iGATE Global Solutions

Limited is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to iGATE Form 8-K filed on July 2011

10.34 Amendment to Employment Agreement between iGATE Global Solutions Limited and Sujit

Sircar dated March 29 2012 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to iGATEs Form 8-K

filed on March 30 2012

10.35 Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between David Kruzner and iGATE Technologies

Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed

on August 2012

10.36 Amendment dated March 29 2012 to Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between David

Kruzner and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 20l2

10.37 Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Vijay Khare and iGATE Technologies Inc

is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012
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10.38 Amendment dated March 29 2012 to Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Vijay

Khare and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2012

10.39 Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Satish Joshi and iGATE Technologies Inc is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.40 Amendment dated March 29 2012 to Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Satish

Joshi and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2012

10.41 Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Derek Kemp and iGATE Technologies Inc
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.42 Amendment dated March 29 2012 to Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Derek

Kemp and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2012

10.43 Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Sunil Chitale and iGATE Technologies Inc

is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.44 Amendment dated March 29 2012 to Employment Agreement dated July 2011 between Sunil

Chitale and iGATE Technologies Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q filed on August 2012

10.45 Employment Agreement dated March 26 2012 between Sanjay Tugnait and iGATE Technologies

Canada Inc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 21 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on August 2012

10.46 Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Phaneesh Murthy dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 20l1

10.47 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Phaneesh Murthy

dated May 12 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to iGATE Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on August 2011

10.48 Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Sujit Sircar dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 201

10.49 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Sujit Sircar dated

May 12 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on

Form l0-Q filed on August 201l

10.50 Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Sean Suresh Narayanan dated May 12

2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q
filed on August 2011.K

10.51 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Sean Suresh

Narayanan dated May 12 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to iGATEs

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2011

10.52 Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Srinivas Kandula dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q filed on

August 2011
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10.53 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Srinivas Kandula

dated May 12 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on August 2011

10.54 Restricted Stock Award Agreement between iGATE and Jason Trussell dated June 15 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2011

10.55 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Jason Trussell dated June

15 2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-

filed on August 2011

10.56 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and David Kruzner dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.57 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and David Kruzner dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.58 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and Vijay Khare dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 20l2

10.59 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Vijay Khare dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.60 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and Satish Joshi dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.61 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Satish Joshi dated May 12 2011 is incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August

2012

10.62 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and Derek Kemp dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.63 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Derek Kemp dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.64 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and Sunil Chitale dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to iGATE Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.65 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Sunil Chitale dated May 12 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.66 Performance Share Award Agreement between iGATE and Sanjay Tugnait dated July 12 2012 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.67 Restricted Stock Agreement between iGATE and Sanjay Tugnait dated July 12 2012 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to iGATEs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012
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10.68 Lease Deed entered into between Patni and State Industrial Promotion Corporation of Tamil Nadu

Limited SIPCOT filed September 30 2004 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Patni Form F-i dated November 17 2005

10.69 Credit Agreement dated as of March 2012 among Pan-Asia iGATE Solutions as Borrower

DBS Bank Ltd Singapore as administrative agent and the other lenders names therein is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGates Form 8-K filed on March 14 2012

10.70 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 2012 among Pan-Asia iGATE

Solutions DBS Bank Ltd Singapore as administrative agent and the other lenders names therein

is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGates Form 8-K filed on April 10 2012

10.71 Guaranty dated as of March 2012 among iGATE and certain subsidiaries thereof from time to

time party thereto and DBS Bank Ltd Singapore is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

iGates Form 8-K filed on March 14 2012

10.72 Credit Agreement dated as of August 28 2012 between iGATE Technologies Inc and Standard

Chartered Bank is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to iGate Form 8-K filed on

September 2012

10.73 Guaranty dated as of August 28 2012 among iGATE and certain subsidiaries thereof from time

to time party thereto and Standard Chartered Bank is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

iGates Form 8-K filed on September 2012

21.0 Subsidiaries of the Registrant is filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young Associates Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm is filed

herewith

31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Chief Executive

Officer is filed herewith

31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Chief Financial

Officer is filed herewith

32.01 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Chief Executive Officer is filed herewith

32.02 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Chief Financial Officer is filed herewith

101 .INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEFl XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Management compensatory plan or arrangement

These interactive data files shall be deemed furnished and not filed for purposes of Section 11 and 12 of the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

and not otherwise subject to liability under those sections
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on this 18th day of

March 2013

iGATE CORPORATION

March 18 2013 IsI PHANEESH MURTHY

Phaneesh Murthy

President ChiefExecutive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated

iGATE CORPORATION

March 18 2013 Is/ PHANEESH MURTHY

Phaneesh Murthy

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

Is SUJIT SIRCAR

Sujit Sircar

Chief Financial Officer

Is PRASHANTH IDGUNJI

Prashanth Idgunji

ChiefAccounting Officer

Is SUNIL WADHWANI

Sunil Wadhwani

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors

and Director

Is ASHOK TRIvEDI

Ashok Trivedi

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors

and Director

/s GORAN LINDAHL

Goran Lindahl

Director

Is MARTIN MCGUINN

Martin McGuinn

Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Is JOSEPH MURIN

Joseph Murin

Director
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iGATE CORPORATION

Is Ro DUNBAR

Roy Dunbar

Director

Is SALIM NATHOO

Salim Nathoo

Director

NAOMI SELIGMAN

Naomi Seligman

Director

Is
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